Utah State University DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate Studies** 

8-2019

## Exploring the Capacity of Bacteria for Natural Product Biosynthesis

Ozkan Fidan Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

Part of the Biological Engineering Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Fidan, Ozkan, "Exploring the Capacity of Bacteria for Natural Product Biosynthesis" (2019). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 7510. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/7510

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



## EXPLORING THE CAPACITY OF BACTERIA FOR NATURAL

## **PRODUCT BIOSYNTHESIS**

by

## Ozkan Fidan

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

**Biological Engineering** 

Approved:

Jixun Zhan, Ph.D. Major Professor David W. Britt, Ph.D. Committee Member

Charles D. Miller, Ph.D. Committee Member Jon Takemoto, Ph.D. Committee Member

Cheng-Wei Tom Chang, Ph.D. Committee Member Richard S. Inouye, Ph.D. Vice Provost for Graduate Studies

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, Utah

2019

Copyright© Ozkan Fidan 2019

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

Exploring the capacity of bacteria for natural product biosynthesis

by

Ozkan Fidan, Doctor of Philosophy

Utah State University, 2019

Major Professor: Jixun Zhan, Ph.D. Department: Biological Engineering

Bacteria are one of the richest sources of pharmaceutically relevant compounds. Nevertheless, the production level of those important compounds in the original hosts is often quite low, and sometimes it is so low that we cannot detect them with current analytical techniques. Researchers have developed various solutions, such as heterologous expression, co-cultivation of different bacteria, optimization of fermentation conditions, discovery of new species, engineering of biosynthetic enzymes, and manipulating regulatory elements. The main goal of my doctoral dissertation research is to engineer natural product biosynthetic pathways for the generation of novel compounds and enhanced production of known medicinally valuable compounds.

I first investigated the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of two antifungal angucyclines, Sch47554 and Sch47555 using two different strategies. The heterologous co-expression of the aglycone and sugar biosynthetic genes with *schS7* in *Streptomyces lividans* K4 led to the production of a novel C-glycosylated rabelomycin derivative. Gene inactivation of *schS9* and *schS10* revealed that subsequent glycosylation steps take place in a sequential manner in which SchS9 first attaches either a L-aculose or L-amicetose moiety to the 4'-OH of the C-glycosylated aglycone, then SchS10 transfers a L-aculose moiety to the 3-OH of the angucycline core. In this research, I isolated two novel angucycline derivatives and gained new insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555.

Next, I engineered the regulatory elements in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 through overexpression and targeted gene disruption approaches for enhanced production of pharmaceutically important angucyclines. Gene disruption of *schA4* and *schA16* led to a significant increase in the titer of Sch47554, while the titer was dramatically decreased in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ *schA21*. Overexpression strains produced consistent results with the gene disruption strains. The highest titer of Sch47554 was achieved in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ *schA4* (27.94 mg/L), which is significantly higher than the wild type. Further, I confirmed the functions of these three regulatory elements. SchA4 and SchA16 are repressors, while SchA21 acts as an activator.

Last, I isolated a carotenoid-producing endophytic bacterium from the leaves of *Taxus chinensis*, which was identified as *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 based on the 16S rRNA gene sequence. Analysis of its secondary metabolites revealed that this endophytic strain produces a major product zeaxanthin diglucoside, a promising antioxidant natural product that belongs to the family of carotenoids. Based on the genome of a closely related *Pseudomonas* strain, I amplified a complete carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster from *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. The functions of PsCrtI and PsCrtY in the biosynthesis of zeaxanthin diglucoside were characterized as phytoene desaturase and lycopene cyclase, respectively. The entire *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster was successfully reconstituted in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) and *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440. The

engineered strain of *P. putida* KT2440 produced zeaxanthin diglucoside at  $144 \pm 4 \text{ mg/L}$ in SOC medium supplemented with 0.5% glycerol at 23 °C, while the titer of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) was very low. The production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 was improved through the optimization of fermentation conditions such as medium, cultivation temperature and growth time. The highest titer under the optimized conditions reached  $206 \pm 6 \text{ mg/L}$ . To further enhance the production, I introduced an expression plasmid that harbors the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster into *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, yielding an efficient producing strain of zeaxanthin diglucoside. The titer in this engineered strain reached  $380 \pm 12 \text{ mg/L}$ , which is 85% higher than the wild type.

(215 pages)

## PUBLIC ABSTRACT

# Exploring the capacity of bacteria for natural product biosynthesis

## Ozkan Fidan

This dissertation is focused on exploring the potential of bacteria for the biosynthesis of natural products with the purposes of generating novel natural product derivatives and of improving the titer of pharmaceutically important natural products.

A wide variety of compounds from various sources have been historically used in the treatment and prevention of diseases. Natural products as a major source of new drugs are extensively explored due to their huge structural diversity and promising biological activities such as antimicrobial, anticancer, antifungal, antiviral and antioxidant properties. For instance, penicillin as an early-discovered antimicrobial agent has saved millions of lives, indicating the historical importance of natural products. However, the alarming rise in the prevalence of drug resistance is a serious threat to public health and it has coincided with the decreasing supply of new antibiotics. Bacteria with a tremendous undiscovered potential have still been one of the richest sources of bioactive compounds to tackle the growing threat of antibiotic-resistant pathogens. Nevertheless, the production level of those important compounds is often quite low, and often undetectable using current analytical techniques. To expand the chemical repertoire of nature and to increase the titer of the natural products, researchers have developed various strategies, such as heterologous expression, co-cultivation of different bacteria, optimization of fermentation conditions, discovery of new species, engineering of biosynthetic enzymes,

and manipulating regulatory elements. Thus, in my dissertation research, I have exploited a few of these strategies. First, I heterologously expressed some of the biosynthetic genes from the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster, resulted in the production of a novel glycosylated angucycline. I was also able to generate another new glycosylated derivative of angucycline through gene disruption of tailoring enzymes. In this research, I isolated two novel angucycline derivatives and gained new insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555. Next, I engineered the regulatory elements in Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136 through the overexpression and targeted gene disruption approaches for enhanced production of pharmaceutically important angucyclines. The highest titer of Sch47554 was achieved in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schA4 (27.94) mg/L), which is significantly higher than the wild type. This work thus provides an initial understanding of functional roles of regulatory elements in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555 and several engineered strains with enhanced production of Sch47554. Last, I isolated a carotenoid-producing endophytic bacterium from the leaves of the yew tree and optimized the fermentation conditions for an improved yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside up to  $206 \pm 6$  mg/L. With the introduction of an additional copy of the *Pscrt* gene cluster through an expression plasmid, the engineered strain *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515/pOKF192 produced zeaxanthin diglucoside at  $380 \pm 12$  mg/L, which is 85%higher than the parent strain. This strain holds a great potential for the production of pharmaceutically important antioxidant agent, zeaxanthin diglucoside.

## DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate my doctoral dissertation to my beloved wife for her tireless support and encouragement along the way and to my children.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my major advisor, Dr. Jixun Zhan, for his expert guidance, generous support and constant encouragement throughout all of this dissertation. Without his support and mentoring, it would have been impossible for me to get so much work done and finish this dissertation. From you, I acquired a lot of knowledge not just about the research but also how to become a better mentor. Thanks Dr. Zhan for those invaluable things that you contributed to my life and career. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. David Britt, Dr. Charles Miller, Dr. Jon Takemoto and Dr. Cheng-Wei Tom Chang, for their helpful advice and feedback to complete my research. I wish to extend my gratitude to my colleagues in the Metabolic Engineering Laboratory and to the staff in the Department of Biological Engineering, especially Kami McNeil for her help.

I gratefully acknowledge the funding sources that made my Ph.D. study possible. My dissertation was funded by National Institutes of Health (AI065357 RM DP 008), American Heart Association and USTAR. I specifically thank Turkish Ministry of National Education for the scholarship to pursue my graduate education in the US.

A special thanks to my parents for their lifelong support and all of the sacrifices that they made on my behalf and to my wife for her support and patience throughout these years. Your existence, my love, is enough for me to achieve anything. Without you, this dissertation could never have been completed. A very special thanks to my children for making my life joyful, fun and unique.

ix

## CONTENTS

ABSTRA	CTiii
PUBLIC A	ABSTRACT vi
DEDICAT	TIONviii
ACKNOW	VLEDGMENTSix
CONTEN	TS x
LIST OF T	ΓABLES xiv
LIST OF I	FIGURES xv
CHAPTE	R
I.	INTRODUCTION
	Background
	Technologies to expand chemical diversity or improve the production yields of natural products
	Co-cultivation
	Heterologous expression
	Metabolic engineering
	Strain engineering
	Discovery of new species/strains 11
	Fermentation engineering 12
	Objectives
	A guide to the dissertation
	References
II.	NEW INSIGHTS INTO THE GLYCOSYLATION STEPS IN THE BIOSYNTHESIS OF SCH47554 AND SCH47555
	Abstract

INTRODUCTION	28
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	30
Sequence analysis of the putative GTs in the <i>sch</i> biosynthetic gene cluster	30
Functional characterization of <i>schS7</i> through heterologous expression	31
Targeted gene inactivation of <i>schS9</i> and <i>schS10</i>	34
DISCUSSION	38
CONCLUSION	45
EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	46
Bacterial strains, media, and culture conditions	46
General genetic manipulation and PCR	47
Construction of plasmids for heterologous expression and gene disruption	47
Production, extraction, purification, and characterization of compounds	49
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	49
References	50
IMPROVED PRODUCTION OF ANTIFUNGAL ANGUCYCLINE SCH47554 BY MANIPULATING THREE REGULATORY GENES IN	
STREPTOMYCES SP. SCC-2136	57
Abstract	57
INTRODUCTION	58
MATERIALS AND METHODS	62
Plasmids, strains, media and growth conditions	62
Plasmid construction for targeted gene disruption and overexpression of regulatory genes	n 64
Extraction, purification and product analysis	67

III.

xi

	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	. 68
	Sequence analysis of three putative regulatory proteins in the <i>sch</i> biosynthetic gene cluster	. 68
	Characterization of SchA4 as a repressor and enhanced production of Sch47554 by disrupting <i>schA4</i>	. 71
	Identification of SchA16 as an AraC-family repressor and enhanced production of Sch47554 by disrupting <i>schA16</i>	. 75
	Characterization of SchA21 as a TetR family activator and enhanced production of Sch47554 by overexpressing <i>schA21</i>	. 77
	CONCLUSIONS	. 78
	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	. 79
	References	. 79
IV.	DISCOVERY AND ENGINEERING OF AN ENDOPHYTIC <i>PSEUDOMONAS</i> STRAIN FROM <i>TAXUS CHINENSIS</i> FOR EFFICIENT PRODUCTION OF ZEAXANTHIN DIGLUCOSIDE	. 88
	Abstract	. 88
	INTRODUCTION	. 89
	MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 94
	Bacterial strains, media and culture conditions	. 94
	Isolation of endophytic bacteria from Taxus chinensis	. 94
	General genetic manipulation and PCR	. 97
	Identification and phylogenetic analysis of endophytic bacterium	. 97
	Amplification and annotation of the <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster	. 98
	Construction of plasmids for functional characterization of PsCrtI and PsCrtY	. 98
	Heterologous expression of <i>Pscrt</i> gene cluster from <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515 in <i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) and <i>P. putida</i> KT2440	101
	Discovery of a turnerbactin biosynthetic gene cluster in <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515 by PCR	103
	Optimization of carotenoid production and extraction and HPLC-MS analysis of zeaxanthin diglucoside	103

xii

	RESULTS	. 104
	Identification and phylogenetic analysis of endophytic bacteria	. 104
	Amplification and analysis of a zeaxanthin diglucoside biosynthetic gene cluster from <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515	. 107
	Functional analysis of two carotenoid biosynthetic genes from the isolated strain	. 110
	Heterologous expression of the <i>Pscrt</i> gene cluster in <i>E.coli</i> BL21(DE3) and <i>Pseudomonas putida</i> KT2440	. 113
	Enhanced production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515	. 114
	DISCUSSION	. 117
	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	. 124
	References	. 124
V.	SUMMARY AND ENGINEERING VALUE	. 138
	Summary of my dissertation research and future work	. 138
	Engineering value	. 141
	Engineered production of angucycline derivatives	. 141
	Engineered production of angucyclines in <i>Streptomyces</i> sp. SCC-2136	. 141
	Engineered production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515	. 142
	References	. 143
APPENDI	CES	. 146
	APPENDIX A	. 147
	APPENDIX B	. 166
	APPENDIX C	. 182
	APPENDIX D	. 185
CURRICU	JLUM VITAE	. 195

xiii

## LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	<sup>1</sup> H NMR data for <b>3</b> (in CDCl <sub>3</sub> ), <b>4</b> (in (CD <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> CO), <b>5</b> (in CD <sub>3</sub> OD), <b>6</b> (in DMSO- $D_6$ ), and <b>7</b> (in CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) and <sup>13</sup> C NMR data for <b>4</b> and <b>7</b>	39
2	Bacterial strains and plasmids used in Chapter 3	63
3	Oligonucleotides used in Chapter 3	66
4	Strains used in Chapter 4	95
5	Plasmids used in Chapter 4	100
6	List of genes from the <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster in <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515	109

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1.	All small-molecule approved drugs 1981–2014s; n=12111
2.	Chemical structures of some natural drugs with different biological activities
3.	Structures of Sch47554 (1) and Sch47555 (2)
4.	Production of rabelomycin ( <b>3</b> ) and 9-D-amicetosyl-rabelomycin (GG31, <b>4</b> ) in <i>S. lividans</i> K4 through heterologous expression
5.	Selected <sup>1</sup> H- <sup>1</sup> H COSY and HMBC correlations for <b>4</b> and <b>7</b>
6.	Gene disruption of <i>schS9</i> and <i>schS10</i> and HPLC traces for the cultures <i>Streptomyces</i> sp. SCC-2136/wild-type, $\Delta schS9$ and $\Delta schS10$
7.	Proposed glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of <b>1</b> and <b>2</b> 41
8.	Multiple amino acid sequence alignment for SchA4 (A), SchA21 (B), and SchA16 (C) with respect to the characterized TetR- and AraC-family transcriptional factors, respectively
9.	Illustration of the single crossover recombination strategy for disruption for <i>schA4</i> (A) and PCR confirmation of gene disruption (B)72
10.	Effects of disruption of <i>schA4</i> , <i>schA16</i> and <i>schA21</i> on the production of Sch47554
11.	Effects of overexpression of <i>schA4</i> , <i>schA16</i> and <i>schA21</i> on the production of Sch4755476
12.	Proposed biosynthetic pathway of zeaxanthin diglucoside in <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515
13.	Identification of <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515106
14.	Biosynthesis of zeaxanthin diglucoside by Pseudomonas sp. 102515 108
15.	Functional identification of PsCrtI as a phytoene desaturase 111
16.	Functional identification of PsCrtY as a lycopene cyclase
17.	Heterologous reconstitution of the zeaxanthin diglucoside biosynthetic pathway in <i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) and <i>Pseudomonas putida</i> KT2440114

18.	Optimization of zeaxanthin diglucoside production in <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515	. 116
19.	Organization of carotenoid biosynthetic gene clusters in the γ-proteobacteria strains	. 120

#### CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

## Background

A wide variety of compounds from various sources, particularly from microorganisms, have been historically used to treat diseases. In particular, natural products as a source of medicine have long been attractive due to the huge structural diversity and promising biological activities such as antimicrobial, anticancer, antitumor, antifungal, antiviral, antiparasitic, antioxidant, antihypertensive properties, and so on



FIG. 1. All small-molecule approved drugs 1981–2014s; n=1211. Major categories are as follows: "N", natural product; "NB", natural product botanical drug; "ND", derived from a natural product and usually a semisynthetic modification; "S", totally synthetic drug often found by random screening/modification of an existing agent; "S\*", made by total synthesis, but the pharmacophore is/was from a natural product. The subcategory is as follows: "NM", natural product mimic (4).

(1,2). For instance, penicillin as an early-discovered antimicrobial agent have saved the lives of millions of individuals, indicating the historical importance of natural products(3). In the past 30 years, natural products and their derivatives occupy a significant market share in pharmaceutical industry (Fig. 1) (4).

Natural products are derived from various natural sources such as bacteria, fungi, animals, and plants. There are successful examples of bioactive molecules from each of these natural sources. Actinomycetes, particularly Streptomycetes, have been one of the richest sources of biologically active secondary metabolites and have possessed a huge potential to produce novel, pharmaceutically useful secondary metabolites with a wide variety of biological activities (Fig. 2) (5). However, the deployment of any novel antibiotic has been followed by the observance of clinically significant resistance to that antibiotic in as short as a few years. The Infectious Disease Society of America predicts that 70% of hospital-acquired infections in the United States exhibit resistance to one or more antibiotics (6). Yet, there have been no new classes of clinically relevant antibiotics discovered in over 40 years (7). This discovery void makes the challenge even more severe. In addition, the production titers of many pharmaceutically important compounds are often low, and sometimes it is too low to detect the products with current analytical techniques (8,9). A well-known example is paclitaxel (Taxol<sup>®</sup>), which has a total market value of over \$1 billion per year and is used in the treatment of various cancers. For the doses needed to treat a single patient, two to four fully-grown trees (less than 0.5 g accumulated Taxol per tree) of Taxus brevifolia have to be sacrificed because of the low level accumulation of paclitaxel (10,11).









Erythromycin (antimicrobial)

Lovastatin (anti-cholesterol)



Doxorubicin (anticancer)





Oxytetracycline (antibacterial) Penicillin G

Penicillin G (antibacterial)

FIG. 2. Chemical structures of some natural drugs with different biological activities.

# Technologies to expand chemical diversity or improve the production yields of natural products

To expand Nature's chemical repertoire and to increase the titers of known natural products, researchers have come up with various solutions: heterologous expression, cocultivation, fermentation engineering, isolation of new species and strain engineering (12-14). In particular, strain engineering can be conducted through both metabolic engineering of biosynthetic pathways and engineering regulatory networks of secondary metabolites in native strains in which secondary metabolite biosynthesis is tightly regulated by global and/or pathway-specific regulatory proteins (8,14-18). In this dissertation, I have studied some of these approaches in order to understand natural product biosynthesis in bacteria with the purpose of generating novel compounds and enhancing the production of known compounds. I will provide some of the successful examples for those strategies.

## **Co-cultivation**

In Nature, microbes always co-exist within a complex microbial communities and compete with other microorganisms for the limited resources and antagonism. This natural characteristic of microorganisms favors various defense mechanisms that mainly lead to the production of bioactive secondary metabolites (19). Co-cultivation of two or more different microorganisms is to mimic the natural ecological settings in a laboratory environment. Many natural products are discovered through co-cultivation strategy (16). For instance, co-culture of a marine-derived fungus *Libertella* sp. and a marine-derived bacterium Thalassopia sp. led to the production of novel diterpenoids, libertellenones A-D (20). The new fungal polyketides, fumicyclines A and B were produced in a mixed cultivation of Aspergillus fumigatus and Streptomyces rapamycinicus (21). In another example, a known compound, holomycin, was produced from the co-cultivation of S. *clavuligerus*, which does not produce holomycin under normal laboratory condition, with methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* N315 through exploiting adaptive laboratory evolution (22). Therefore, the co-cultivation strategy not only produces known natural products with potentially higher yields, but also provides a potential mean to activate silent biosynthetic gene clusters for the discovery of new natural products.

### **Heterologous expression**

Microbes, particularly *Escherichia coli* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, have proven to be useful microorganisms for heterologous biosynthesis of medicinally

important natural products (15). They have been engineered for the enhanced production of natural products as well as the discovery of novel natural products (23). Heterologous expression also helps researchers understand and engineer the biosynthetic pathways for the generation of derivatives of known natural products, which further diversifies the chemical repertoire of Nature (24,25). Artemisinic acid, precursor of antimalarial drug artemisinin, has been heterologously produced in yeast with a quiet high titer (25 g/L)(26). Another example is the heterologous expression of erythromycin and its derivatives in E. coli by reconstituting a complex polyketide pathway (27-29). The heterologous expression strategy was also utilized for the activation of silent biosynthetic gene clusters from various sources, leading to the production of known or novel natural products in the host microorganisms (30). Streptomyces is also used for heterologous expression of natural products. For instance, a novel thioviridamide derivative was heterologously biosynthesized in S. lividans TK23 (31). Recently, a new diol-containing polyketide, lavendiol, was discovered by heterologous expression of a silent biosynthetic gene cluster from S. lavendulae FRI-5 in the heterologous host, S. avermitilis SUKA22 (32). All these examples suggest that heterologous expression can be utilized for the discovery of new compounds through activation of silent biosynthetic gene clusters and enhanced production of medicinally important compounds. It can also be used to understand and manipulate the biosynthetic pathways for the diversification of the chemical repertoire.

## Metabolic engineering

Metabolic engineering is the introduction of rational changes in the genetic makeup of an organism to alter the metabolic profile or improve biosynthetic capabilities

(33). It has attracted an increasing interest as a mean to develop high yield bioprocesses and produce novel natural and "unnatural" natural products (14). Recent advances in polyketide biosynthesis by the techniques of metabolic engineering and systems biology established the foundation for combinatorial biosynthesis. The combinatorial biosynthesis approach is based on the understanding of the biosynthetic pathway to regulate, delete, add, substitute, and recombine the genes from different sources in a host microorganism. It has been used to alter the biosynthetic pathways of many natural products, resulting in the formation of many new "unnatural" products with new structures and biological activities (34). The insertion of module 2 of rapamycin PKS into the mutable site of DEBS1-TE led to the production of two novel tetraketides (35). Since chemical modification and/or derivatization of natural products are quite difficult due to structural complexity, metabolic engineering techniques such as heterologous expression, gene disruption and combinatorial biosynthesis are widely-used techniques and have been utilized for the diversification of natural products (14). Mithramycin SK, a novel antitumor drug with improved therapeutic index, was produced in the mithramycin producer S. argillaceus through combinatorial biosynthesis (36). Another simple approach for structural derivatization is the disruption of a particular gene that acts in a downstream pathway (usually a tailoring enzyme) (37). A typical example is the generation of a macrolide derivative without the epoxide functional group by the targeted gene disruption of a P450 epoxidase in the pimaricin gene cluster (38). In addition, heterologous co-expression of a set of genes with glycosyltransferases (GTs) in S. lividans led to the generation of a new tetracenomycin derivative (39). In this dissertation, I have exploited the latter two strategies (gene disruption and heterologous

expression) in order to generate novel derivatives and gain new insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of angucyclines, Sch47554 and Sch47555.

GTs catalyze the transfer of activated sugar moieties to the acceptor molecules and are commonly involved in the biosynthesis and modification of many pharmaceutically significant natural products (40). Regio- and stereo-specifically attached sugar moieties play important roles in both binding of drugs to biological targets and biological activity of many natural products (41,42). For instance, landomycin A with a hexasaccharide side chain exhibits much stronger antitumor activity compared to its analog, landomycin E with a trisaccharide side chain (43). GTs hold huge potential for helping diversify pharmaceutically important drugs through the combination of chemoenzymatic and *in vivo* biosynthetic methods (44). For this purpose, heterologous expression and in-frame gene deletion approaches have been implemented in many studies. For example, Rodriguez et al. generated hybrid elloramycin analogs by combinatorial biosynthesis using genes from anthracycline-type and macrolide biosynthetic pathways (45). Tang and McDaniel also benefited from combinatorial biosynthesis to produce desosaminylated macrolactones and paved the way for the production of 'unnatural' natural product libraries (46). Trefzer et al. were able to produce novel glycosylated urdamycin derivatives by overexpressing GT genes from landomycin-producing strain of S. cyanogenus S136 in a mutant of urdamycin-producing strain of S. fradiae Tü 2717 (47). With a similar strategy, Ostash et al. generated novel landomycins in a mutant strain (43). Künzel et al. and Luzhetskyy et al. performed targeted gene inactivation including the inactivation of genes encoding GTs, leading to the formation of urdamycins I, J, K and landomycins M and O, respectively (48,49). All

these studies indicate that novel and/or unnatural natural products can be generated by the inactivation of GT genes and heterologous expression.

## **Strain engineering**

With the recent advances in genome sequencing and recombinant DNA technologies, rational strain improvement through metabolic engineering has become a powerful tool for increasing titers of natural products. Some of widely-used metabolic engineering techniques for yield improvement are to increase the precursor supply, delete or tune the competing pathways or unwanted by-products, heterologous expression of the entire biosynthetic pathway, overexpression of rate-limiting enzymes and manipulation of regulatory genes (14,37). Typically, the best yields are achieved through a combination of several approaches. The production of artemisinin precursor, amorphadiene is a very successful example of metabolic engineering for yield improvement (15). Keasling and co-workers engineered an artemisinic acid-producing yeast strain in three steps: (i) engineering an farnesyl diphosphate (FPP) biosynthetic pathway to increase FPP production and reduce FPP use for sterol biosynthesis, (ii) introducing an amorphadiene synthase (ADS) gene from Artemisia annua into an efficient FPP producing yeast, and (iii) expressing a novel cytochrome P450 from A. annua (CYP71AV1), oxidizing amorphadiene to artemisinic acid in three steps, in an efficient amorphadiene-producing yeast (50). In this study, engineered S. cerevisiae with the ADS gene only produced low amounts of amorphadiene (4.4 mg/L). The overexpression of a truncated 3-hydroxy-3methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A reductase (tHMGR), which is a rate-limiting step in the mevalonate pathway, increased amorphadiene production by five-fold. They also

overexpressed a global transcription factor, UPC2, which regulates sterol biosynthesis in yeast, but this approach had a modest impact on amorphadiene production. However, the combination of this approach with the down regulation of ERG9 encoding squalene synthase, which itself increased amorphadiene production two-fold, led to the production of amorphadiene at 105 mg/L. In addition, they integrated another copy of tHMGR, resulting in the production of amorphadiene at 149 mg/L. The combination of all aforementioned modifications in the heterologous host led to the production of 153 mg amorphadiene/L that is approximately 500-fold higher than previously reported sesquiterpene production (50,51). Moreover, an artemisinic aldehyde  $\Delta 11(13)$  double bond reductase (DBR2) was co-expressed with FPPS, ADS, CYP71AV1 and P450 reductase, leading to the production of both artemisinic acid and dihydroartemisinic acid (52). Additionally, an aldehyde dehydrogenease (ALDH1) and artemisinic alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH1) were identified from A. annua. The expression of ALDH1 gene in yeast increased artemisinic acid production substantially. The combined heterologous expression of ALDH1 and ADH1 in S. cerevisiae with improvements in the fermentation process gave the result of the highest artemisinic acid production, 25 g/L (26). In this example, heterologous expression of the entire biosynthetic gene cluster, tuning the competing pathway and overexpression of bottle-neck enzymes led to a significant increase in the yield of amorphadiene. Moreover, manipulation of regulatory genes through overexpression of activator genes and/or deletion of repressor genes has been successfully performed to improve the yields of natural products (53). For instance, overexpression of an *Streptomyces* antibiotic regulatory protein (SARP) from the mithramycin biosynthetic gene cluster in S. argillaceus led to a 16-fold increase in the

mithramycin titer (54). Also, inactivation of a GntR family transcriptional repressor increased the yield of platensimycin and platencin by 100-fold compared to the wild type strain (55).

Pathway-specific regulatory genes can either activate or repress the expression of certain genes in the gene clusters. Bacterial pathway-specific regulators are classified into approximately 50 families based on the sequence alignment, structural and functional criteria (56). Among the known regulators in *Streptomyces*, the LuxR family transcriptional factors and SARPs are mainly activators as in the examples of GdmRI, GdmRII, ActII-orf4 and RedD (57,58). The TetR family transcriptional regulators mainly function as repressor as in the examples of TdrK, AlpZ and SAV576 (59-61). However, some of the TetR family regulators were characterized as activators, such as GdmRIII, SlgR1 and SAV3818 (62-65). Similar to the TetR family regulators, the AraC family transcriptional regulators can function as either activator or repressor (66-68). Knowledge of the function of regulatory proteins at molecular level is of great interest and would potentially increase the yields of secondary metabolites through either inactivation of repressors or overexpression.

*Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 (ATCC 55186) produces Sch47554 and Sch47555 that exhibit antifungal activity against various yeasts and dermatophytes (69). In addition, Sch47554 and Sch47555 might potentially possess antitumor and antimicrobial activities, and enzyme inhibitory and agonistic activities due to their structural similarity to other angucycline metabolites (70). The diverse and promising biological activities of angucyclines excite the attentions of researcher to study their biosynthesis and to enhance

the titer of these pharmaceutically significant compounds. The biosynthetic gene cluster (*sch*) for these angucyclines contains several open reading frames (ORFs) that may produce genes with a potential regulatory function. Two putative regulatory genes, *schA4* and *schA21*, were predicted as the TetR family transcriptional regulators, while *schA16* shared significant similarity to the AraC family transcriptional regulators (71). In this dissertation, I have manipulated the pathway-specific regulatory genes in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster for an improved yield of angucyclines in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136.

#### **Discovery of new species/strains**

The need for novel drugs for the treatment of human diseases is ever increasing. The field of drug discovery has regained the interest due to the rapid development of drug-resistant microbes, the discovery of new cases of life-threatening infections and the constant recurrence of diseases (72). In addition to aforementioned strategies for the production of novel natural products, isolation of new species is another important strategy because there is an estimated more than 99 per cent of species left undiscovered in the world (73). In particular, endophytes hold a huge potential for the discovery of natural products with pharmaceutical importance (74). Endophytes, microorganisms (bacteria and fungi) that live in the tissues of living plants without causing any apparent disease symptoms in the host, are relatively understudied as potential sources of novel natural products for exploitation in medicine, agriculture, and industry (75,76). For example, the ecomycins, a family of novel lipopeptides, consist of some unusual amino acids including homoserine and  $\beta$ -hydroxy aspartic acid. The endophytic bacterium,

*Pseudomonas viridiflava* produces ecomycins (77). Another example is pseudomycins, which represent a group of peptide antifungal compounds isolated from *Pseudomonas syringae*, a plant-associated bacterium (11). New species can sometimes lead to the rediscovery of known natural products as happened in the example of camptothecin, a potent antineoplastic agent. Camptothecin was originally isolated from the wood of *Camptotheca acuminate*. Interestingly, several endophytes such as *Entrophospora infrequens* and *Nodulisporium* sp. were reported to produce camptothecin (76), representing an alternative and potential mean for the production of this pharmaceutically important molecule. In this dissertation, I isolated an endophytic bacterium that produces carotenoids, predominantly zeaxanthin diglucoside.

## **Fermentation engineering**

One of the main limiting factors for drug discovery is the ability to produce sufficient amounts of bioactive molecules for clinical applications after their discovery (78) since these compounds are just produced by bacteria to defend their resources and territories against invaders and competitors (79). Often, bacteria only need the bioactive metabolites to fulfill the purpose of defense and thus do not produce in large amounts (80). Fermentation engineering of natural product-producing bacteria is a strong strategy to enhance the yield of natural products. Clavulanic acid is a successful example for the fermentation engineering to maximize the production. The yield of clavulanic acid was enhanced from microgram level (400  $\mu$ g/L) up to gram level (1.8 g/L) in *S. clavuligerus* through the optimization of fermentation conditions, carbon sources, amino acid supplementation and fed-batch fermentation (17). In another study, ribosome engineering and fermentation optimization led to the improved production (40-fold higher) of tiancimycin A, a potent anticancer agent, in *Streptomyces* sp. CB03234 (81). In our lab, indigoidine production in *E. coli* was significantly increased up to approximately 4 g/L through optimization of fermentation conditions and co-expression of Sc-IndC and Sc-IndB (82). These examples clearly indicate fermentation engineering has a huge potential to increase the titer of natural products in wild type or engineered microorganisms. In my dissertation, I will test to increase the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside through the optimization of fermentation conditions.

## **Objectives**

The main goal of my doctoral dissertation research is to engineer bacterial natural product biosynthetic pathways for the generation of novel compounds and improved production of known medicinally important compounds. Additionally, I isolate endophytic bacteria with the purpose of discovering new drugs and providing new means to produce known natural products.

Specific objectives include:

- Investigation of glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555
  - a) Heterologous expression of minimal PKS enzymes (SchP4-P10) with a glycosyltransferase (SchS7)
  - b) Targeted gene disruption of SchS9 and SchS10
- 2- Engineering regulatory elements in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster for the improved production of Sch47554

3- Isolation of a carotenoid-producing endophytic bacterium and optimization of culture conditions to improve the yield

## A guide to the dissertation

This dissertation contains five chapters. The first chapter provides a background literature review and the objectives of this dissertation. The second chapter is about the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of antifungal angucyclines with the purpose of understanding the pathway and generating novel compounds. Briefly, I heterologously expressed some of the biosynthetic genes from the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster, which is responsible for the biosynthesis of angucyclines in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. That led to the production of a novel glycosylated derivative of rabelomycin. I was also able to generate another new glycosylated derivative of angucycline through metabolic engineering of biosynthetic pathways in the wild type strain. In Chapter 3, I engineered the regulatory elements in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 through overexpression and targeted gene disruption approaches. Two engineered strains led to the approximately 4 times higher yields compared to the wild type strain. Chapter 4 describes the isolation of an endophytic bacterium from a tree leaf. This endophytic strain produces carotenoids, particularly zeaxanthin diglucoside. This chapter also includes the optimization of the fermentation conditions for an improved yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside. The last chapter summarizes this dissertation research and its engineering value, and discusses the future work.

A number of research techniques are used in these studies, including molecular cloning, genetic engineering, metabolic engineering, microbial fermentation, protein

expression, natural products purification, and spectroscopic analyses for structure determination, DNA sequence analysis, aseptic techniques, laboratory skills, and others. A detailed explanation of each chapter is shown in the following chapters.

## References

- Jeandet, P., Vasserot, Y., Chastang, T., and Courot, E.: Engineering microbial cells for the biosynthesis of natural compounds of pharmaceutical significance, Biomed Res. Int., 2013, 1-13 (2013).
- 2. Koehn, F. E. and Carter, G. T.: The evolving role of natural products in drug discovery, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov., 4, 206 (2005).
- Ligon, B. L.: Penicillin: its discovery and early development, pp. 52-57, in: Feigin, R. D. (Ed), Seminars in Pediatric Infectious Diseases, vol. 15. Elsevier (2004).
- 4. Newman, D. J. and Cragg, G. M.: Natural products as sources of new drugs from 1981 to 2014, J. Nat. Prod., **79**, 629-661 (2016).
- Hopwood, D. A.: *Streptomyces* in nature and medicine: the antibiotic makers, Oxford University Press, New York, NY (2007).
- 6. **Clatworthy, A. E., Pierson, E., and Hung, D. T.:** Targeting virulence: a new paradigm for antimicrobial therapy, Nat. Chem. Biol., **3**, 541 (2007).
- Silver, L. L.: Challenges of antibacterial discovery, Clin. Microbiol. Rev., 24, 71-109 (2011).

- Pyeon, H.-r., Nah, H.-J., Kang, S.-H., Choi, S.-S., and Kim, E.-S.: Heterologous expression of pikromycin biosynthetic gene cluster using *Streptomyces* artificial chromosome system, Microb. Cell Fact., 16, 96 (2017).
- Rutledge, P. J. and Challis, G. L.: Discovery of microbial natural products by activation of silent biosynthetic gene clusters, Nat. Rev. Microbiol., 13, 509 (2015).
- 10. **Goodman, J. and Walsh, V.:** The story of taxol: nature and politics in the pursuit of an anti-cancer drug, Cambridge University Press, New York, NY (2001).
- Harrison, L., Teplow, D. B., Rinaldi, M., and Strobel, G.: Pseudomycins, a family of novel peptides from *Pseudomonas syringae* possessing broad-spectrum antifungal activity, Microbiology, **137**, 2857-2865 (1991).
- Antoraz, S., Santamaría, R. I., Díaz, M., Sanz, D., and Rodríguez, H.: Toward a new focus in antibiotic and drug discovery from the *Streptomyces arsenal*, Front. Microbiol., 6, 461 (2015).
- Liu, G., Chater, K. F., Chandra, G., Niu, G., and Tan, H.: Molecular regulation of antibiotic biosynthesis in *Streptomyces*, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev., 77, 112-143 (2013).
- Pickens, L. B., Tang, Y., and Chooi, Y.-H.: Metabolic engineering for the production of natural products, Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng., 2, 211-236 (2011).
- 15. **Fidan, O. and Zhan, J.:** Reconstitution of medicinally important plant natural products in microorganisms, pp. 383-415, in: Kermode, A. R., and Jiang, L. (Eds),

Molecular pharming: applications, challenges, and emerging areas. John Wiley and Sons Inc., Haboken, NJ (2018).

- Marmann, A., Aly, A. H., Lin, W., Wang, B., and Proksch, P.: Co-cultivation: a powerful emerging tool for enhancing the chemical diversity of microorganisms, Mar. Drugs, 12, 1043-1065 (2014).
- Ser, H.-L., Law, J. W.-F., Chaiyakunapruk, N., Jacob, S. A., Palanisamy, U.
  D., Chan, K.-G., Goh, B.-H., and Lee, L.-H.: Fermentation conditions that affect clavulanic acid production in *Streptomyces clavuligerus*: systematic review, Front. Microbiol., 7, 522 (2016).
- Zhu, H., Sandiford, S. K., and van Wezel, G. P.: Triggers and cues that activate antibiotic production by actinomycetes, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 41, 371-386 (2014).
- Ola, A. R., Thomy, D., Lai, D., Brötz-Oesterhelt, H., and Proksch, P.: Inducing secondary metabolite production by the endophytic fungus *Fusarium tricinctum* through coculture with *Bacillus subtilis*, J. Nat. Prod., **76**, 2094-2099 (2013).
- Oh, D.-C., Jensen, P. R., Kauffman, C. A., and Fenical, W.: Libertellenones A-D: induction of cytotoxic diterpenoid biosynthesis by marine microbial competition, Bioorg. Med. Chem., 13, 5267-5273 (2005).
- Schroeckh, V., Scherlach, K., Nützmann, H.-W., Shelest, E., Schmidt-Heck,
   W., Schuemann, J., Martin, K., Hertweck, C., and Brakhage, A. A.: Intimate bacterial-fungal interaction triggers biosynthesis of archetypal polyketides in *Aspergillus nidulans*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **106**, 14558-14563 (2009).

- Charusanti, P., Fong, N. L., Nagarajan, H., Pereira, A. R., Li, H. J., Abate, E. A., Su, Y., Gerwick, W. H., and Palsson, B. O.: Exploiting adaptive laboratory evolution of *Streptomyces clavuligerus* for antibiotic discovery and overproduction, PLoS One, 7, e33727 (2012).
- 23. Luo, Y., Li, B.-Z., Liu, D., Zhang, L., Chen, Y., Jia, B., Zeng, B.-X., Zhao, H., and Yuan, Y.-J.: Engineered biosynthesis of natural products in heterologous hosts, Chem. Soc. Rev., 44, 5265-5290 (2015).
- 24. Fidan, O., Yan, R., Gladstone, G., Zhou, T., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: New insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555, ChemBioChem, 19, 1424-1432 (2018).
- 25. Matsumura, E., Nakagawa, A., Tomabechi, Y., Ikushiro, S., Sakaki, T.,
  Katayama, T., Yamamoto, K., Kumagai, H., Sato, F., and Minami, H.:
  Microbial production of novel sulphated alkaloids for drug discovery, Sci. Rep.,
  8, 7980 (2018).
- Paddon, C. J., Westfall, P. J., Pitera, D. J., Benjamin, K., Fisher, K., McPhee,
  D., Leavell, M., Tai, A., Main, A., and Eng, D.: High-level semi-synthetic
  production of the potent antimalarial artemisinin, Nature, 496, 528 (2013).
- Peirú, S., Menzella, H. G., Rodríguez, E., Carney, J., and Gramajo, H.:
   Production of the potent antibacterial polyketide erythromycin C in *Escherichia coli*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., **71**, 2539-2547 (2005).
- Pfeifer, B. A. and Khosla, C.: Biosynthesis of polyketides in heterologous hosts, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev., 65, 106-118 (2001).

- Zhang, G., Li, Y., Fang, L., and Pfeifer, B. A.: Tailoring pathway modularity in the biosynthesis of erythromycin analogs heterologously engineered in *E. coli*, Sci. Adv., 1, e1500077 (2015).
- 30. Harvey, C. J., Tang, M., Schlecht, U., Horecka, J., Fischer, C. R., Lin, H.-C., Li, J., Naughton, B., Cherry, J., and Miranda, M.: HEx: a heterologous expression platform for the discovery of fungal natural products, Sci. Adv., 4, eaar5459 (2018).
- 31. Izumikawa, M., Kozone, I., Hashimoto, J., Kagaya, N., Takagi, M., Koiwai,
  H., Komatsu, M., Fujie, M., Satoh, N., and Ikeda, H.: Novel thioviridamide
  derivative-JBIR-140: heterologous expression of the gene cluster for
  thioviridamide biosynthesis, J. Antibiot., 68, 533 (2015).
- 32. Pait, I. G. U., Kitani, S., Roslan, F. W., Ulanova, D., Arai, M., Ikeda, H., and Nihira, T.: Discovery of a new diol-containing polyketide by heterologous expression of a silent biosynthetic gene cluster from *Streptomyces lavendulae* FRI-5, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 45, 77-87 (2018).
- 33. Stephanopoulos, G., Aristidou, A., and Nielsen, J.: Metabolic engineering: principles and methodologies, Academic Press, San Diego, CA (1998).
- 34. Zhang, C., Ke, D., Duan, Y., and Lu, W.: The combinatorial biosynthesis of
   "unnatural" products with polyketides, Trans. Tianjin Univ., 24, 501-512 (2018).
- 35. Rowe, C. J., Böhm, I. U., Thomas, I. P., Wilkinson, B., Rudd, B. A., Foster,G., Blackaby, A. P., Sidebottom, P. J., Roddis, Y., and Buss, A. D.:
Engineering a polyketide with a longer chain by insertion of an extra module into the erythromycin-producing polyketide synthase, Chem. Biol., **8**, 475-485 (2001).

- 36. Remsing, L. L., González, A. M., Nur-e-Alam, M., Fernández-Lozano, M. J., Braña, A. F., Rix, U., Oliveira, M. A., Méndez, C., Salas, J. A., and Rohr, J.: Mithramycin SK, a novel antitumor drug with improved therapeutic index, mithramycin SA, and demycarosyl-mithramycin SK: three new products generated in the mithramycin producer *Streptomyces argillaceus* through combinatorial biosynthesis, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **125**, 5745-5753 (2003).
- 37. Bilyk, O. and Luzhetskyy, A.: Metabolic engineering of natural product biosynthesis in actinobacteria, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 42, 98-107 (2016).
- Mendes, M. V., Recio, E., Fouces, R., Luiten, R., Martín, J. F., and Aparicio,
   J. F.: Engineered biosynthesis of novel polyenes: a pimaricin derivative produced by targeted gene disruption in *Streptomyces natalensis*, Chem. Biol., 8, 635-644 (2001).
- 39. Nybo, S. E., Shabaan, K. A., Kharel, M. K., Sutardjo, H., Salas, J. A., Méndez, C., and Rohr, J.: Ketoolivosyl-tetracenomycin C: a new ketosugar bearing tetracenomycin reveals new insight into the substrate flexibility of glycosyltransferase ElmGT, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 22, 2247-2250 (2012).
- 40. **Vogt, T. and Jones, P.:** Glycosyltransferases in plant natural product synthesis: characterization of a supergene family, Trends Plant Sci., **5**, 380-386 (2000).
- 41. **Kren, V. and Martínková, L.:** Glycosides in medicine: the role of glycosidic residue in biological activity, Curr. Med. Chem., **8**, 1303-1328 (2001).

- 42. Weymouth-Wilson, A. C.: The role of carbohydrates in biologically active natural products, Nat. Prod. Rep., **14**, 99-110 (1997).
- 43. Ostash, B., Rix, U., Rix, L. L. R., Liu, T., Lombo, F., Luzhetskyy, A.,
  Gromyko, O., Wang, C., Braña, A. F., and Méndez, C.: Generation of new landomycins by combinatorial biosynthetic manipulation of the LndGT4 gene of the landomycin E cluster in *S. globisporus*, Chem. Biol., 11, 547-555 (2004).
- Luzhetskyy, A., Taguchi, T., Fedoryshyn, M., Dürr, C., Wohlert, S. E.,
   Novikov, V., and Bechthold, A.: LanGT2 catalyzes the first glycosylation step during landomycin A biosynthesis, ChemBioChem, 6, 1406-1410 (2005).
- 45. Rodriguez, L., Oelkers, C., Aguirrezabalaga, I., Braña, A. F., Rohr, J., Méndez, C., and Salas, J. A.: Generation of hybrid elloramycin analogs by combinatorial biosynthesis using genes from anthracycline-type and macrolide biosynthetic pathways, J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 2, 271-276 (2000).
- 46. Tang, L. and McDaniel, R.: Construction of desosamine containing polyketide libraries using a glycosyltransferase with broad substrate specificity, Chem. Biol., 8, 547-555 (2001).
- 47. Trefzer, A., Fischer, C., Stockert, S., Westrich, L., Künzel, E., Girreser, U., Rohr, J., and Bechthold, A.: Elucidation of the function of two glycosyltransferase genes (*lanGT1* and *lanGT4*) involved in landomycin biosynthesis and generation of new oligosaccharide antibiotics, Chem. Biol., 8, 1239-1252 (2001).
- 48. Künzel, E., Faust, B., Oelkers, C., Weissbach, U., Bearden, D. W., Weitnauer,
  G., Westrich, L., Bechthold, A., and Rohr, J.: Inactivation of the *urdGT2* gene,

which encodes a glycosyltransferase responsible for the C-glycosyltransfer of activated D-olivose, leads to formation of the novel urdamycins I, J, and K, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **121**, 11058-11062 (1999).

- Luzhetskyy, A., Zhu, L., Gibson, M., Fedoryshyn, M., Dürr, C., Hofmann,
   C., Hoffmeister, D., Ostash, B., Mattingly, C., and Adams, V.: Generation of novel landomycins M and O through targeted gene disruption, ChemBioChem, 6, 675-678 (2005).
- 50. Ro, D.-K., Paradise, E. M., Ouellet, M., Fisher, K. J., Newman, K. L., Ndungu, J. M., Ho, K. A., Eachus, R. A., Ham, T. S., and Kirby, J.: Production of the antimalarial drug precursor artemisinic acid in engineered yeast, Nature, 440, 940 (2006).
- 51. Jackson, B. E., Hart-Wells, E. A., and Matsuda, S. P.: Metabolic engineering to produce sesquiterpenes in yeast, Org. Lett., **5**, 1629-1632 (2003).
- 52. Zhang, Y., Teoh, K. H., Reed, D. W., Maes, L., Goossens, A., Olson, D. J., Ross, A. R., and Covello, P. S.: The molecular cloning of artemisinic aldehyde  $\Delta 11$  (13) reductase and its role in glandular trichome-dependent biosynthesis of artemisinin in *Artemisia annua*, J. Biol. Chem., **283**, 21501-21508 (2008).
- 53. Chen, Y., Smanski, M. J., and Shen, B.: Improvement of secondary metabolite production in *Streptomyces* by manipulating pathway regulation, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 86, 19-25 (2010).
- 54. Lombó, F., Braña, A. F., Méndez, C., and Salas, J. A.: The mithramycin gene cluster of *Streptomyces argillaceus* contains a positive regulatory gene and two

repeated DNA sequences that are located at both ends of the cluster, J. Bacteriol., **181**, 642-647 (1999).

- 55. Smanski, M. J., Peterson, R. M., Rajski, S. R., and Shen, B.: Engineered *Streptomyces platensis* strains that overproduce antibiotics platensimycin and platencin, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., **53**, 1299-1304 (2009).
- Romero-Rodríguez, A., Robledo-Casados, I., and Sánchez, S.: An overview on transcriptional regulators in *Streptomyces*, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gene Regul. Mech., 1849, 1017-1039 (2015).
- 57. Fernández-Moreno, M. A., Caballero, J. L., Hopwood, D. A., and
  Malpartida, F.: The *act* cluster contains regulatory and antibiotic export genes,
  direct targets for translational control by the *bldA* tRNA gene of *Streptomyces*,
  Cell, 66, 769-780 (1991).
- 58. **He, W., Lei, J., Liu, Y., and Wang, Y.:** The LuxR family members GdmRI and GdmRII are positive regulators of geldanamycin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* 17997, Arch. Microbiol., **189**, 501-510 (2008).
- 59. Bunet, R., Mendes, M. V., Rouhier, N., Pang, X., Hotel, L., Leblond, P., and Aigle, B.: Regulation of the synthesis of the angucyclinone antibiotic alpomycin in *Streptomyces ambofaciens* by the autoregulator receptor AlpZ and its specific ligand, J. Bacteriol., **190**, 3293-3305 (2008).
- 60. Guo, J., Zhang, X., Luo, S., He, F., Chen, Z., Wen, Y., and Li, J.: A novel TetR family transcriptional regulator, SAV576, negatively controls avermectin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces avermitilis*, PLoS One, 8, e71330 (2013).

- Mo, X., Wang, Z., Wang, B., Ma, J., Huang, H., Tian, X., Zhang, S., Zhang, C., and Ju, J.: Cloning and characterization of the biosynthetic gene cluster of the bacterial RNA polymerase inhibitor tirandamycin from marine-derived *Streptomyces* sp. SCSIO1666, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 406, 341-347 (2011).
- 62. **Duong, C. T. P., Lee, H.-N., Choi, S.-S., Lee, S. Y., and Kim, E.-S.:** Functional expression of SAV3818, a putative TetR-family transcriptional regulatory gene from *Streptomyces avermitilis*, stimulates antibiotic production in *Streptomyces* species, J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol., **19**, 136-139 (2009).
- Gomez, C., Olano, C., Mendez, C., and Salas, J. A.: Three pathway-specific regulators control streptolydigin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces lydicus*, Microbiology, 158, 2504-2514 (2012).
- Jiang, M., Yin, M., Wu, S., Han, X., Ji, K., Wen, M., and Lu, T.: GdmRIII, a TetR family transcriptional regulator, controls geldanamycin and elaiophylin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces autolyticus* CGMCC0516, Sci. Rep., 7, 4803 (2017).
- 65. **Kim, W., Lee, J. J., Paik, S.-G., and Hong, Y.-S.:** Identification of three positive regulators in the geldanamycin PKS gene cluster of *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* JCM4427, J. Microbiol. Biotechnol., **20**, 1484-1490 (2010).
- Kuscer, E., Coates, N., Challis, I., Gregory, M., Wilkinson, B., Sheridan, R.,
  and Petković, H.: Roles of *rapH* and *rapG* in positive regulation of rapamycin
  biosynthesis in *Streptomyces hygroscopicus*, J. Bacteriol., 189, 4756-4763 (2007).

- 67. Sun, D., Zhu, J., Chen, Z., Li, J., and Wen, Y.: SAV742, a novel AraC-family regulator from *Streptomyces avermitilis*, controls avermectin biosynthesis, cell growth and development, Sci. Rep., **6**, 36915 (2016).
- 68. Yu, Q., Du, A., Liu, T., Deng, Z., and He, X.: The biosynthesis of the polyether antibiotic nanchangmycin is controlled by two pathway-specific transcriptional activators, Arch. Microbiol., **194**, 415-426 (2012).
- 69. Chu, M., Yarborough, R., Schwartz, J., Patel, M. G., Horan, A. C., Gullo, V.
  P., Das, P. R., and Puar, M. S.: Sch 47554 and Sch 47555, two novel antifungal antibiotics produced from a *Streptomyces* sp., J. Antibiot., 46, 861-865 (1993).
- Kharel, M. K., Pahari, P., Shepherd, M. D., Tibrewal, N., Nybo, S. E.,
   Shaaban, K. A., and Rohr, J.: Angucyclines: biosynthesis, mode-of-action, new natural products, and synthesis, Nat. Prod. Rep., 29, 264-325 (2012).
- 71. Basnet, D. B., Oh, T. J., Vu, T. T., Sthapit, B., Liou, K., Lee, H. C., Yoo, J. C., and Sohng, J. K.: Angucyclines Sch 47554 and Sch 47555 from *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136: cloning, sequencing, and characterization, Mol. Cells, 22, 154-162 (2006).
- Alvin, A., Miller, K. I., and Neilan, B. A.: Exploring the potential of endophytes from medicinal plants as sources of antimycobacterial compounds, Microbiol. Res., 169, 483-495 (2014).
- 73. **Hongoh, Y.:** Diversity and genomes of uncultured microbial symbionts in the termite gut, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem., **74**, 1145-1151 (2010).
- 74. **Christina, A., Christapher, V., and Bhore, S. J.:** Endophytic bacteria as a source of novel antibiotics: an overview, Pharmacogn. Rev., **7**, 11 (2013).

- 75. Staniek, A., Woerdenbag, H. J., and Kayser, O.: Endophytes: exploiting biodiversity for the improvement of natural product-based drug discovery, J. Plant Interact., 3, 75-93 (2008).
- 76. Chandra, S.: Endophytic fungi: novel sources of anticancer lead molecules, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 95, 47-59 (2012).
- Miller, C. M., Miller, R. V., Garton-Kenny, D., Redgrave, B., Sears, J.,
   Condron, M. M., Teplow, D. B., and Strobel, G. A.: Ecomycins, unique antimycotics from *Pseudomonas viridiflava*, J. Appl. Microbiol., 84, 937-944 (1998).
- Paterson, I. and Anderson, E. A.: The renaissance of natural products as drug candidates, Science, 310, 451-453 (2005).
- Traxler, M. F. and Kolter, R.: Natural products in soil microbe interactions and evolution, Nat. Prod. Rep., 32, 956-970 (2015).
- 80. **Chemler, J. A. and Koffas, M. A.:** Metabolic engineering for plant natural product biosynthesis in microbes, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., **19**, 597-605 (2008).
- 81. Liu, L., Pan, J., Wang, Z., Yan, X., Yang, D., Zhu, X., Shen, B., Duan, Y., and Huang, Y.: Ribosome engineering and fermentation optimization leads to overproduction of tiancimycin A, a new enediyne natural product from *Streptomyces* sp. CB03234, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 45, 141-151 (2018).
- Yu, D., Xu, F., Valiente, J., Wang, S., and Zhan, J.: An indigoidine biosynthetic gene cluster from *Streptomyces chromofuscus* ATCC 49982 contains an unusual IndB homologue, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 40, 159-168 (2013).

# CHAPTER II NEW INSIGHTS INTO THE GLYCOSYLATION STEPS IN THE BIOSYNTHESIS OF SCH47554 AND SCH47555<sup>\*</sup>

#### Abstract

Sch47554 and Sch47555 are antifungal compounds from *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. The availability of the biosynthetic gene cluster made it possible to track down the genes encoding biosynthetic enzymes responsible for the structural features of these two angucyclines. Sugar moieties play important roles in the biological activities of many natural products. Investigation of glycosyltransferases (GTs) may potentially help diversify pharmaceutically significant drugs through combinatorial biosynthesis. Sequence analysis indicated that SchS7 is a putative C-GT, while SchS9 and SchS10 were proposed to be O-GTs. In this study, we characterized the roles of these three GTs in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555. Co-expression of the aglycone and sugar biosynthetic genes with schS7 in Streptomyces lividans K4 resulted in the production of C-glycosylated rabelomycin, which revealed that SchS7 attaches a D-amicetose moiety to the aglycone core structure at the C-9 position. Gene inactivation studies revealed that subsequent glycosylation steps take place in a sequential manner in which SchS9 first attaches either a L-aculose or L-amicetose moiety to the 4'-OH of the C-glycosylated aglycone, then SchS10 transfers a L-aculose moiety to the 3-OH of the angucycline core.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> This chapter has been published as **Fidan. F.,**# Yan, R.,# Gladstone, G., Zhou, T., Zhu, D., Zhan, J.\*: New insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555. ChemBioChem, **19**, 1424-1432 (2018). (# : equal contribution)

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Angucycline antibiotics are a group of biologically active natural products synthesized by type II polyketide synthase (PKS) complexes through a sequence of reactions (1,2). Angucyclines exhibit diverse biological activities including antiviral (SM 196 B), antibacterial (marangucycline A, vineomycin A1), antitumor (landomycin A, urdamycin A, and marangucycline B) and antifungal properties (Sch47554 (1) and Sch47555 (2), Fig. 3) (3-8). Sch47554 and Sch47555 are produced by *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 (ATCC 55186) and exhibit antifungal activity against various yeasts and dermatophytes (3). The entire biosynthetic gene cluster for the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555 has been previously reported (9). The availability of their biosynthetic gene cluster (NCBI accession number AJ628018) made it possible to track down the genes encoding biosynthetic enzymes responsible for the structural features of these two angucyclines. The Sch47554 and Sch47555 (sch) biosynthetic gene cluster includes enzymes responsible for the biosynthesis of the core polyketide backbone (SchP6-P8) and nucleotidyl-activated sugar moieties (SchS1-S6). It additionally encodes some tailoring enzymes such as aromatase (SchP4), ketoreductase (SchP5), cyclase (SchP9), oxygenase (SchP10), and three putative glycosyltransferases (GTs) (SchS7, SchS9, and SchS10) (9).

GTs catalyze the transfer of activated sugar moieties to the acceptor molecules and are commonly involved in the biosynthesis and modification of many pharmaceutically significant natural products (10). Regio- and stereo-specifically attached sugar moieties play important roles in both binding of drugs to biological targets and biological activity of many natural products (11,12). For instance, landomycin A with a hexasaccharide side chain exhibits much stronger antitumor activity compared to its derivative, landomycin E with a trisaccharide side chain (13).



FIG. 3. Structures of Sch47554 (1) and Sch47555 (2).

GTs hold huge potential for helping diversify pharmaceutically important drugs through the combination of chemoenzymatic and *in vivo* methods (14). For this purpose, heterologous expression and in-frame gene deletion approaches have been implemented in many studies. For example, Rodriguez et al. generated hybrid elloramycin analogs by combinatorial biosynthesis using genes from anthracycline-type and macrolide biosynthetic pathways (15). Tang and McDaniel also benefited from combinatorial biosynthesis to produce desosaminylated macrolactones and paved the way for the production of 'unnatural' natural product libraries (16). Trefzer et al. were able to produce novel glycosylated urdamycin derivatives by overexpressing GT genes from landomycin-producing strain of *S. cyanogenus* S136 in a mutant of urdamycin-producing strain of *S. fradiae* Tü 2717 (17). With a similar strategy, Ostash et al. generated novel landomycins in a mutant strain (13). Künzel et al. and Luzhetskyy et al. performed targeted gene inactivation including the inactivation of genes encoding GTs, leading to the formation of urdamycins I, J, K and landomycins M and O, respectively (18,19). All these studies indicate that novel and/or unnatural natural products can be generated by the inactivation of GT genes and combinatorial biosynthesis.

In the present study, we elucidated the roles of three GTs involved in the biosynthesis of **1** and **2**. We have used two aforementioned approaches to functionally characterize GTs in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster. The function of *schS7* was characterized through heterologous expression, while we performed targeted gene inactivation for *schS9* and *schS10*. These two approaches not only revealed the function of GTs, but also helped to diversify the pharmaceutically relevant molecules through the production of two novel compounds.

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

## Sequence analysis of the putative GTs in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster

The *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster contains three putative GT genes (*schS7*, *schS9*, and *schS10*). Multiple amino acid sequence analysis of SchS7 using Clustal Omega revealed its homology to known C-GTs: 72.33% identity with UrdGT2 from *S. fradiae*, 68.78% identity with SaqGT5 from *Micromonospora* sp. Tü 6368, and 55.97% identity with SimB7 from *S. antibioticus* Tü6040, as well as to a known O-GT, LanGT2 from *S. cyanogenus* with 58.71% identity (14,20-22). Multiple amino acid sequence analysis of SchS9 revealed its similarity to several characterized O-GTs: 58.91% identity with UrdGT1c from *S. fradiae*, 58.21% identity with SaqGT4 from *Micromonospora* sp. Tü

6368, and 54.38% identity with LanGT1 from *S. cyanogenus* (17,21,23). Similarly, multiple amino acid sequence analysis of SchS10 revealed its homology to a few O-GTs: 54.50% identity with SaqGT2 from *Micromonospora* sp. Tü6368, 49.40% identity with LanGT4 from *S. cyanogenus*, and 48.82% identity with UrdGT1a from *S. fradiae* (17,21,23). Clustal Omega multiple sequence alignments for each GTs (Figs. B1a-c) indicated that SchS7 is expected to possess the function of C-GT, whereas SchS9 and SchS10 are predicted as O-GTs.

#### Functional characterization of *schS7* through heterologous expression

Based on the sequence analysis, SchS7 is predicted to be responsible for the attachment of a sugar moiety to C-9 of the aglycone backbone via the formation of a C-C bond. To verify the function of this putative C-GT, we first aimed at the expression of minimal PKS genes of *sch* gene cluster (*schP6-P8*) and of *oxy* gene cluster (*oxyABC*) to test the putative functions of SchP6, SchP7, and SchP8, which led to the production of SEK15, the same product from the co-expression of OxyABC from the oxytetracycline biosynthetic pathway (data not shown) (24). We then expressed more genes in an attempt to produce a stable aglycone for GT studies. To this end, *schP4-P10* genes were ligated into the pRM5 vector, an *Escherichia coli/Streptomyces* shuttle vector to yield pOF10, which was then expressed in *S. lividans* K4. HPLC analysis revealed that a major product, **3**, was generated by *S. lividans* K4 (Fig. 4A). The ESI-MS spectrum of **3** showed the [M+H]<sup>+</sup> ion peak at *m/z* 339.0 (Fig. B2), indicating that its molecular weight is 338, which is same as that of rabelomycin, a common intermediate in angucycline biosynthesis. The structure

of **3** was confirmed to be rabelomycin (Fig. 4B) based on a comparison of its <sup>1</sup>H NMR data for **3** with previously reported data (25).

Using the same approach, we introduced more genes including *schS7* and the genes involved in the biosynthesis of activated sugar moieties (schS1-S6 and schS8) to pOF10 to yield pGG31. Expression of this set of genes in S. lividans K4 yielded another major product 4, as shown in Fig. 4A. The ESI-MS spectrum of 4 revealed the  $[M+H]^+$ ion peak at m/z 453.1 (Fig. B2), suggesting a molecular weight of 452. 4 is 114 mass units larger than 3, indicated that 4 is a D-amicetosylated derivative of 3. To elucidate the structure of 4, HR-MS analysis was conducted and showed a  $[M+H]^+$  ion peak at m/z453.1561, which is consistent with  $C_{25}H_{25}O_8$  (cacld. 453.1505) (Fig. B6a). The formula of **4** revealed that it has 25 carbons, which has 6 more carbons than **3**, further indicating that a D-amicetose moiety had been added. This was supported by 1D and 2D NMR analysis (Table 1, Fig. 5 and Figs. B3a-d). The NMR data of 4 are similar to those of 3, except that it has extra signals that belong to the D-amicetose moiety. The <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum showed 25 carbon signals. The chemical shifts of C-6 ( $\delta$  152.3) and C-8 ( $\delta$ 157.9) indicated that they are hydroxylated carbons on the aromatic rings. Additionally, an oxygenated quaternary carbon signal at  $\delta$  71.3 was assigned to C-3. These signals are consistent with those in rabelomycin. The six carbon signals at  $\delta$  73.0, 33.2, 32.0, 79.2, 71.2 and 18.2, and another hydroxylated CH signal belong to the D-amicetose moiety, which further confirmed the presence of this sugar moiety in 4. The HMBC correlation of the anomeric proton H-1 at  $\delta_H 4.79$  to C-9 ( $\delta_C 139.8$ ) confirmed the linkage of the Damicetose moiety to the C-9 position (Fig. 5). Accordingly, the structure of 4 can be identified as 9-D-amicetosyl-rabelomycin and this compound was named as GG31.

Therefore, the function of SchS7 was identified as a C-GT in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555 (Fig. 4B).



FIG. 4. Production of rabelomycin (3) and 9-D-amicetosyl-rabelomycin (GG31,
4) in *S. lividans* K4 through heterologous expression. (A) HPLC analysis (420 nm) of the products of *S. lividans* K4 harboring pRM5 (upper), pOF10 (middle) and pGG31 (bottom). (B) Biosynthetic pathway of 3 and 4.



FIG. 5. Selected <sup>1</sup>H-<sup>1</sup>H COSY and HMBC correlations for **4** and **7**.

# Targeted gene inactivation of schS9 and schS10

Sequence analysis of SchS9 and SchS10 suggested that they are responsible for O-glycosylations at 3-OH and 4'-OH of **1** and **2**. We inactivated both genes through homologous recombination to generate mutants lacking corresponding O-GTs (Fig. 6A). Apramycin resistant exconjugants were obtained from intergenic conjugation between *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 and *E. coli* ET12567 respectively harboring pRY9 and pRY10. The confirmation of the single crossover events was performed by PCR using vector- (RV-M and M13-47) and genome-specific primers (Fig. 6B). As illustrated in Figs. 6A and 6B, the 2.2 kb and 2.1 kb PCR products were amplified from *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ *schS9* genome, whereas *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 wild type genome did not yield these fragments. Similarly, we amplified the 2.6 kb and 2.8 kb fragments from the genome of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ *schS10*, while we did not obtain these expected fragments from the genome of wild type strain. Thus, these PCR results confirmed the targeted gene inactivation for *schS9* and *schS10*.



FIG. 6. Gene disruption of schS9 and schS10 and HPLC traces for the cultures

Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/wild-type,  $\Delta$ schS9 and  $\Delta$ schS10. (A) Single crossover recombination strategy for disruption of *schS9* (i) and *schS10* (ii) in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. (B) PCR confirmation of the *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS9 (i) and Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS10 (ii) single crossover mutants. (i) Confirmation of the insertion of pRY09 into the genome of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. M: 1 kb plus DNA ladder; 1: primers sch9-F/M13-47 with the wild type as the template; 2: primers sch9-F/M13-47 with the  $\triangle$ sch99 mutant as the template; 3: primers sch9-R/RV-M PCR with the wild type as the template; 4: primers sch9-R/RV-M PCR product with the  $\Delta$ schS9 mutant as the template. (ii) Confirmation of the insertion of pRY10 into the genome of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. M: 1 kb plus DNA ladder; 1: primers sch10-F/M13-47 PCR with the wild type as the template; 2: primers sch10-F/M13-47 with the  $\Delta schS10$  mutant as the template; 3: primers sch10-R/RV-M with the wild type as the template; 4: primers sch10-R/RV-M with the  $\Delta schS10$  mutant as the template. (C) HPLC traces (at 420 nm) for the cultures *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/wild-type (upper),  $\Delta schS9$ (middle) and  $\Delta schS10$  (bottom).

Upon confirmation of gene inactivation, the positive exconjugants were grown on YM plates supplemented with apramycin for product analysis. HPLC analysis of the extracts of the cultures of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS9 and *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS10 at 420 nm showed two same products (**5** and **6**) at 19.6 and 26.5 min in both extracts. *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS10 produced two additional compounds (**8** and **7**) at 26.1 and 32.5 min (Fig. 6C). The ESI-MS spectra of **5**, **6**, **7**, and **8** showed the [M-H]<sup>-</sup> ion peaks at *m/z* 373.0, 469.1, 583.1, and 579.1, respectively (Fig. B4), indicating

that their molecular weights are 374, 470, 584, and 580, respectively. We purified all these compounds for chemical structure elucidation, except **8** due to the low titer. We confirmed the chemical structures of **5** and **6** based on the <sup>1</sup>H NMR data as listed in Table1. We, additionally, ran <sup>1</sup>H, <sup>13</sup>C, HSQC, and HMBC NMR as well as HR-MS for OZK1 (**7**) (Table 1, Fig. 5 and Figs. B5a-f) to elucidate the chemical structure of this new compound. NMR data analysis for **5** and **6** confirmed that the structures of **5** and **6** matched with the previously reported compounds of urdamycin X and 3'- deoxyaquayamycin, respectively (3,26). Urdamycin X was reported to be a surprising shunt product in *Streptomyces fradie*/ $\Delta urdQ/R$ , while 3'-deoxyaquayamycin is a common C-glycosylated intermediate compound in angucycline biosynthesis.

Compounds **7** and **8**, on the other hand, are O-glycosylated intermediate compounds. HR-MS data for **7** indicated a  $[M-H]^-$  ion signal at m/z 583.2559, which was consistent with the calculated exact mass of 583.2224 (Fig. B6b); this indicated that the molecular formula of **7** was C<sub>31</sub>H<sub>36</sub>O<sub>11</sub>, as supported by the NMR spectroscopic data (Table 1), which contained 31 carbon signals. The chemical shift of C-8 ( $\delta$  159.3) indicates a hydroxy group attached to the aromatic ring. In addition, similar to **6**, compound **7** contains tertiary hydroxy groups at the C-4a ( $\delta$  132.1) and C-12b ( $\delta$  133.9) positions and an anomeric hydroxy group at the C-4' position ( $\delta$  72.14). As suggested by the molecular weight of **7**, we found an additional anomeric proton signal (CH-1'') at  $\delta_C$ 98.4 and  $\delta_H$  4.91; this indicates that **7** has one more amicetose sugar moiety. HBMC correlation of H-1'' to C-4' revealed the linkage of the second amicetose moiety to 4'-OH of **6**. Thus, compound **7** was characterized as L-amicetosyl-3'-deoxyaquayamycin. All signals are assigned according to the 1D and 2D NMR spectroscopic spectra (Table 1). Based on our findings, we proposed the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of **1** and **2** as illustrated in Fig. 7. Glycosylation occurs in a sequential manner, in which SchS7 first C-glycosylates the polyketide aglycone, followed by O-glycosylation of 3'-deoxyaquayamycin by SchS9. Lastly, SchS10 attaches the third sugar moiety to the C-3 position, which leads to the production of **1** and **2**.

# DISCUSSION

Many natural products are produced through the assembly of their aglycone core structure followed by decoration with sugar moieties. The biological activities of many natural products, including medicinally significant antibiotics and anticancer drugs, depend on the regio- and stereospecifically attached sugar moieties (11,27). Chemical synthesis of sugar moieties is excessively difficult to perform and impractical to establish on a large scale (14). Thus, GTs are useful alternative tools for chemoenzymatic and *in* vivo approaches to develop glycosylated natural products (27). Many GT genes have been isolated from antibiotic-producing microorganisms and functionally characterized, mostly by gene inactivation experiments and in a few cases by heterologous expression. Among these GTs are *lanGT1*, *lanGT2*, *lanGT3*, and *lanGT4* in the landomycin gene cluster (14,17,28,29); urdGT1a, urdGT1b, urdGT1c, and urdGT2 in the urdamycin gene cluster (20,23,30,31); sagGT1, sagGT2, sagGT3, sagGT4, sagGT5, and sagGT6 in the saquayamycin Z gene cluster (21); mtmGI, mtmGII, mtmGIII, and mtmGIV in the mithraycin biosynthetic gene cluster (32,33); *oleG1* and *oleG2* in the oleandomycin gene cluster (34,35); and *dnrS* in the daunosamine biosynthetic gene cluster (36).

TABLE 1 <sup>1</sup>H NMR data for **3** (in CDCl<sub>3</sub>), **4** (in (CD<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CO), **5** (in CD<sub>3</sub>OD), **6** (in DMSO- $D_6$ ), and **7** (in CDCl<sub>3</sub>) and

<sup>13</sup>C NMR data for **4** and **7**.

Position	Rabelomycin (3) <sup>[a]</sup>	GG31 (4) <sup>[a]</sup>	Urdamycin X (5) <sup>[a]</sup>	3'- Deoxyaquayamycin (6) <sup>[a]</sup>	<b>OZK1</b> (7) <sup>[a]</sup>	GG31 (4) <sup>[b]</sup>	<b>OZK1</b> (7) <sup>[b]</sup>
1	-	-	-	-	-	195.1	174.4
2	2.99 (d, 1H, 15.1) 3.07 (d, 1H, 15.2)	2.80 (d, 1H, 14.6) 2.95 (d, 1H, 14.7)	1.95 (dd, 1H, 13.9, 3.0) 2.33 (d, 1H, 13.8)	2.35 (d, 2H, 15.0)	2.62 (d, 2H, 14.8)	53.4	44.8
3	-	-	-	-	-	71.3	72.16
4	3.12 (s, 2H)	3.14 (d, 2H, 11.9)	2.20 (d, 1H, 10.5) 2.03 (dd, 1H, 10.5, 3.3 )	2.90 (d, 1H, 13.0) 3.02 (d, 1H, 13.0)	3.08 (dd, 2H, 29.1, 13.7)	44.0	41.2
4a	-	-	-	-	-	129.7	132.1
5	7.04 (s, 1H)	7.08 (s, 1H)	1.67 (m, 1H) 2.11 (m, 1H)	7.81 (d, 1H, 7.8)	7.64 (d, 1H, 7.7)	121.5	139.5
6	-	-	(td, 1H, 12.1, 3.4) 2.85 (td, 1H, 11.9, 5.6)	7.72 (d, 1H, 7.7)	7.82 (d, 1H, 7.7)	152.3	119.1
6a	_	-	-	-	-	116.8	115.8
7	-	-	-	-	-	193.1	188.3
7a	-	-	-	-	-	114.8	115.3
8	-	-	-	-	-	157.9	159.3
9	7.30 (d, 1H, 2.6)	-	7.25 (dd, 1H, 6.3, 2.7)	-	-	134.5	139.8

39

10	7.72 (d, 1H, 4.7)	7.94 (d, 1H, 7.7)	7.59 (d, 1H, 7.7)	7.86 (d, 1H, 7.9)	7.92 (d, 1H,7.9)	134.1	133.4
11	7.70 (d, 1H, 4.8)	7.56 (d, 1H, 7.6)	7.58 (d, 1H, 7.6)	7.79 (d, 1H, 6.3)	7.85 (d. 1H, 7.9)	118.2	119.6
11a	-	-	-	-	-	138.1	131.5
12	-	-	-	-	-	182.9	188.0
12a	-	-	-	-	-	138.2	161.0
12b	-	-	-	-	-	128.6	133.9
13	1.52 (s, 3H)	1.47 (s, 3H)	1.54 (s, 3H)	1.16 (s, 3H)	1.34 (s, 3H)	29.6	27.2
1'	-	4.79 (d, 1H, 10.8)	-	4.70 (d, 1H, 10.6)	4.85 (d, 1H, 10.1)	73.0	73.2
2'	-	1.61 (m, 2H)	-	1.39 (m, 1H) 2.09 (m, 1H)	1.46 (m, 2H)	33.2	31.7
3'	-	2.14 (m, 2H)	-	1.55 (m, 1H) 2.02 (m, 1H)	2.27 (m, 2H)	32.0	31.8
4'	-	3.23 (m, 1H)	-	3.12 (m, 1H)	3.32 (m, 1H)	79.2	79.7
5'	-	3.40 (m, 1H)	-	3.33 (m, 1H)	3.55 (m, 1H)	71.16	77.6
6'	-	1.33 (d, 3H, 6.0)	-	1.26 (d, 3H, 6.0)	1.35 (d, 3H, 6.1)	18.2	18.5
1"	-	-	-	-	4.91 (s, 1H)	-	98.4
2"	-	-	-	-	1.90 (m, 2H)	-	27.7
3"	-	-	-	-	1.80 (m, 2H)	-	30.5
4"	-	-	-	-	3.31 (m, 1H)	-	72.14
5"	-	-	-	-	3.76 (m, 1H)	-	69.9
6"	-	-	-	-	1.27 (d, 3H, 6.2)	-	17.8

(d, 3H, 6.2) (d, 3



FIG. 7. Proposed glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of **1** and **2**.

Compounds 1 and 2 are two antifungal angucyclines that possess three sugar moieties. However, how these sugars are added to the structures remains unknown. The sch gene cluster contains three putative GT genes (schS7, schS9, schS10) (9). Based on a multiple sequence comparison of the deduced amino acid sequences of GTs in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster, SchS7 showed high homology to several known C-GTs including UrdGT2, SaqGT5, and SimB7. SaqGT5 attaches an activated D-olivose moiety directly to the C-9 position of angucycline in the case of saquayamycin Z and of tetracenequinone in the case of galtamycin B (21). SimB7 and UrdGT2 are also responsible for the attachment of an activated D-olivose to C-9 of polyketide aglycone (22,30). In particular, UrdGT2 attaches an activated D-olivose to C-9 of 2-hydro-3hydroxy-prejadomycin (UWM6) or terangulol (14,30). The examples of SaqGT5 and UrdGT2 show the substrate flexibility that will facilitate the synthesis of derivative compounds using those C-GTs. UrdGT2 also functions as O-GT and transfers the activated D-olivose sugar moiety to 1,2-dihydroxyanthraquinone (20). Surprisingly, multiple sequence comparison also revealed high homology of SchS7 to a known O-GT, LanGT2 from S. cyanogenus which catalyzes the first glycosylation step by attaching activated D-olivose to 8-OH of the aglycone (14). Interestingly, an engineered version of LanGT2 was able to act as C-GT, showing activity for both C- and O-glycosylation similar to UrdGT2 (20,37). Therefore, we expected SchS7 to be responsible for the attachment of D-amicetose to C-9 of the polyketide aglycone. To characterize its function, we have used a heterologous expression approach to create two expression plasmids, pOF10 and pGG31. pOF10 contains the minimal PKS genes (schP6, schP7, and *schP8*) and aromatase, ketoreductase, cyclase, as well as oxygenase genes (*schP4*,

*schP5*, *schP9*, and *schP10*), while pGG31 additionally includes *schS7* and genes required for the biosynthesis of activated sugar moieties (*schS1*, *schS2*, *schS3*, *schS4*, *schS5*, *schS6*, and *schS8*). *S. lividans* K4 harboring pOF10 and pGG31 respectively produced two major peaks of rabelomycin (**3**) and a novel compound, 9-D-amicetosyl-rabelomycin (**4**), proving that SchS7 is responsible for the attachment of a D-amicetose sugar moiety to the C-9 position of **3**.

Sequence analysis of SchS9 and SchS10 revealed that they are homologous to known O-GTs such as UrdGT1a, UrdGT1c, SaqGT2, SaqGT4, LanGT1, and LanGT4. In particular, SchS9 is highly homologous to SaqGT4 and UrdGT1c which attach activated L-rhodinose to the first sugar moiety in the biosynthesis of saquayamycin Z and urdamycin A, respectively. UrdGT1c transfers a L-rhodinose sugar moiety to urdamycinone B, 100-2, and aquayamycin at 3'-OH, while SaqGT4 attaches the third and fifth sugar moieties at 3-OH of the saccharide chain (21,23). This indicates the substrate flexibility of these enzymes and SchS9 might potentially recognize different substrates. Additionally, SchS9 has high homology to LanGT1 from the landomycin biosynthetic gene cluster that is responsible for the attachment of D-olivose to 4'-OH of the first sugar moiety (17). For SchS10, a multiple sequence alignment showed that it is highly homologous to SaqGT2 and UrdGT1a that are responsible for the attachment of Lrhodinose at 12b-OH and 3-OH, respectively (21,23). The amino acid sequence of SchS10 is also similar to that of LanGT4 which, in contrast to SaqGT2 and UrdGT1a, attaches the third sugar moiety (L-rhodinose) to the saccharide chain at C-9 (17). Therefore, both SchS9 and SchS10 are expected to catalyze the O-glycosylation steps in Sch47554 and Sch47555 biosynthesis. To confirm their functions, we disrupted the

corresponding genes through targeted gene deletion. HPLC analysis of the extracts of Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS9 and Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS10 mutants revealed that both mutants produced 5 and 6 in common. *Streptomyces* sp. SCC- $2136/\Delta schS10$  produced two additional compounds (7 and 8) (Fig. 6C). Except 8 which was only characterized with LC-MS due to the very low titer, all compounds were purified and characterized by LC-MS and NMR. Production of these compounds in the mutant strains indicates that O-glycosylation takes place in a sequential manner in which SchS9 first attaches either L-amicetose or L-aculose moiety to 4'-OH of 6, then SchS10 transfers a L-aculose moiety to 3-OH of 7 or 8 to yield 1 and 2 (Fig. 7). SchS9 has relatively relaxed substrate specificity toward sugar donors as shown by its ability to attach two different sugar moieties, while SchS10 is flexible with sugar acceptors and can recognize both 7 and 8 as substrate. Compound 8 might be a more favorable substrate for SchS10 than 7 due to a higher titer of 1 compared to 2 in the wild type, whereas more efficient production of 7 than 8 in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS10 mutant indicates that SchS9 favorably attaches an activated L-amicetose moiety to 4'-OH of 6. Additionally, the presence of **6** in both *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS9 and  $\Delta$ schS10 extracts suggests that SchS7 is the dedicated C-GT that catalyzes the first glycosylation with 9-deolivosyl aquayamycin as the sugar acceptor substrate. Compounds 3 and 4 were not detected in the wild type and mutant strains of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. The enzymes involved in 6-reduction, 5,6-dehydration, and 12-oxygenation may not recognize a glycoside substrate, such as 4. The production of 4 through heterologous expression in S. lividans K4 indicated that SchS7 has relaxed specificity towards the sugar acceptors.

In addition, both mutant strains produced 5 that was reported as a shunt product. Similar to 5, urdamycin L was detected in a  $\Delta urdM$  mutant of S. fradiae during the Baever-Villiger monooxygenation process in the biosynthesis of urdamycin A (25). Compound 5 is different from urdamycin L due to the almost saturated ring B (additional OH groups at C-4a and C-12b), whereas urdamycin L possesses a phenolic arene ring B with an OH group at C-6 (Fig. 7) (26). However, both compounds are related to each other by an unusual  $\varepsilon$ -lactone as ring A. Urdamycin L is derived from the Baeyer-Villiger monooxygenation reaction through spontaneous oxidation, whereas 5 is an overoxidized analogue of urdamycin L (25,26). In the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster, there are oxygenases, such as *schP3* and *schP10*, with high homology to *urdM* (64%) and *urdE* (84%), respectively. These enzymes might be responsible for the oxygenation of the angucycline ring. It is surprising that 5, as a shunt product, was produced in larger quantities than the biosynthetic intermediate 6 in the *schS9* and *schS10* disruption mutants (Fig. 6C). Because *schS7* is located downstream of *schS9* and *schS10*, there is a possibility that a polar effect occurs if the disruption plasmids are inserted into the genome. This polar effect may cause a low-level expression of C-GT, SchS7, and thus, the overall attenuation of the biosynthetic route of  $\mathbf{6}$ . This will in turn lead to the increased accumulation of 5.

# CONCLUSION

We used two different approaches to characterize the functions of three GTs in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster; heterologous expression for SchS7 and targeted gene disruption for SchS9 and SchS10. As expected from multiple sequence alignment analysis of these GTs with their homologues, we found that the glycosylation process in the biosynthesis of **1** and **2** occurred in a sequential manner. First, SchS7, which is a C-GT, attaches a D-amicetose moiety to the polyketide aglycone, followed by the attachment of the second sugar moiety to 4'-OH of the first sugar moiety by SchS9. In the last step, SchS10 transfers an L-aculose to C-3 of the glycosylated polyketide aglycone, which leads to the biosynthesis of major products **1** and **2**. We isolated two novel compounds, **4** and **7**, from these two different approaches, respectively, diversifying the pharmaceutically relevant compounds. Through elucidating the functions of three GTs, we may combine them with other GTs to change the saccharide chain, which possibly enhances the antifungal activity, and creates structural diversity in angucyclines.

# **EXPERIMENTAL SECTION**

#### Bacterial strains, media, and culture conditions

*S. lividans* K4 strains harboring pOF10 and pGG31 were maintained on R5 agar plates supplemented with thiostrepton at 28 °C for 10 days. *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ *schS9* and *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ *schS10* mutants were grown on YM agar plates supplemented with apramycin at 28 °C for 10 days. *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 was grown in YM broth for 5 days for genomic DNA extraction. *E. coli* XL1-Blue and ET12567, which were routinely grown in LB broth at 37 °C, were used for general genetic manipulations and intergenic conjugation, respectively. MS and ISP4 media were used for conjugation and single crossover homologous recombination, respectively. Apramycin (50 µg/mL), thiostrepton (50 µg/mL), chloramphenicol (25 µg/mL), ampicillin (50 µg/mL), and nalidixic acid (25 µg/mL) were supplemented, if appropriate.

#### General genetic manipulation and PCR

Standard molecular biology protocols were performed as previously described (38). Genomic DNA samples of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 and its mutants were extracted using a ZR Fungal/Bacterial DNA Miniprep Kit (Irvine, CA, USA). Plasmid DNA extraction from *E. coli* cells was performed using a Thermo Scientific GeneJET Plasmid Miniprep Kit (Logan, UT, USA). PCR reactions were performed with an Arktik Thermal Cycler (Thermo Scientific) using Phusion DNA polymerase (Thermo Scientific). Oligonucleotide primers were ordered from Sigma–Aldrich and dissolved in TE buffer to a concentration of 100 ng/mL.

# Construction of plasmids for heterologous expression and gene disruption

For the heterologous expression approach, *schP4*, *schP5*, *schP6*, *schP7*, *schP8*, *schP9*, and *schP10* genes were PCR-amplified from *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 genomic DNA using the oligonucleotide primers listed in Table B1. Specific forward and reverse primers contained compatible restriction enzymes, such as XbaI, SpeI, and NheI. The PCR products were first ligated into the pJET1.2 cloning vector for DNA sequencing using Sanger's method (Eton Bioscience, San Diego, CA, USA). Each combination of genes was then constructed by the subsequent addition of individual genes into the cloning vector and correct ligation was confirmed by restriction enzyme digestions. Additionally, each group of genes was ligated into a pRM5-derived vector. The gene cassette containing *schP6*, *schP7*, and *schP8* was excised from pOF1 using PacI and NheI and ligated into pRM5 between the same sites to yield pOF3. Subsequently, the *schP5* gene was excised from pOF2 using NheI and SpeI and ligated into pOF3 between

the same sites to yield pOF4. *schP4*, *schP9*, and *schP10* were also excised from pOF5-7 and inserted in the same sequential manner to yield pOF8-10, respectively. Similarly, *schS1*, *schS2*, *schS3*, *schS4*, *schS5*, *schS6*, *schS7*, and *schS8* were PCR-amplified from the genomic DNA of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 and subsequently inserted into pJET1.2 to yield pKN57. The gene cassette containing these genes was excised from pKN57 using the NheI and SpeI restriction sites, and ligated into pOF10 digested with the same restriction enzymes to yield pGG31. pOF10 and pGG31 plasmids were introduced into *S*. *lividans* K4 through poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)-mediated protoplast transformation for product analysis.

For the targeted gene disruption approach, a 672 bp fragment of *schS9* and a 763 bp fragment of *schS10* were PCR-amplified from the genomic DNA of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 using the primers listed in Table B1. The PCR products for *schS9* and *schS10* were first ligated into the pJET1.2 cloning vector by using T4 DNA ligase (New England Biolabs) to yield pRY7 and pRY8, respectively. These plasmids were sequenced to ensure that the genes were correct and free of mutations. The inserts were excised from pRY7 and pRY8 with XbaI and HindIII (New England Biolabs) and ligated to the thermally sensitive plasmid pKC1139 between the same sites to yield pRY9 and *pRY10*, respectively, which were subsequently used for gene inactivation of *schS9* and *schS10* in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 through intergenic conjugation with *E. coli* ET12567. Positive exconjugants for *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ *schS9* and  $\Delta$ *schS10* mutants were transferred to ISP4 plates supplemented with apramycin and nalidixic acid, and incubated at 37 °C for about 10 days to allow the plasmids to integrate into the genome and yield the single crossover mutants. The positive mutants were shuttled back and forth to YM

and ISP4 plates supplemented with apramycin for two generations to guarantee the positive mutants. Positive exconjugants after genome integration were subjected to product analysis and PCR confirmation of gene knockouts using primers listed in Table B1. The details of PEG-mediated protoplast transformation and intergenic conjugation protocols are described in the literature (39).

### Production, extraction, purification, and characterization of compounds

*S. lividans* K4, harboring pOF10 and pGG31, and *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS9 and *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schS10 mutants were grown for 10 days at 28 °C on R5 and YM agar plates supplemented with appropriate antibiotics, respectively. The cultures were chopped and extracted with a mixture of solvent consisting of 89 % ethyl acetate, 10 % methanol, and 1 % acetic acid (v/v). The resulting extracts were dried *in vacuo*, and the residues were redissolved in methanol for LC-MS analysis. All crude extracts were separated on a silica gel 60 column using different ratios of chloroform–methanol. The fractions with target compounds were further separated by HPLC with an Agilent Eclipse XDB-C18 column (5  $\mu$ m, 250×4.6 mm). Low-resolution ESI-MS spectra were obtained on an Agilent 6130 LC-MS. A Waters GCT highresolution mass spectrometer, with EI/CI and LIFDI capabilities (University of California, Riverside), was used to obtain the accurate mass spectra for the new compounds. 1D and 2D NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL ECX-300 or a Bruker Avance III HD Ascend-500 NMR spectrometer.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grant AI065357 RM

DP 008. The Bruker Avance III HD Ascend-500 NMR spectrometer used in this work was funded by the National Science Foundation Award CHE-1429195.

# References

- 1. **Rawlings, B. J.:** Biosynthesis of polyketides (other than actinomycete macrolides), Nat. Prod. Rep., **16**, 425-484 (1999).
- Rohr, J. and Thiericke, R.: Angucycline group antibiotics, Nat. Prod. Rep., 9, 103-137 (1992).
- Chu, M., Yarborough, R., Schwartz, J., Patel, M., Horan, A., Gullo, V., Das,
   P., and Puar, M.: Sch47554 and Sch47555, two novel antibiotics produced from a *Streptomyces* sp., J. Antibiot., 46, 861-865 (1993).
- 4. Grabley, S., Hammann, P., Hutter, K., Kluge, H., Thiericke, R., Wink, J., and Zeeck, A.: Secondary metabolites by chemical screening. Part 19. SM 196 A and B, novel biologically active angucyclinones from *Streptomyces* sp., J. Antibiot., 44, 670-673 (1991).
- Henkel, T., Ciesiolka, T., Rohr, J., and Zeeck, A.: Urdamycins, new angucycline antibiotics from *Streptomyces fradiae*, J. Antibiot., 42, 299-311 (1989).
- 6. Henkel, T., Rohr, J., Beale, J. M., and Schwenen, L.: Landomycins, new angucyline antibiotics from *Streptomyces* sp., J. Antibiot., **43**, 492-503 (1990).
- Hu, Z., Qin, L., Wang, Q., Ding, W., Chen, Z., and Ma, Z.: Angucycline antibiotics and its derivatives from marine-derived actinomycete *Streptomyces* sp. A6H, Nat. Prod. Res., 30, 2551-2558 (2016).

- Song, Y., Liu, G., Li, J., Huang, H., Zhang, X., Zhang, H., and Ju, J.: Cytotoxic and antibacterial angucycline- and prodigiosin-analogues from the deep-sea derived *Streptomyces* sp. SCSIO 11594, Mar. Drugs, 13, 1304-1316 (2015).
- Basnet, D. B., Oh, T. J., Vu, T. T., Sthapit, B., Liou, K., Lee, H. C., Yoo, J. C., and Sohng, J. K.: Angucyclines Sch47554 and Sch47555 from *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136: cloning, sequencing, and characterization, Mol. Cells, 22, 154-162 (2006).
- 10. **Vogt, T. and Jones, P.:** Glycosyltransferases in plant natural product synthesis: characterization of a supergene family, Trends Plant Sci., **5**, 380-386 (2000).
- Kren, V. and Martínková, L.: Glycosides in medicine: the role of glycosidic residue in biological activity, Curr. Med. Chem., 8, 1303-1328 (2001).
- 12. Weymouth-Wilson, A. C.: The role of carbohydrates in biologically active natural products, Nat. Prod. Rep., **14**, 99-110 (1997).
- Ostash, B., Rix, U., Rix, L. L. R., Liu, T., Lombo, F., Luzhetskyy, A., Gromyko, O., Wang, C., Braña, A. F., and Méndez, C.: Generation of new landomycins by combinatorial biosynthetic manipulation of the LndGT4 gene of the landomycin E cluster in *S. globisporus*, Chem. Biol., **11**, 547-555 (2004).
- Luzhetskyy, A., Taguchi, T., Fedoryshyn, M., Dürr, C., Wohlert, S. E., Novikov, V., and Bechthold, A.: LanGT2 catalyzes the first glycosylation step during landomycin A biosynthesis, ChemBioChem, 6, 1406-1410 (2005).
- Rodriguez, L., Oelkers, C., Aguirrezabalaga, I., Braña, A. F., Rohr, J.,
   Méndez, C., and Salas, J. A.: Generation of hybrid elloramycin analogs by

combinatorial biosynthesis using genes from anthracycline-type and macrolide biosynthetic pathways, J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol., **2**, 271-276 (2000).

- 16. Tang, L. and McDaniel, R.: Construction of desosamine containing polyketide libraries using a glycosyltransferase with broad substrate specificity, Chem. Biol., 8, 547-555 (2001).
- 17. Trefzer, A., Fischer, C., Stockert, S., Westrich, L., Künzel, E., Girreser, U., Rohr, J., and Bechthold, A.: Elucidation of the function of two glycosyltransferase genes (*lanGT1* and *lanGT4*) involved in landomycin biosynthesis and generation of new oligosaccharide antibiotics, Chem. Biol., 8, 1239-1252 (2001).
- 18. Künzel, E., Faust, B., Oelkers, C., Weissbach, U., Bearden, D. W., Weitnauer, G., Westrich, L., Bechthold, A., and Rohr, J.: Inactivation of the *urdGT2* gene, which encodes a glycosyltransferase responsible for the C-glycosyltransfer of activated D-olivose, leads to formation of the novel urdamycins I, J, and K, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **121**, 11058-11062 (1999).
- Luzhetskyy, A., Zhu, L., Gibson, M., Fedoryshyn, M., Dürr, C., Hofmann,
   C., Hoffmeister, D., Ostash, B., Mattingly, C., and Adams, V.: Generation of novel landomycins M and O through targeted gene disruption, ChemBioChem, 6, 675-678 (2005).
- 20. Dürr, C., Hoffmeister, D., Wohlert, S. E., Ichinose, K., Weber, M., von Mulert, U., Thorson, J. S., and Bechthold, A.: Die glycosyltransferase UrdGT2 katalysiert sowohl C-als auch O-glycosidischen zuckertransfer, Angew. Chem., 116, 3022-3025 (2004).

- 21. Erb, A., Luzhetskyy, A., Hardter, U., and Bechthold, A.: Cloning and sequencing of the biosynthetic gene cluster for saquayamycin Z and galtamycin B and the elucidation of the assembly of their saccharide chains, ChemBioChem, 10, 1392-1401 (2009).
- 22. Trefzer, A., Pelzer, S., Schimana, J., Stockert, S., Bihlmaier, C., Fiedler, H.P., Welzel, K., Vente, A., and Bechthold, A.: Biosynthetic gene cluster of simocyclinone, a natural multihybrid antibiotic, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 46, 1174-1182 (2002).
- 23. Trefzer, A., Hoffmeister, D., Künzel, E., Stockert, S., Weitnauer, G.,
  Westrich, L., Rix, U., Fuchser, J., Bindseil, K., and Rohr, J.: Function of glycosyltransferase genes involved in urdamycin A biosynthesis, Chem. Biol., 7, 133-142 (2000).
- 24. Zhang, W., Ames, B. D., Tsai, S.-C., and Tang, Y.: Engineered biosynthesis of a novel amidated polyketide, using the malonamyl-specific initiation module from the oxytetracycline polyketide synthase, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 72, 2573-2580 (2006).
- 25. Rix, U., Remsing, L. L., Hoffmeister, D., Bechthold, A., and Rohr, J.: Urdamycin L: a novel metabolic shunt product that provides evidence for the role of the *urdM* gene in the urdamycin A biosynthetic pathway of *Streptomyces fradiae* tü 2717, ChemBioChem, 4, 109-111 (2003).
- Fedoryshyn, M., Nur-e-Alam, M., Zhu, L., Luzhetskyy, A., Rohr, J., and
   Bechthold, A.: Surprising production of a new urdamycin derivative by *S. fradiae* ΔurdQ/R, J. Biotechnol., 130, 32-38 (2007).

- 27. **Thorson, J. S., Hosted, J., Jiang, J., Biggins, J. B., and Ahlert, J.:** Natures carbohydrate chemists the enzymatic glycosylation of bioactive bacterial metabolites, Curr. Org. Chem, **5**, 139-167 (2001).
- Luzhetskyy, A., Liu, T., Fedoryshyn, M., Ostash, B., Fedorenko, V., Rohr, J., and Bechthold, A.: Function of *lanGT3*, a glycosyltransferase gene involved in landomycin A biosynthesis, ChemBioChem, 5, 1567-1570 (2004).
- Westrich, L., Domann, S., Faust, B., Bedford, D., Hopwood, D. A., and Bechthold, A.: Cloning and characterization of a gene cluster from *Streptomyces cyanogenus* S136 probably involved in landomycin biosynthesis, FEMS Microbiol. Lett., **170**, 381-387 (1999).
- 30. Baig, I., Kharel, M., Kobylyanskyy, A., Zhu, L., Rebets, Y., Ostash, B., Luzhetskyy, A., Bechthold, A., Fedorenko, V. A., and Rohr, J.: On the acceptor substrate of C-glycosyltransferase UrdGT2: three prejadomycin Cglycosides from an engineered mutant of *Streptomyces globisporus* 1912 Δ*lndE* (*urdGT2*), Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 45, 7842-7846 (2006).
- 31. Faust, B., Hoffmeister, D., Weitnauer, G., Westrich, L., Haag, S., Schneider, P., Decker, H., Künzel, E., Rohr, J., and Bechthold, A.: Two new tailoring enzymes, a glycosyltransferase and an oxygenase, involved in biosynthesis of the angucycline antibiotic urdamycin A in *Streptomyces fradiae* Tü2717, Microbiology, **146**, 147-154 (2000).
- 32. Blanco, G., Fernández, E., Fernández, M. J., Braña, A., Weissbach, U., Künzel, E., Rohr, J., Méndez, C., and Salas, J.: Characterization of two glycosyltransferases involved in early glycosylation steps during biosynthesis of

the antitumor polyketide mithramycin by *Streptomyces argillaceus*, Mol. Genet. Genomics, **262**, 991-1000 (2000).

- 33. Fernández, E., Weißbach, U., Reillo, C. S., Braña, A. F., Méndez, C., Rohr, J., and Salas, J. A.: Identification of two genes from *Streptomyces argillaceus* encoding glycosyltransferases involved in transfer of a disaccharide during biosynthesis of the antitumor drug mithramycin, J. Bacteriol., 180, 4929-4937 (1998).
- 34. Doumith, M., Legrand, R., Lang, C., Salas, J. A., and Raynal, M. C.: Interspecies complementation in *Saccharopolyspora erythraea*: elucidation of the function of *oleP1*, *oleG1* and *oleG2* from the oleandomycin biosynthetic gene cluster of *Streptomyces antibioticus* and generation of new erythromycin derivatives, Mol. Microbiol., **34**, 1039-1048 (1999).
- 35. Olano, C., Rodriguez, A., Michel, J.-M., Mendez, C., Raynal, M.-C., and Salas, J.: Analysis of a *Streptomyces antibioticus* chromosomal region involved in oleandomycin biosynthesis, which encodes two glycosyltransferases responsible for glycosylation of the macrolactone ring, Mol. Gen. Genet., 259, 299-308 (1998).
- 36. Otten, S. L., Liu, X., Ferguson, J., and Hutchinson, C. R.: Cloning and characterization of the *Streptomyces peucetius dnrQS* genes encoding a daunosamine biosynthesis enzyme and a glycosyl transferase involved in daunorubicin biosynthesis, J. Bacteriol., **177**, 6688-6692 (1995).
- Tam, H. K., Härle, J., Gerhardt, S., Rohr, J., Wang, G., Thorson, J. S., Bigot,
   A., Lutterbeck, M., Seiche, W., and Breit, B.: Structural characterization of O-
and C-glycosylating variants of the landomycin glycosyltransferase LanGT2, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., **54**, 2811-2815 (2015).

- Joseph, S. and David, W. R.: Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed.
   Gold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY (2001).
- 39. **Kieser, T., Bibb, M., Buttner, M., Chater, K., and Hopwood, D.:** Practical *Streptomyces* genetics, John Innes Foundation, Norwich, UK (2000).

## CHAPTER III IMPROVED PRODUCTION OF ANTIFUNGAL ANGUCYCLINE SCH47554 BY MANIPULATING THREE REGULATORY GENES IN *STREPTOMYCES* SP. SCC-2136<sup>†</sup>

### Abstract

Sch47554 and Sch47555 are two angucyclines from Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136 with antifungal activities against various yeasts and dermatophytes. The *sch* gene cluster contains several putative regulatory genes. Both *schA4* and *schA21* were predicted as the TetR family transcriptional regulators, while *schA16* shared significant similarity to the AraC family transcriptional regulators. Although Sch47554 is the major product of Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136, its titer is only 6.72 mg/L. This work aimed to increase the production of this promising antifungal compound by investigating and manipulating the regulatory genes in the Sch47554 biosynthetic pathway. Disruption of *schA4* and *schA16* led to a significant increase in the production of Sch47554, whereas the titer was dramatically decreased when *schA21* was disrupted. Overexpression of these genes gave opposite results. The highest titer of Sch47554 was achieved in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC- $2136/\Delta schA4$  (27.94 mg/L), which is significantly higher than the wild type. Our results indicate that SchA4 and SchA16 are repressors, while SchA21 acts as an activator. This work thus provides an initial understanding of functional roles of regulatory elements in the biosynthesis of Sch47554. Several efficient producing strains of Sch47554 were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> This chapter has been published as **Fidan. F.,** Yan, R., Zhu, D., Zhan, J.\*: Improved production of antifungal angucycline Sch47554 by manipulating three regulatory genes in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry, (2019). doi: 10.1002/bab.1748.

constructed by disrupting or overexpressing particular regulatory genes, which can be further engineered for industrial production of this medicinally important molecule.

## **INTRODUCTION**

Gram-positive, filamentous, soil-inhabiting bacteria of *Streptomyces* belong to the phylum of Actinobacteria and have been recognized as one of the richest sources of biologically active secondary metabolites. They have a complex life cycle of morphological differentiation, which begins with spore germination in order to form branched vegetative hyphae (1). The subsequent differentiation results in the formation of sporogenic aerial hyphae, followed by the chains of unigenomic spores (2). During the initiation of morphological differentiation, most of the *Streptomyces* strains produce an extraordinary diversity of bioactive secondary metabolites, including a wide variety of pharmaceutically important natural products with various biological activities such as antimicrobial, anticancer, antifungal, antiviral and anti-cholesterol properties (3-6). The morphological differentiation and secondary metabolite production are tightly controlled by a complex network of regulators that senses and responds to plenty of physiological and environmental stimuli, including environmental stress, nutrition depletion, growth rate and small signaling molecules such as  $\gamma$ -butyrolactone and ppGpp (7-10). The regulators function at several hierarchical levels, starting from the highest level of regulation (also known as global or pleiotropic regulators), which involves pleiotropic genes that play significant roles in morphological differentiation as well as secondary metabolite production. The lowest level of regulation utilizes pathway-specific regulatory genes that are located in the biosynthetic gene clusters and act as a master switch for the

biosynthesis of corresponding secondary metabolites (8,9,11,12).

Pathway-specific regulatory genes can either activate or repress the expression of certain genes in the gene clusters. Biosynthetic gene clusters might have different numbers of pathway-specific regulatory genes. For instance, there is one in the actinorhodin biosynthetic gene cluster (13), whereas the daunorubicin gene cluster has three regulators (14). Some gene clusters, such as that for tylosin biosynthesis (15), contain both activators and repressors in the same gene cluster. Bacterial pathwayspecific regulators are classified into approximately 50 families based on the sequence alignment, structural and functional criteria (11). Among the known regulators in Streptomyces, the LuxR family transcriptional factors and Streptomyces antibiotic regulatory proteins (SARPs) are mainly activators as in the examples of GdmRI, GdmRII, ActII-orf4 and RedD (13,16). The TetR family transcriptional regulators often have the repression function as in the examples of TdrK, AlpZ and SAV576 (17-19). However, some of the TetR family regulators were characterized as activators, such as GdmRIII, SlgR1 and SAV3818 (20-23). Similar to the TetR family regulators, the AraC family transcriptional regulators can also function as either activator or repressor (24-26). Knowledge of the function of regulatory proteins at molecular level is of great interest. It would potentially enhance the yield of secondary metabolites through either inactivation of repressors or overexpression of activators and a combinatorial approach of both inactivation and overexpression.

*Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 (ATCC 55186) produces Sch47554 and Sch47555 that exhibit antifungal activity against various yeasts (*Candida albicans*, *C. tropicalis* and *C. stellatoidea*) and dermatophytes (*Trichophyton mentagrophytes*, *T. rubrum*, *T*.

*tonsurans* and *Microsporum canis*) (27). In addition to reported antifungal activities, Sch47554 and Sch47555 (Fig. 3) might potentially possess antitumor and antimicrobial activities, as well as enzyme inhibitory and agonistic activities due to their structural similarity to other angucycline metabolites (28). The diverse and promising biological activities of angucyclines excite the attentions of researcher to study the biosynthesis of these pharmaceutically important natural products as well as to enhance the production of these compounds.

The initial sequence analysis of the biosynthetic gene cluster (sch) for Sch47554 and Sch47555 revealed a total of 55 open reading frames (ORFs) in a region of 77.5 kb (NCBI accession number AJ628018). In our previous work, we proposed the biosynthetic pathway in which minimal PKS enzymes (SchP6, SchP7, and SchP8) can synthesize SEK15 from acetyl-CoA and nine units of malonyl-CoA. The addition of ketoreductase (SchP5), aromatase (SchP4) and cyclase (SchP9) to the mimimal PKS produced UWM6, which was subsequently converted to rabelomycin by an oxygenase (SchP10). Upon another oxygenation step by SchP3, the aglycone backbone was synthesized and further modified by three glycosyltransferases, resulting in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555 (29,30). Additionally, based on the sequence similarity analysis, the *sch* gene cluster contains several ORFs that may produce genes with a potential regulatory function. Two putative regulatory genes, *schA4* and *schA21*, were annotated as the TetR family transcriptional regulators, while *schA16* shared significant similarity to the AraC family transcriptional regulators. In addition to the well-known families of regulatory genes, Basnet et al. predicted the putative functions of schA25 and schA27 as repressorresponse regulator and transcriptional factor, respectively (29).

With the recent advances in genome sequencing and recombinant DNA technologies, rational strain improvement through metabolic engineering and synthetic biology has become a powerful tool to increase the titers of natural products for industrial purposes. Some of widely-used metabolic engineering techniques for yield improvement are to increase the precursor supply, delete or tune the competing pathways or unwanted by-products, heterologous expression of the entire biosynthetic pathway, overexpression of rate-limiting enzymes, and manipulation of regulatory genes (31,32). Typically, the best yields are achieved through a combination of several approaches. Moreover, the manipulation of regulatory genes through overexpression of activator genes and/or deletion of repressor genes has been successfully performed in order for the improved yield of natural products (33). For instance, overexpression of a SARP from the mithramycin biosynthetic gene cluster in S. argillaceus led to a 16-fold increase in the mithramycin titer (34). In addition, the inactivation of a GntR family transcriptional repressor increased the yield of platensimycin and platencin by 100-fold compared to the wild type strain (35). The aim of the present study was to identify the functional roles of the TetR and AraC family transcriptional regulators in the *sch* gene cluster in Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136 for the improved production of the major antifungal compound Sch47554. The results presented in this study indicate that SchA4 and SchA16 are repressors, while SchA21 is an activator based on the inactivation and overexpression of corresponding regulatory genes. Manipulation of these regulatory genes significantly increased the production of Sch47554. This study paves the way for further engineering of this producing strain for enhanced production of these medicinally important angucyclines.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Plasmids, strains, media and growth conditions

Plasmids and bacterial strains used in this study are listed in Table 2. Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136 was used as the parent strain for gene disruption and overexpression of regulatory proteins. Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136 was grown in YM broth (4 g/L yeast extract, 10 g/L malt extract, 4 g/L glucose) for 5 days for genomic DNA extraction. *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 and its derivative strains were grown at 28 °C for 10 days on YM agar plates (4 g/L yeast extract, 10 g/L malt extract, 4 g/L glucose, and 20 g/L agar) for product analysis. MS (20 g/L mannitol, 20 g/L soy flour, 20 g/L agar and 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>) and ISP4 (Difco<sup>TM</sup>) media were used for conjugation and single crossover homologous recombination, respectively. Escherichia coli XL1-Blue was used as the cloning host for plasmid construction and amplification. E. coli ET12567 was used for the introduction of gene knockout and overexpression plasmids into *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 through intergenic conjugation. E. coli strains were routinely grown in LB medium at 37 °C. Apramycin (50 µg/mL), kanamycin (50 µg/mL), chloramphenicol (25  $\mu g/mL$ ), ampicillin (50  $\mu g/mL$ ) and nalidixic acid (25  $\mu g/mL$ ) were supplemented when appropriate.

Standard molecular biology protocols were performed as previously described (38). Genomic DNA samples of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 and its derivative strains were extracted with a ZR Fungal/Bacterial DNA Miniprep Kit (Irvine, CA, USA). Plasmid DNA extraction from *E. coli* cells was performed using the Thermo Scientific GeneJET Plasmid Miniprep Kit (Thermo Scientific). PCR reactions were performed with

an Arktik<sup>™</sup> Thermal Cycler (Thermo Scientific) using Phusion DNA polymerase (Thermo Scientific). Oligonucleotide primers were ordered from Sigma-Aldrich and dissolved in TE buffer to the concentration of 100 ng/mL. Restriction enzymes used in this study were purchased from New England BioLabs.

Strains	Description	Source
<i>E. coli</i> XL1-Blue	recA1 endA1 gyrA96 thi- 1 hsdR17 supE44 relA1 lac	Agilent Technologies
<i>E. coli</i> ET12567 (pUZ8002)	F- dam-13::Tn9 dcm-6 hsdM hsdR zjj- 202::Tn10 recF143 galK2 galT22 ara- 14 lacY1 xyl-5 leuB6 thi-1 tonA31 rpsL136 hisG4 tsx-78 mtl-1 glnV44	(30)
Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/WT	<i>Streptomyces sp.</i> SCC-2136 wild type strain	ATTC 55186
Streptomyces sp. SCC- 2136/∆schA4	<i>Streptomyces sp.</i> SCC-2136 <i>schA4</i> knockout strain	This study
Streptomyces sp. SCC- 2136/∆schA16	<i>Streptomyces sp.</i> SCC-2136 <i>schA16</i> knockout strain	This study
Streptomyces sp. SCC- 2136/∆schA21	<i>Streptomyces sp.</i> SCC-2136 <i>schA21</i> knockout strain	This study
Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/OE- SchA4	<i>Streptomyces sp.</i> SCC-2136 <i>schA4</i> overexpression strain	This study
Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/OE- SchA16	<i>Streptomyces sp.</i> SCC-2136 <i>schA16</i> overexpression strain	This study
Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/OE- SchA21	<i>Streptomyces sp.</i> SCC-2136 <i>schA21</i> overexpression strain	This study
Plasmids	Description	Source
pJET1.2	Cloning vector	Thermo Fisher
pKC1139	<i>E.coli-Streptomyces</i> shuttle plasmid contains a <i>Streptomyces</i> temperature-	(36)

TABLE 2 Bacterial strains and plasmids used in Chapter 3.

	sensitive origin of replication	
pSET152	$\phi$ C31 int + attP integrative expression plasmid	(37)
pRY15	Partial fragment of <i>schA4</i> gene in pJET1.2	This study
pRY16	Partial fragment of <i>schA16</i> gene in pJET1.2	This study
pRY17	Partial fragment of <i>schA21</i> gene in pJET1.2	This study
pRY19	Partial fragment of <i>schA4</i> gene (from pRY15) in pKC1139	This study
pRY20	Partial fragment of <i>schA16</i> gene (from pRY16) in pKC1139	This study
pRY21	Partial fragment of <i>schA21</i> gene (from pRY17) in pKC1139	This study
pOKF7	schA4 gene in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF8	schA16 gene in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF9	schA21 gene in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF10	<i>schA4</i> gene (from pOKF8) in pSET152	This study
pOKF11	<i>schA16</i> gene (from pOKF9) in pSET152	This study
pOKF12	<i>schA21</i> gene (from pOKF10) in pSET152	This study

## Plasmid construction for targeted gene disruption and overexpression of

## regulatory genes

Targeted gene disruption plasmids were constructed based on the temperaturesensitive vector pKC1139 (36). Firstly, we PCR-amplified 456 bp, 538 bp, and 508 bp fragments of *schA4*, *schA16* and *schA21*, respectively, from the genomic DNA of Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136 using the primers listed in Table 3. These PCR products were ligated into the pJET1.2 cloning vector to yield pRY15, pRY16 and pRY17 (Table 2), respectively. The plasmids were sent out for DNA sequencing using Sanger's method (Eton Bioscience). Subsequently, the partial DNA fragments of *schA4*, *schA16*, and schA21 genes were excised from pRY15, pRY16 and pRY17 using XbaI and HindIII, and then ligated into pKC1139 between the same sites to yield pRY19, pRY20 and pRY21 (Table 2), respectively. These plasmids were subsequently used for targeted gene disruption of *schA4*, *schA16* and *schA21* in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 through intergenic conjugation using *E. coli* ET12567. Positive exconjugants for *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schA4,  $\Delta$ schA16 and  $\Delta$ schA21 mutants were transferred to ISP4 plates supplemented with a ramycin and incubated at 37 °C for about 10 days to allow the plasmids to integrate into the genome and yield the single-crossover mutants. The positive mutants were shuttled back and forth to YM and ISP4 plates supplemented with apramycin for two generations to guarantee the positive mutants. Positive exconjugants after genome integration were subjected to product analysis and PCR confirmation of gene knockouts using primers listed in Table 3. The details of intergenic conjugation protocols were described in the literature (39).

For overexpression of regulatory genes, an integrative expression plasmid for *Streptomyces*, pSET152, was used (37). We firstly amplified *schA4*, *schA16* and *schA21* genes by PCR from the genomic DNA of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 using the primers listed in Table 3. These PCR products were inserted into pJET1.2 cloning vector to yield pOKF7, pOKF8 and pOKF9 (Table 2), respectively. After sequencing, each regulatory gene was excised from pOKF7, pOKF8 and pOKF9 with XbaI and subsequently ligated

into pSET152 using the same site, yielding pOKF10, pOKF11 and pOKF12 (Table 2), respectively. The direction of the genes was double-checked using the NdeI restriction site, which was designed in the primers for direction check. These plasmids were transformed into *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 through intergenic conjugation using *E. coli* ET12567. Positive exconjugants were streaked on YM plates supplemented with apramycin for product analysis.

Primers	Oligonucleotides
schA4-SCKO-F-HindIII	aaAAGCTTacgtcgccacgcacgagttc
schA4-SCKO-R-XbaI	aaTCTAGAggaagaagcagaacgagctgat
schA16-SCKO-F-HindIII	aaAAGCTTggcacgcgaacgaggcgatc
schA16-SCKO-R-XbaI	aaTCTAGAtcggcgtacgcgctgacgct
schA21-SCKO-F-HindIII	aaAAGCTTaacgcctcaaccgccccgca
schA21-SCKO-R-XbaI	aaTCTAGAttcgcgctggaccagccctg
OE-schA4-F-XbaI-NdeI	aaTCTAGAgggagccCATATGtcagtccgccgagcggtcc
OE-schA4-R-XbaI	aaTCTAGAatgaccagcgtcgaagaaccgg
OE-schA16-F-XbaI-NdeI	aaTCTAGAggaggagccCATATGgcggacataagcaccca
OE-schA16-R-XbaI	aaTCTAGAtcagccctgaacgccgccgg
OE-schA21-F-XbaI-NdeI	aaTCTAGAgggagccCATATGtcagtccgccgagcggtcc
OE-schA21-R-XbaI	aaTCTAGAatggccactcggagaaaagaggagaagc
SchA4-RY19-check-F	aaatgacgtagccgacgacg
SchA4-RY19-check-R	aagtgacatcggtgttgtgc
SchA16-RY20-check-F	aacagacggtgtggtcgaag
SchA16-RY20-check-R	aaagaccacgaccgactctg
SchA21-RY21-check-F	aagtgagccagtcgcagtgc
SchA21-RY21-check-R	aacagtcgatcgcgttcttcag

TABLE 3 Oligonucleotides used in Chapter 3.

#### **Extraction, purification and product analysis**

Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136 and engineered strains were grown for 10 days at 28 °C on YM agar plates supplemented with apramycin. The plates were chopped and extracted with a mixture of solvents consisting of 89% ethyl acetate, 10% methanol, and 1% acetic acid (v/v). The resulting extracts were dried *in vacuo*, and the residues were redissolved in methanol for HPLC analysis. We purified the major compound Sch47554 by HPLC with an Agilent Eclipse XDB-C18 column (5  $\mu$ m, 250 mm × 4.6 mm) to prepare a standard curve for the product analysis of engineered strains. This purified compound was characterized by LC-MS and NMR (Figs. C1 and C2). Low-resolution and high-resolution ESI-MS spectra were obtained on Agilent 6130 and 6210 LC-MS, respectively. Proton NMR was recorded on a Bruker AvanceIII HD Ascend-500 NMR instrument.

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>):  $\delta$  7.91 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.64 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.94 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 6.85 (dd, *J* = 10.2, 3.5 Hz, 1H), 6.71 (dd, *J* = 10.2, 3.5 Hz, 1H), 6.43 (d, *J* = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 6.13 (d, *J* = 10.2 Hz, 1H), 6.10 (d, *J* = 10.2 Hz, 1H), 5.61 (d, *J* = 3.4 Hz, 1H), 5.35 (d, *J* = 3.5 Hz, 1H), 4.83 (d, *J* = 10.0 Hz, 1H), 4.76 (q, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 1H), 4.62 (q, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 3.58 (dd, *J* = 9.1, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.43 (ddd, *J* = 14.5, 10.1, 4.8 Hz, 2H), 3.25 (dd, *J* = 13.4, 3.0 Hz, 1H), 2.56 (d, *J* = 13.3 Hz, 1H), 2.49 (dd, *J* = 15.6, 2.9 Hz, 1H), 2.40 – 2.31 (m, 2H), 2.30 – 2.24 (m, 1H), 1.90 – 1.85 (m, 1H), 1.83 (d, *J* = 15.5 Hz, 1H), 1.49 (s, 3H), 1.46 (d, *J* = 6.7 Hz, 3H), 1.41 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.39 (d, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 3H).

The titers of Sch47554 for all strains were calculated using the standard curve prepared with the purified compound. Three replicates were analyzed for production

formation for all strains. Depending on the production level, the crude extracts of all strains were diluted with different ratios in order to be in the range of the standard curve and then analyzed by HPLC.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Actinomycetes have possessed a huge potential to produce novel,

pharmaceutically useful secondary metabolites with a wide variety of biological activities (40). Particularly, Streptomycetes have been recognized as one of the richest sources of biologically active secondary metabolites (41). However, the production titers of those important compounds are often low, and sometimes it is too low to detect the products with current analytical techniques (42,43). To expand Nature's chemical repertoire and to increase the titers of known natural products, researchers have come up with various solutions: heterologous expression, co-cultivation, fermentation engineering and strain engineering (8). In particular, strain engineering can be conducted through both metabolic engineering of rate-limiting and/or competing pathways, and engineering regulatory networks of secondary metabolites in native strains in which secondary metabolite biosynthesis is tightly regulated by global and/or pathway-specific regulatory proteins (40,42,44-47). In this study, we investigated the roles of three regulatory genes in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster with the purpose of enhancing the production of Sch47554 in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136.

# Sequence analysis of three putative regulatory proteins in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster

BLAST analysis revealed that SchA4 and SchA21 are putative TetR family

transcriptional factors, while SchA16 is a putative AraC family transcriptional factor. SchA4 and SchA21 exhibit high sequence homology to LanK (72% and 76%, respectively) and SimR (80% and 63%, respectively), both of which are regulatory proteins in the biosynthetic gene clusters of landomycin A and simocyclinone (48-50). SchA16 is highly similar to some of the characterized AraC family transcriptional factors such as AdpA (78%), RapG (72%), NanR4 (75%) and SAV742 (78%) (24-26,51). We also performed a multiple amino acid sequence alignment for those regulatory genes against some of the characterized regulatory proteins from various *Streptomyces* strains in order to identify the conserved domains (Fig. 8). The overall conserved structure of the TetR family transcriptional factors consists of nine  $\alpha$  helices, and the DNA-binding domain is composed of helices 1 to 3 (52). Both SchA4 and SchA21 consist of conserved DNA-binding domains similar to other reference TetR family transcriptional factors (Figs. 8A and 8B). On the other hand, the AraC family transcriptional factors (Fig. 8C) possess a C-terminal conserved helix-turn-helix (HTH) DNA-binding domain with the consensus of 15 amino acid residues (AxxxxxSxxxLxxxFxxxxGxxxxxxRxxx AxxxLxxxxxxxXI/VxI/VxxxXG(F/K)xxxxxFxxxF(R/K)xxxxGxP, where x is any amino acid) (53). SchA16 has high similarity to this consensus sequence. All in all, BLAST and Clustal Omega multiple sequence alignments for these regulatory proteins indicated that SchA4 and SchA16 belong to the TetR family, while SchA16 is a member of the AraC family transcriptional factors.

Α		$\leftarrow \alpha_2 $		$\leftarrow \alpha_4$
SAV_151_213aa TcmR_226aa SCO3201_236aa TrdK_214aa <b>SchA4_221aa</b> RapY_204aa ClmR1_185aa LanK_192aa Au1R_205aa AlpW_230aa AlpZ_237aa ArpA_276aa SAV_576_218aa SimR_267aa SACE_0012_229aa SCO1712_205aa TetR_226aa	-TRLIQAGLDLFGTAGYA DQLIREALELFLAQGYA MEIARAAARLFVGQGLA ETISDTAITLFLEHGFA AEILDVATHEFARAGYA EAITEAAFAELADAGYA DKIQSVALELFIERGYA RALIESAARVFGRRGYA EALIRSAAEVFHHEGFA LSILKAAAEVFDSHGYA DGICAMALQLIDADGVA DQIVRAAVKVADTEGVA LRLLDRAGELLAEGGAA TRILDACADLLDEVGYA	ASASVKQVCSHAGL EHTTVEQIAEAVEV RATRAEDIARAAGV OQVSVVDIAAVAEV OGARVDEIAARTRT ARMSMESVARRAGV DAARIDEITERAGV EKTSMREIAEGLGI AEATLSMISVGAGV EAASLTLISSRAGV EAATIGEILRRAGV EAATIGEILRRAGV EAATIGEILRRAGV EAATIGEILRRAGV EAATSEILRRAKV EALTMRKLATALDA DALGLRSLAKAADT DALSTRAVALRADV OGLTTRKLAERLGV :	TERYFYESFRI HPRTFFRHFAS APRTFYRYFAS SKPTLFKYFP TKRMIYYYFG GKAALYRRWPS AIGTFYLHFSS TKAALYYHFKAS SPGALHFHFAS TKGALYFHFPS TKGALYFHFPS TKGALYFHFPS GTMSLYHVPS STSAVYSLFG PIGSVYRFFGI QQPALYWHFRI	DREDLLAGVY- SKEEVALTPI- FKEEAVAPLY- FKEDLVVHRF- GKDQLFTAVL- SKQAMVTELI- SKRDIMAAVQ- AKEEILVAIS- NKAAVAAAVE- SKAVLADAVE- SKQALAEGVL- SKEAIAQAIM- NKDAVLRGVA- FKEDLVELMV- GKDELLHALY- NKRQMADALA- IKRALLDALA- I
В	<b>α</b> <sub>1</sub>			
SgAtrA_267aa SrAtrA_284aa SlgR1_220aa GouR_228aa <b>SchA21_251aa</b> GdmRIII_208aa SACE_7301_219aa SSDG_03033_207aa DepR1_210aa	-EHVLRAAREVFGELGYG -EHVLRAAREVFGELGYG -QAISDAAISLFLQHGFDQ -RALATAALDLILRRGLAI -QRIAAAAVAIADTEGLD2 -VRLLDATVELIGEHGYE2 -RQILDAAVDVFAAHGFHQ -ETLLTVAVQIFNERGYDQ -RAIHDAALALVTEVGYRH : .: : *	-APMEDVARRARVG -APMEDVARRARVG QVSVVDVAAAAEVS DTTVEAIAERADVT AVTMRRLAADLGAA ATTLADIADRAGAA QASMDEISEVAGIS GTSMEHLSKAAGIS RTTIEGIAARAGVG	VGTVYRRFPSI VGTVYRRFPSI KPTLFKYFPTI RRTFSRHFAGI PMAAYRYVSGI RGLVSYYFPGI KPMIYAYLGSI KSSIYHHVAGI KQTIYRWWPSI	<pre>{DVLVRRIAE - {DVLVRRIAE - {EDLVVHRFA - {EDAALDFVR - {DELLELMVD - {RQLLQTAVH - {EELFVACIQ - {EELLRRAVS - {AAVLIDAFL - }</pre>
C AdpA_405aa NanR4_313aa SchA16_297aa RapG_330aa SAV_742_331aa	EHLHEQFDVETLAARA NPGHPWTVALLAAE -EKGFATNHSVSAYADAI TDPELSPTMLAREI HDPELSPPVIAAAH	AYMSRRTFDRRFR- FGISRAVLARRFT- LGYSRRTLVRAVR-J LNVSLRTLQRAFT- HHISLSYLHRIFQQG * : * .	SLTGSAPLQWI ELVGEPPMAYI AATGETPKGF -VAGESLIAY QAQGETVAAY *.	LITQRVLQAQR LTGWRLDLAAD IDKRVVLEAKR IRHRRLEEARR IRSQRLEGACR : *
AdpA_405aa NanR4_313aa <b>SchA16_297aa</b> RapG_330aa SAV_742_331aa	LLETSDYSVDEVAG LLREPDATLGAVAR LLAHTDMPIGRIGVS ALIASA-GRLSVSELAA DLASTSLRTTPIYAVAAA	RCGFRSPVALRGHF RVGYGSSFALSAAF SVGFPDAANFTKFF HWQFADSSHFIRVF RWGFLHASDFTRTF *	RRQLGSSPAAY KRVRGVSPREH HQHTGVAAGGV KKTYGQTPTEY RTAYGRSPKEY : * :	(RAAYRARR IRSAAS /QG (ARSTGLT /RLQALYV

FIG. 8. Multiple amino acid sequence alignment for SchA4 (A), SchA21 (B), and

SchA16 (C) with respect to the characterized TetR- and AraC-family transcriptional factors, respectively. SchA4 and SchA21 consist of the conserved DNA-binding domain of the TetR regulators, while SchA16 has the C-terminal conserved HTH DNA-binding domain. Asterisk (\*) indicates positions which have a single, fully conserved residue. Colon (:) indicates conservation between groups of strongly similar properties. Period (.) indicates conservation between groups of weekly similar properties. GenBank accession numbers are: WP 010981587 (SAV 151), WP 052413891 (TcmR), WP 011028825 (SCO3201), WP\_108908224 (TdrK), CAH10095 (SchA4), CAA60451 (RapY), CCC55902 (ClmR1), AAD13556 (LanK), WP\_030240800 (Au1R), WP\_053125906 (AlpW), WP\_053125912 (AlpZ), Q9ZN78 (ArpA), WP\_010982014 (SAV\_576), AAK06798 (SimR), CAL99365 (SACE 0012), NP 733542 (SC01712), WP 004193135 (TetR), BAG20734 (SgAtrA), EFE75762 (SrAtrA), CBA11576 (SlgR1), AFU52889 (GouR), CAH10121 (SchA21), WP\_069862081 (GdmRIII), WP\_009951472 (SACE\_7301), EDY64415 (SSDG\_03033), WP\_006124065 (DepR1), WP\_003968987 (AdpA), AAP42877 (NanR4), CAH10107 (SchA16), CAA60472 (RapG), and BAC68452 (SAV 742).

## Characterization of SchA4 as a repressor and enhanced production of Sch47554 by disrupting *schA4*

Based on the multiple amino acid sequence alignment and analysis of the conserved domains, SchA4 was predicted to be a TetR family transcriptional factor. To characterize the role of *schA4*, we first disrupted this gene on the genome of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. A single crossover approach was used (Fig. 9A). Apramycin

resistant exconjugants were obtained from intergenic conjugation between *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 and *E. coli* ET12567/pRY19. The correct mutant was verified by PCR using vector- (RV-M and M13-47) and genome-specific primers (Fig. 9A). As illustrated in Fig. 9B, the 1.50 kb and 1.55 kb PCR products were amplified from the genome of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schA4, whereas the wild type genome did not yield these fragments. This indicated that the *schA4* gene was successfully disrupted.



FIG. 9. Illustration of the single crossover recombination strategy for disruption for *schA4* (A) and PCR confirmation of gene disruption (B). M: DNA ladder. 1: Genomic DNA of wild type *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 as template with the forward check primer and M13-47 universal primer. 2: Genomic DNA of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 mutant strains with the forward check primer and M13-47 universal primer. 3: Genomic DNA of wild type *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 as template with the RV-M universal primer and reverse check primer. 4: Genomic DNA of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 mutant strains with the RV-M universal primer and reverse check primer. Upon confirmation of gene inactivation, the positive exconjugants were grown on YM plates supplemented with apramycin for product analysis. As shown in Fig. 10A, *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schA4 showed the same product profile as the wild type. The major peak was isolated and characterized as Sch47554 by a comparison of its MS and NMR data (Figs. C1 and C2) with those reported. However, the titer of Sch47554 in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schA4 reached 27.94 mg/L, which is significantly higher than the wild type (6.72 mg/L) (Fig. 10B). This result suggests that SchA4 acts as a repressor, similar to most regulatory proteins in the TetR family (17,18,54-56). For instance, SAV576 negatively controls the biosynthesis of avermetin in *S. avermetilis* (18). Similarly, AlpZ is another TetR family transcriptional factor with a repressor role in the biosynthesis of angucyclinone antibiotic alpomycin in *S. ambofaciens* (17).

To ensure that the above result was not due to a polar effect caused by insertion of the disruption plasmid into the gene cluster (Fig. 9A), we next overexpressed *schA4* in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. Overexpression approach has been used to investigate the function of regulatory proteins. For instance, Yoo et al. overexpressed three regulatory genes (*rapY*, *rapR* and *rapS*) using the pSET152 integrative expression plasmid to understand the function of regulatory elements in rapamycin biosynthesis (56). Kuščer et al. also exploited a pSET152-based integrative expression system to overexpress regulatory proteins in rapamycin-producing wild type strain, which led to an increase in the titer of rapamycin (24). Thus, we used the pSET152 integrative expression system to overexpress the corresponding regulatory genes. First, the *schA4* gene was ligated into pSET152 to yield pOKF10, which was subsequently introduced into *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 through intergenic conjugation. The resulting strain was grown on YM plates

supplemented with apramycin for product analysis. As shown in Fig. 11A, *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/OE-*schA4* produced the same metabolites as the wild type. The titer of Sch47554 in this strain was determined to be 2.42 mg/L (Fig. 11B), which is much lower than the wild type. This result further supports that SchA4 is a repressor for the biosynthetic pathway of Sch47554. Enhanced expression of SchA4 would have down-regulated the pathway, resulting in a lower production titer of the target compound.



FIG. 10. Effects of disruption of *schA4*, *schA16* and *schA21* on the production of Sch47554. (A) HPLC analysis (420 nm) of the extracts of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 wild type and mutant strains for *schA4*, *schA16* and *schA21*. The peak at 37.9 min is the antifungal compound of Sch47554. (B) A comparison of the titers of Sch47554 in wild type *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 with those in the mutants with disrupted *schA4*, *schA16* or *schA21*. 55186-WT: *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2138 wild type strain, SchA4-KO: *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/Δ*schA4*, SchA16-KO: *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/Δ*schA16*, and SchA21-KO: *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/Δ*schA21*. The average titers are shown at the top of the bars.

## Identification of SchA16 as an AraC-family repressor and enhanced production of Sch47554 by disrupting *schA16*

The multiple amino acid sequence alignment predicted that SchA16 is an AraC family transcriptional factor. Similar to other characterized AraC family regulators, SchA16 has 15 amino acid consensuses for the conserved DNA-binding domain. To understand its role in the biosynthesis of Sch47554, we used a similar approach to disrupt this gene. The correct exconjugant was selected by apramycin resistance and verified using PCR. Two fragments, 1.50 kb and 1.40 kb, respectively, were amplified from the genome of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schA16 using genome- and vector-specific primers, while the wild type gave no PCR products using the same primers (Fig. C3A). Production of Sch47554 by this mutant was confirmed by HPLC (Fig. 10A) and the titer of this compound was determined to be 17.43 mg/L (Fig. 10B). This represents a nearly 200% increase compared to the wild type strain, suggesting that SchA16 plays a role of repressor in the biosynthesis of Sch47554.

We then amplified the *schA16* gene and ligated it into pSET152 to yield the overexpression plasmid pOKF11. This plasmid was introduced into *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 to overexpress SchA16. Although this engineered strain produced Sch47554 (Fig. 11A), the titer of this compound was only 1.78 mg/L (Fig. 11B), which is much lower than the wild type. This result was consistent with that from the disruption of *schA16*. In general, the AraC family regulators are considered as activators with some exceptions (11). For instance, NanR4 and RapG act as activator in the biosynthesis of nanchangmycin and rapamycin, respectively (24,26). However, SAV742 is a repressor in the biosynthesis of avermectin in *S. avermitilis* and its deletion increased the yield of

avermectin (25), same as what we observed in the disruption of *schA16*. Similar to the TetR family regulators, the AraC family regulators could exhibit both positive and negative roles in the secondary metabolite production. Our results support that SchA16 is a repressor in the biosynthetic pathway of Sch47554 and the disruption of this gene can be an effective approach for improving the production of angucyclines in this strain.



FIG. 11. Effects of overexpression of *schA4*, *schA16* and *schA21* on the production of Sch47554. (A) HPLC analysis (420 nm) of the extracts of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 wild type and overexpression strains for *schA4*, *schA16* and *schA21*, respectively. (B) A comparison of the titers of Sch47554 in wild type *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 with those in the engineered strains overexpressing *schA4*, *schA16* or *schA21*. 55186-WT: wild type strain; SchA4-OE: *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136-SchA4 overexpression strain; SchA16-OE: *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136-SchA16 overexpression strain; SchA21-OE: *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136-SchA16 overexpression strain. The average titers are shown at the top of the bars.

## Characterization of SchA21 as a TetR family activator and enhanced production of Sch47554 by overexpressing *schA21*

BLAST analysis showed that SchA21 also belongs to the TetR family of transcriptional factors. To under its role in the biosynthesis of Sch47554, we disrupted this gene through the single crossover homologous recombination approach shown in Fig. 9A. The genome of the resulting mutant was extracted and subjected to PCR verification. Using the genome- and vector-specific primers, we were able to amplify the 1.40 and 1.25 kb fragments from the genome of *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schA21, but none from the wild type (Fig. C3B), confirming that this strain is the correct mutant. Product analysis showed that this mutant did produce the same products as the wild type (Fig. 10A), but Sch47554 was only produced at a very low level (0.39 mg/L, Fig. 10B), indicating that disruption of SchA21 has significantly repressed the biosynthetic pathway of Sch47554. This gene was then ligated into pSET152 to yield the overexpression plasmid pOKF12. Overexpression of this gene in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 led to significantly enhanced production of Sch47554, with a titer of 26.23 mg/L, as shown in Figs. 11A and 11B. The disruption and overexpression strains for SchA4 and SchA21 led to the opposite results even though both regulatory proteins are in the same family. The titer of Sch47554 increased significantly in the knockout strain for SchA4 by approximately 4-fold, whereas it was dramatically decreased when *schA21* was disrupted (Fig. 10B). The overexpression strains for these TetR family transcriptional factors produced consistent results with the gene-disrupted strains. Therefore, it can be concluded that SchA21 serves as an activator of the Sch47554 biosynthetic pathway. Although most known TetR family transcriptional factors are repressors, there are some

TetR family transcriptional regulators that act as activators in the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites. As an example, SAV3818 cloned from high avermectinproducing *S. avermitilis* ATCC31780 was overexpressed in the low avermectinproducing *S. avermitilis* ATCC 31267, showing a stimulatory effect in the low avermectin-producing strain. In addition, the overexpression of SAV3818 stimulated actinorhodin production in both *S. coelicolor* M145 and *S. lividans* TK21, implying that this TetR-family transcriptional regulator might be a global up-regulator acting in antibiotic production in *Streptomyces* species (20). Another example is GdmRIII, which not only plays a positive regulatory role in the biosynthesis of geldanamycin, but also plays a negative role in elaiophylin biosynthesis in *S. autolyticus* CGMCC0516 (22). We successfully increased the titer of Sch47554 through the overexpression of the TetR family activator, SchA21.

## CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, the roles of three putative regulatory genes in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster were investigated for enhanced production of a pharmaceutically important angucycline. Gene disruption of *schA4* and *schA16* led to a significant increase in the production of angucyclines. In contrast, disruption of *schA21* dramatically decreased the yield of Sch47554. The overexpression strains produced opposite results. Therefore, SchA4 and SchA16 were identified as repressors, while SchA21 acts as an activator. Our results demonstrated that both disruption of pathway repressors and overexpression of activators are effective ways to improve the production of target compounds in the producing strains. This work provides an initial understanding of regulatory elements in

the biosynthesis of Sch47554, which will facilitate further engineering of this producing strain for the efficient production of these medicinally important angucyclines.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by a Grant-In-Aid from the American Heart Association (16GRNT26430067) and the Hundred Talents Program of Hunan Province, China. The Bruker AvanceIII HD Ascend-500 NMR instrument used in this work was funded by the National Science Foundation Award CHE-1429195.

## References

- Ventura, M., Canchaya, C., Tauch, A., Chandra, G., Fitzgerald, G. F., Chater, K. F., and van Sinderen, D.: Genomics of Actinobacteria: tracing the evolutionary history of an ancient phylum, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev., 71, 495-548 (2007).
- Flärdh, K. and Buttner, M. J.: *Streptomyces* morphogenetics: dissecting differentiation in a filamentous bacterium, Nat. Rev. Microbiol., 7, 36-49 (2009).
- Challis, G. L. and Hopwood, D. A.: Synergy and contingency as driving forces for the evolution of multiple secondary metabolite production by *Streptomyces* species, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 100 Suppl 2, 14555-14561 (2003).
- Lima Procópio, R. E., da Silvaa, I. R., Martins, M. K., Azevedoa, J. L., and de Araújob, J. M.: Antibiotics produced by *Streptomyces*, Braz. J. Infect. Dis., 16, 466-471 (2012).
- Sun, L., Wang, S., Zhang, S., Shao, L., Zhang, Q., Skidmore, C., Chang, C. W. T., Yu, D., and Zhan, J.: Characterization of three tailoring enzymes in

dutomycin biosynthesis and generation of a potent antibacterial analogue, ACS Chem. Biol., **11**, 1992-2001 (2016).

- Yu, D., Xu, F., Shao, L., and Zhan, J.: A specific cytochrome P450 hydroxylase in herboxidiene biosynthesis, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 24, 4511-4514 (2014).
- Bibb, M. J.: Regulation of secondary metabolism in *Streptomycetes*, Curr. Opin. Microbiol., 8, 208-215 (2005).
- Liu, G., Chater, K. F., Chandra, G., Niu, G., and Tan, H.: Molecular regulation of antibiotic biosynthesis in *Streptomyces*, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev., 77, 112-143 (2013).
- Martín, J.-F. and Liras, P.: Engineering of regulatory cascades and networks controlling antibiotic biosynthesis in *Streptomyces*, Curr. Opin. Microbiol., 13, 263-273 (2010).
- van Wezel, G. P. and McDowall, K. J.: The regulation of the secondary metabolism of *Streptomyces*: new links and experimental advances, Nat. Prod. Rep., 28, 1311 (2011).
- Romero-Rodríguez, A., Robledo-Casados, I., and Sánchez, S.: An overview on transcriptional regulators in *Streptomyces*, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gene Regul. Mech., 1849, 1017-1039 (2015).
- Sun, L., Zeng, J., Cui, P., Wang, W., Yu, D., and Zhan, J.: Manipulation of two regulatory genes for efficient production of chromomycins in *Streptomyces reseiscleroticus*, J. Biol. Eng., 12, 9 (2018).

- 13. Fernández-Moreno, M. A., Caballero, J. L., Hopwood, D. A., and
  Malpartida, F.: The *act* cluster contains regulatory and antibiotic export genes,
  direct targets for translational control by the *bldA* tRNA gene of *Streptomyces*,
  Cell, 66, 769-780 (1991).
- Olano, C., Otten, S. L., and Hutchinson, C. R.: The *dnrO* gene encodes a DNA-binding protein that regulates daunorubicin production in *Streptomyces peucetius* by controlling expression of the *dnrN* pseudo response regulator gene, Microbiology, 146, 1457-1468 (2000).
- Cundliffe, E.: Control of tylosin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces fradiae*, J.
   Microbiol. Biotechnol., 18, 1485-1491 (2008).
- 16. He, W., Lei, J., Liu, Y., and Wang, Y.: The LuxR family members GdmRI and GdmRII are positive regulators of geldanamycin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* 17997, Arch. Microbiol., 189, 501-510 (2008).
- 17. Bunet, R., Mendes, M. V., Rouhier, N., Pang, X., Hotel, L., Leblond, P., and Aigle, B.: Regulation of the synthesis of the angucyclinone antibiotic alpomycin in *Streptomyces ambofaciens* by the autoregulator receptor AlpZ and its specific ligand, J. Bacteriol., **190**, 3293-3305 (2008).
- Guo, J., Zhang, X., Luo, S., He, F., Chen, Z., Wen, Y., and Li, J.: A novel TetR family transcriptional regulator, SAV576, negatively controls avermectin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces avermitilis*, PLoS One, 8, e71330 (2013).
- Mo, X., Wang, Z., Wang, B., Ma, J., Huang, H., Tian, X., Zhang, S., Zhang,
   C., and Ju, J.: Cloning and characterization of the biosynthetic gene cluster of

the bacterial RNA polymerase inhibitor tirandamycin from marine-derived *Streptomyces* sp. SCSIO1666, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., **406**, 341-347 (2011).

- 20. **Duong, C. T. P., Lee, H.-N., Choi, S.-S., Lee, S. Y., and Kim, E.-S.:** Functional expression of SAV3818, a putative TetR-family transcriptional regulatory gene from *Streptomyces avermitilis*, stimulates antibiotic production in *Streptomyces* species, J. Microbiol. Biotechnol., **19**, 136-139 (2009).
- Gomez, C., Olano, C., Mendez, C., and Salas, J. A.: Three pathway-specific regulators control streptolydigin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces lydicus*, Microbiology, 158, 2504-2514 (2012).
- 22. **Jiang, M., Yin, M., Wu, S., Han, X., Ji, K., Wen, M., and Lu, T.:** GdmRIII, a TetR family transcriptional regulator, controls geldanamycin and elaiophylin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces autolyticus* CGMCC0516, Sci. Rep., **7**, 4803 (2017).
- 23. Kim, W., Lee, J. J., Paik, S.-G., and Hong, Y.-S.: Identification of three positive regulators in the geldanamycin PKS gene cluster of *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* JCM4427, J. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 20, 1484-1490 (2010).
- Kuscer, E., Coates, N., Challis, I., Gregory, M., Wilkinson, B., Sheridan, R.,
  and Petković, H.: Roles of *rapH* and *rapG* in positive regulation of rapamycin
  biosynthesis in *Streptomyces hygroscopicus*, J. Bacteriol., 189, 4756-4763 (2007).
- 25. Sun, D., Zhu, J., Chen, Z., Li, J., and Wen, Y.: SAV742, a novel AraC family regulator from *Streptomyces avermitilis*, controls avermectin biosynthesis, cell growth and development, Sci. Rep., 6, 36915 (2016).

- 26. Yu, Q., Du, A., Liu, T., Deng, Z., and He, X.: The biosynthesis of the polyether antibiotic nanchangmycin is controlled by two pathway-specific transcriptional activators, Arch. Microbiol., **194**, 415-426 (2012).
- 27. Chu, M., Yarborough, R., Schwartz, J., Patel, M. G., Horan, A. C., Gullo, V.
  P., Das, P. R., and Puar, M. S.: Sch47554 and Sch47555, two novel antifungal antibiotics produced from a *Streptomyces* sp., J. Antibiot., 46, 861-865 (1993).
- Kharel, M. K., Pahari, P., Shepherd, M. D., Tibrewal, N., Nybo, S. E.,
   Shaaban, K. A., and Rohr, J.: Angucyclines: biosynthesis, mode-of-action, new natural products, and synthesis, Nat. Prod. Rep., 29, 264-325 (2012).
- Basnet, D. B., Oh, T. J., Vu, T. T., Sthapit, B., Liou, K., Lee, H. C., Yoo, J. C., and Sohng, J. K.: Angucyclines Sch47554 and Sch47555 from *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136: cloning, sequencing, and characterization, Mol. Cells, 22, 154-162 (2006).
- 30. Fidan, O., Yan, R., Gladstone, G., Zhou, T., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: New insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555, ChemBioChem, 19, 1424-1432 (2018).
- 31. Bilyk, O. and Luzhetskyy, A.: Metabolic engineering of natural product biosynthesis in actinobacteria, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 42, 98-107 (2016).
- Pickens, L. B., Tang, Y., and Chooi, Y. H.: Metabolic engineering for the production of natural products, Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng., 2, 211-236 (2011).

- 33. Chen, Y., Smanski, M. J., and Shen, B.: Improvement of secondary metabolite production in *Streptomyces* by manipulating pathway regulation, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 86, 19-25 (2010).
- 34. Lombo, F., Brana, A. F., Mendez, C., and Salas, J. A.: The mithramycin gene cluster of *Streptomyces argillaceus* contains a positive regulatory gene and two repeated DNA sequences that are located at both ends of the cluster, J. Bacteriol., 181, 642-647 (1999).
- Yu, Z., Smanski, M. J., Peterson, R. M., Marchillo, K., Andes, D., Rajski, S.
   R., and Shen, B.: Engineering of *Streptomyces platensis* MA7339 for overproduction of platencin and congeners, Org. Lett., 12, 1744-1747 (2010).
- 36. Bierman, M., Logan, R., O'Brien, K., Seno, E. T., Nagaraja Rao, R., and Schoner, B. E.: Plasmid cloning vectors for the conjugal transfer of DNA from *Escherichia coli* to *Streptomyces* spp., Gene, **116**, 43-49 (1992).
- 37. Sioud, S., Aigle, B., Karray-Rebai, I., Smaoui, S., Bejar, S., and Mellouli, L.: Integrative gene cloning and expression system for *Streptomyces* sp. US 24 and *Streptomyces* sp. TN 58 bioactive molecule producing strains, J. Biomed. Biotechnol., 2009, 464986 (2009).
- Joseph, S. and David, W. R.: Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed.
   Gold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY (2001).
- 39. **Kieser, T., Bibb, M., Buttner, M., Chater, K., and Hopwood, D.:** Practical *Streptomyces* genetics, John Innes Foundation, Norwich, UK (2000).
- 40. Ser, H.-L., Law, J. W.-F., Chaiyakunapruk, N., Jacob, S. A., Palanisamy, U.
  D., Chan, K.-G., Goh, B.-H., and Lee, L.-H.: Fermentation conditions that

affect clavulanic acid production in *Streptomyces clavuligerus*: a systematic review, Front. Microbiol., **7**, 522 (2016).

- 41. **Hopwood, D. A.:** *Streptomyces* in nature and medicine: the antibiotic makers, Oxford University Press, New York, NY (2007).
- 42. Pyeon, H.-r., Nah, H.-J., Kang, S.-H., Choi, S.-S., and Kim, E.-S.:
  Heterologous expression of pikromycin biosynthetic gene cluster using *Streptomyces* artificial chromosome system, Microb. Cell Fact., 16, 96 (2017).
- Rutledge, P. J. and Challis, G. L.: Discovery of microbial natural products by activation of silent biosynthetic gene clusters, Nat. Rev. Microbiol., 13, 509-523 (2015).
- Zhang, M. M., Wong, F. T., Wang, Y., Luo, S., Lim, Y. H., Heng, E., Yeo, W.
  L., Cobb, R. E., Enghiad, B., Ang, E. L., and Zhao, H.: CRISPR-Cas9 strategy for activation of silent *Streptomyces* biosynthetic gene clusters, Nat. Chem. Biol., 13, 607-609 (2017).
- 45. Fidan, O. and Zhan, J.: Reconstitution of medicinally important plant natural products in microorganisms, pp. 383-415, in: Kermode, A. R., and Jiang, L. (Eds), Molecular pharming: applications, challenges, and emerging areas. John Wiley and Sons Inc., Haboken, NJ (2018).
- Zhu, H., Sandiford, S. K., and van Wezel, G. P.: Triggers and cues that activate antibiotic production by actinomycetes, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 41, 371-386 (2014).

- 47. Marmann, A., Aly, A., Lin, W., Wang, B., and Proksch, P.: Co-Cultivation: a powerful emerging tool for enhancing the chemical diversity of microorganisms, Mar. Drugs, 12, 1043-1065 (2014).
- Le, T. B. K., Stevenson, C. E. M., Fiedler, H.-P., Maxwell, A., Lawson, D. M., and Buttner, M. J.: Structures of the TetR-like simocyclinone efflux pump repressor, SimR, and the mechanism of ligand-mediated derepression, J. Mol. Biol., 408, 40-56 (2011).
- Ostash, B., Ostash, I., Zhu, L., Kharel, M. K., Luzhetskii, A., Bechthold, A., Walker, S., Rohr, J., and Fedorenko, V.: Properties of lanK-based regulatory circuit involved in landomycin biosynthesis in *Streptomyces cyanogenus* S136, Genetika, 46, 604-609 (2010).
- Ostash, I., Ostash, B., Luzhetskyy, A., Bechthold, A., Walker, S., and Fedorenko, V.: Coordination of export and glycosylation of landomycins in *Streptomyces cyanogenus* S136, FEMS Microbiol. Lett., 285, 195-202 (2008).
- 51. **Kato, J. Y., Ohnishi, Y., and Horinouchi, S.:** Autorepression of AdpA of the AraC/XylS family, a key transcriptional activator in the A-factor regulatory cascade in *Streptomyces griseus*, J. Mol. Biol., **350**, 12-26 (2005).
- Cuthbertson, L. and Nodwell, J. R.: The TetR family of regulators, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev., 77, 440-475 (2013).
- Gallegos, M. T., Schleif, R., Bairoch, A., Hofmann, K., and Ramos, J. L.: Arac/XylS family of transcriptional regulators, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev., 61, 393-410 (1997).

- 54. **Guo, J., Zhang, X., Chen, Z., Wen, Y., and Li, J.:** Two adjacent and similar TetR family transcriptional regulator genes, SAV577 and SAV576, co-regulate avermectin production in *Streptomyces avermitilis*, PLoS One, **9**, e99224 (2014).
- 55. Xu, D., Seghezzi, N., Esnault, C., and Virolle, M.-J.: Repression of antibiotic production and sporulation in *Streptomyces coelicolor* by overexpression of a TetR family transcriptional regulator, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 76, 7741-7753 (2010).
- 56. Yoo, Y. J., Hwang, J.-y., Shin, H.-l., Cui, H., Lee, J., and Yoon, Y. J.: Characterization of negative regulatory genes for the biosynthesis of rapamycin in *Streptomyces rapamycinicus* and its application for improved production, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 42, 125-135 (2015).

## CHAPTER IV DISCOVERY AND ENGINEERING OF AN ENDOPHYTIC *PSEUDOMONAS* STRAIN FROM *TAXUS CHINENSIS* FOR EFFICIENT PRODUCTION OF ZEAXANTHIN DIGLUCOSIDE<sup>‡</sup>

### Abstract

Endophytic microorganisms are a rich source of bioactive natural products. They are considered as promising biofertilizers and biocontrol agents due to their growthpromoting interactions with the host plants and their bioactive secondary metabolites that can help manage the plant pathogens. In this study, I isolated an endophytic bacterium from the leaves of *Taxus chinensis*, which was identified as *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 based on the 16S rRNA gene sequence. Analysis of its secondary metabolites revealed that this endophytic strain produces zeaxanthin diglucoside as a major product, a promising antioxidant natural product that belongs to the family of carotenoids. A carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster was amplified from this strain, and the functions of PsCrtI and PsCrtY in the biosynthesis of zeaxanthin diglucoside were confirmed in *Escherichia coli* BL21(DE3). The entire *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster was successfully reconstituted in E. coli BL21(DE3) and Pseudomonas putida KT2440. The engineered strain of *P. putida* KT2440 produced zeaxanthin diglucoside at  $144 \pm 4$  mg/L in SOC medium supplemented with 0.5% glycerol at 23 °C, while the titer of zeaxanthin diglucoside in E. coli BL21(DE3) was only 2 mg/L. The production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 was improved through the optimization of

<sup>\*</sup> This chapter has been submitted to Journal of Biological Engineering for publication as **Fidan. O.,** Zhan, J.\*: Discovery and engineering of an endophytic *Pseudomonas* strain from *Taxus chinensis* for efficient production of zeaxanthin diglucoside. (2019).

fermentation conditions such as medium, cultivation temperature and cultivation time. The highest titer under the optimized conditions reached 206 mg/L. The engineered strain of *P. putida* KT2440 produced zeaxanthin diglucoside at 121 mg/L in SOC medium supplemented with 0.5% glycerol at 18 °C, while the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) was only 2 mg/L. To further enhance the production, I introduced an expression plasmid harboring the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster into *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. The titer in this engineered strain reached 380 mg/L, 85% higher than the wild type. Through PCR, I also discovered the presence of a turnerbactin biosynthetic gene cluster in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. Turnerbactin was reported to be involved in nitrogen fixation, suggesting that this endophytic strain might have a role of promoting growth of the host plant. Therefore, in addition to producing zeaxanthin diglucoside, *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 might also be utilized as a plant-promoting strain for agricultural applications.

### **INTRODUCTION**

Nature provides a huge repertoire of bioactive molecules from various living organisms. As such, natural products are a major source of new drugs. Microorganisms are known to produce many pharmaceuticals such as lovastatin (anti-cholesterol), penicillin (antibacterial) and vancomycin (antibacterial). There is an estimated more than 99 per cent of microbial species left undiscovered in the world (1). Therefore, microorganisms remain an underexplored source of bioactive natural products. In particular, endophytes hold a huge potential for the discovery of natural products with pharmaceutical importance (2). Endophytes, microorganisms (bacteria and fungi) that live in the tissues of living plants without causing any apparent disease symptoms in the host, are potential sources of novel natural products with applications in medicine, agriculture, and industry (3,4). They have been isolated from many important medicinal plants, weeds, and ornamental and fruit trees (2). Endophytes enter plants through the roots and the aerial portions of plants, such as leaves, flowers, stems and cotyledons (5). Upon entering the host, they reside within cells or the intercellular spaces or the vascular system (6). Some of the endophytes can exhibit plant growth-promoting effects and protect plants from biotic and abiotic stresses under different environmental conditions. Thus, they are considered as endosymbiotic microorganisms with potential agricultural applications such as biofertilizers and biocontrol agents (6-9).

Another important aspect is that the endophytes are known to produce a wide variety of natural products. For example, ecomycins produced by *Pseudomonas viridiflava*, are a family of novel lipopeptides and consist of some unusual amino acids including homoserine and  $\beta$ -hydroxy aspartic acid (10). Another example is pseudomycins, which represent a group of peptide antifungal compounds isolated from the plant-associated bacterium *Pseudomonas syringae* (11). New microbial species can sometimes lead to the rediscovery of known natural products as happened in the example of camptothecin, a potent antineoplastic agent. Camptothecin was originally isolated from the wood of *Camptotheca acuminate*. Interestingly, several endophytes such as *Entrophospora infrequens* and *Nodulisporium* sp. were reported to produce camptothecin (12), representing an alternative and potential mean for the production of this pharmaceutically important molecules.

Carotenoids are isoprenoid pigments that are seen throughout the nature. They are produced by all known phototrophic organism and some non-phototrophic fungi, bacteria

and archaea (13). Carotenoids exhibit diverse biological functions in different organisms that either produce or consume carotenoids. They serve as accessory pigments in the light harvesting center of phototrophic organisms (14). The primary roles of carotenoids in non-phototrophic organisms are membrane stability and the relief of oxidative stress (15). Additionally, carotenoids have been used in various applications, ranging from food colorants and feed supplements to nutritional and cosmetics purposes (16). This family of natural products has shown a variety of biological activities, such as antioxidant, anticancer, and anti-inflammatory properties. They are also used as precursors for the synthesis of vitamin A and as nutritional factors for the prevention of chronic diseases (17,18). Due to the negative impacts of synthetic coloring agents on human health (e.g., toxicity, hyperallergenicity, and carcinogenicity) and the increase in the consumer demand for natural and health-promoting food ingredients, the utilization of carotenoids as colorants and supplements is rising in the food, cosmetics, nutraceutical and pharmaceutical industries, with an expected global market value of \$1.8 billion in 2019 (19, 20).

Even though more than 750 different carotenoids were isolated from nature, all carotenoids share a linear, conjugated chromophore backbone and a common early biosynthetic pathway (Fig. 12). Carotenoid biosynthesis typically begins with the isomerization of isopenthyl diphosphate (IPP) from the mevalonate pathway to yield dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP), catalyzed by the IPP isomerase (Idi). Geranyl diphosphate (GPP) is synthesized through the head-to-tail condensation of IPP and DMAPP. Addition of IPP to GPP generates farnesyl pyrophosphate (FPP) formation and a further IPP molecule yields geranylgeranyl diphosphate (GGPP) by geranylgeranyl
diphosphate synthase (CrtE). Phytoene synthase (CrtB) catalyzes the head-to-head condensation of two GGPPs to phytoene. Phytoene desaturase (CrtI) extends the double bond conjugation of phytoene to yield lycopene. Terminal  $\beta$ -cyclization catalyzed by lycopene  $\beta$ -cyclase (CrtY) results in the formation of  $\beta$ -carotene, which is subsequently hydroxylated by  $\beta$ -carotene hydroxylase (CrtZ), yielding zeaxanthin. Zeaxanthin can be further modified by different tailoring enzymes to yield a variety of carotenoids. For example, it can be glycosylated by a glycosyltransferase (CrtX) to generate zeaxanthin diglucoside (21-24).

In this study, my primary goal was to isolate an endophytic bacterium with the purpose of discovering new natural products and/or finding a new effective mean to produce known natural products. I isolated an endophytic Pseudomonas strain, named *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, from the leaves of the yew tree. This bacterium was found to produce zeaxanthin diglucoside as the major product, and a complete carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster was discovered in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. Two biosynthetic genes from this gene cluster, *PscrtI and PscrtY*, were functionally characterized. The entire carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster was amplified from the endophytic strain and successfully expressed in two heterologous hosts, E. coli BL21 (DE3) and *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440. Additionally, the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 was significantly improved by optimizing the fermentation conditions, with a titer of  $206 \pm 6$  mg/L. Furthermore, when a plasmid harboring the entire Pscrt gene cluster was introduced into Pseudomonas sp. 102515, the titer of zeaxanthin diglucoside reached  $380 \pm 12 \text{ mg/L}$ , 85% higher than the wild type strain. This engineered strain represents a promising host for the production of zeaxanthin

diglucoside.



FIG. 12. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of zeaxanthin diglucoside in

*Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. The involved enzymes include isopentenyl-diphosphate deltaisomerase (PsIdi), geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate synthetase (PsCrtE), phytoene synthase (PsCrtB), lycopene synthase (PSCrtI), lycopene cyclase (PsCrtY), β-carotene hydroxylase (PsCrtZ), and zeaxanthin glucosyltransferase (PsCrtX).

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## **Bacterial strains, media and culture conditions**

*E. coli* XL1-Blue, which was routinely grown in LB (Luria-Bertani) medium at 37 °C, was used for general genetic manipulations. *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 was grown in LB overnight for genomic DNA (gDNA) extraction. LB, SOB, SOC,  $2 \times YT$ , TB,  $2 \times TB$  and superbroth media (Recipes for media are in Table D1) were tested for the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside by *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. *E. coli* BL21(DE3) and *P. putida* KT2440 were utilized for heterologous expression and co-expression studies. All wild type and engineered bacterial strains are listed in Table 4. Chloramphenicol ( $25 \mu g/mL$ ), ampicillin ( $50 \mu g/mL$ ) and kanamycin ( $50 \text{ and } 30 \mu g/mL$ ) were supplemented when appropriate. The concentrations of kanamycin for engineered *E. coli* and *Pseudomonas* strains are 50 and 30  $\mu g/mL$ , respectively.

### Isolation of endophytic bacteria from Taxus chinensis

The leaves were collected from a cultivated shrub of *T. chinensis* on the Logan campus of Utah State University (Latitude: 41.7424, Longitude: -111.8080). A voucher specimen is deposited at the Intermountain herbarium, accession number UTC00282046. The collected leaves were thoroughly washed in running water. The disinfection and isolation were performed according to de Oliveira Costa et al. with minor modifications (25). Briefly, the leaves were disinfected superficially through dipping into 70% ethanol

for 2 minutes three times, followed by rinsing with 70% ethanol three times. Then, the leaves were dipped into sterile distilled water for a few minutes and rinsed with sterile distilled water. This process was repeated three times. To confirm the disinfection protocol, aliquots of the sterile water used in the final rinse were plated in LB plates at 28 °C for 7 days and the plates were examined for the presence or absence of any microbial colonies.

The disinfected leaves were grounded with 6 mL of an aqueous NaCl solution (0.85 %) using a sterile mortar and pestle. The tissue extract was subsequently incubated at 28 °C for 3 hours to allow the complete release of endophytic microorganisms from the host tissue. For the isolation of endophytic bacteria, the tissue extract was diluted with the NaCl solution and plated on LB plates with different dilutions. The plates were incubated at 28 °C for around a week. Promising colonies were selected and streaked on fresh LB plates for the isolated bacteria.

Strain	Description	Source
E. coli XL1-Blue	endA1 gyrA96(nal <sup>R</sup> ) thi-1 recA1 relA1 lac glnV44 F'[ ::Tn10 proAB <sup>+</sup> lacI <sup>q</sup> $\Delta$ (lacZ)M15] hsdR17(r <sub>K</sub> <sup>-</sup> m <sub>K</sub> <sup>+</sup> )	Agilent Technologies
E. coli BL21(DE3)	$BF^{-}$ ompT gal dcm lon hsd $S_B(r_B^{-}m_B^{-})$ $\lambda$ (DE3 [lacI lacUV5- T7p07 ind1 sam7 nin5]) [malB <sup>+</sup> ] <sub>K-12</sub> ( $\lambda^{S}$ )	Novagen
Pseudomonas sp. 102515	Isolated endophytic strain from <i>Taxus</i> chinensis	This study
Pseudomonas putida KT2440	Heterologous host for expression of the <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster	(81)

TABLE 4 Strains used in Chapter 4.

<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3)/ pAC-PHYTipi	<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) expressing the phytoene biosynthetic genes from pAC-PHYTipi (phytoene producing)	This study
<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3)/ pAC-PHYTipi+pOKF89	<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) expressing the phytoene biosynthetic genes from pAC-PHYTipi with <i>PscrtI</i> (lycopene producing)	This study
<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3)/ pAC-LYCipi	<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) expressing the lycopene biosynthetic genes from pAC-LYCipi (lycopene producing)	This study
<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3)/ pAC-LYCipi+pOKF91	<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) expressing the lycopene biosynthetic genes from pAC- LYCipi with <i>PscrtY</i> (β-carotene producing)	This study
<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3)/ pAC-BETAipi	<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) expressing the β- carotene biosynthetic genes from pAC- BETAipi (β-carotene producing)	This study
<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3)/ pAC-ZEAXipi+pOKF72	<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) expressing the β- carotene biosynthetic genes from pAC- ZEAXipi with CrtX (zeaxanthin diglucoside producing)	This study
<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3)/ pAC-EHER	<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) expressing the zeaxanthin diglucoside biosynthetic genes from pAC-EHER (zeaxanthin diglucoside producing)	This study
<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3)/pOKF184	<i>E. coli</i> BL21(DE3) expressing the <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster from <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515	This study
<i>Pseudomonas putida</i> KT2440/pOKF192	<i>Pseudomonas putida</i> KT2440 expressing the <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster from <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515	This study
<i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515/pOKF192	Engineered <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515 strain with an additional <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster in pMIS1-mva	This study

### General genetic manipulation and PCR

Standard molecular biology protocols were performed as previously described (26). Genomic DNA of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 was extracted with a ZR Fungal/Bacterial DNA Miniprep Kit (Irvine, CA, USA). Plasmid DNA extraction from *E. coli* cells was performed using a Thermo Scientific GeneJET Plasmid Miniprep Kit (Logan, UT, USA). PCR reactions were performed with an Arktik<sup>™</sup> Thermal Cycler (Thermo Scientific) using Phusion DNA polymerase (Thermo Scientific, Logan, UT, USA). Primers were ordered from Thermo Scientific and dissolved in TE buffer to the final concentration of 100 ng/mL.

## Identification and phylogenetic analysis of endophytic bacterium

The partial 16S rRNA gene fragment was PCR amplified from the gDNA of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 using the 16S universal primers of

GGCTACCTTGTTACGACTTC and AGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG (27). The PCR product was sent out for sequencing by Sanger's method. The 16S rRNA gene sequence was deposited into NCBI Genbank database under the accession number of MK610450 (Sequence D1). BLAST analysis of this 16S rDNA sequence was performed using the 16S ribosomal RNA sequences database on NCBI. Using the 16S rRNA sequences of relative bacteria to our isolated endophytic bacterium from BLAST analysis, I created phylogenetic tree by the neighbor-joining method using an online platform (https://itol.embl.de/) (28). Both BLASTn analysis and phylogenetic tree indicated the bacterial strains closely related to our strain. For physiological characteristics, scanning electron microscopy images were taken after performing the fixation of sample (29).

#### Amplification and annotation of the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster

The colonies of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 on LB agar plates showed a yellow color. LC-MS analysis of the methanol extract of the cells confirmed that zeaxanthin diglucoside was produced. To discover the carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, I first analyzed the genome of *Pseudomonas psychrotolerans* (GenBank accession number: NZ\_CP018758), which is the closest relative of our strain based on the phylogenetic analysis. I used an online genome analysis platform, AntiSMASH, and found a complete *crt* biosynthetic gene cluster in *P. psychrotolerans* responsible for the biosynthesis of zeaxanthin diglucoside. I designed two sets of primers (primers 3-6, Table D2) based on the DNA sequence of this *crt* gene cluster. Briefly, the whole *Pscrt* gene cluster was divided into two fragments, which were PCR amplified from the gDNA of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 using the primers (primers 3 and 4 for fragment A, and primers 5 and 6 for fragment B) listed in Table D2. Fragments A and B were first ligated into pJET1.2, yielding pOKF163 and pOKF166 (Table 5), respectively. These two plasmids were sent out for DNA sequencing to obtain the whole DNA sequence of the *Pscrt* gene cluster using the walking primers (primes 7-16) listed in Table D2. The whole DNA sequence of *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster from *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 was deposited into GenBank under the accession number of MK613929 (Sequence D2).

## Construction of plasmids for functional characterization of PsCrtI and PsCrtY

I first constructed a pET28a(+)-based expression plasmid for the carotenoid

biosynthetic genes in *E. coli. crtX* (glycosyltransferase) was PCR amplified using the primers 17 and 18 (Table D2) from pAC-EHER, which was a gift from Francis X Cunningham Jr (Addgene plasmid # 53262). PCR product was directly ligated into the cloning vector, pJET1.2, yielding pOKF55 (Table 5), which was sent out for DNA sequencing using Sanger's method (Eton Bioscience, San Diego, CA, USA). *crtX* was excised with NcoI and HindIII from pOKF55 and ligated into pET28a(+) between the same sites to yield pOKF63 (Table 5). pOKF63 and pAC-ZEAXipi (Addgene plasmid # 53287) were introduced into *E. coli* BL21(DE3) for co-expression. The engineered strain was grown in LB medium with 50 μg/mL kanamycin and 25 μg/mL chloramphenicol, and induced with 200 μM of IPTG for product analysis.

To replace the T7 promoter in pET28a(+) with a strong constitutive promoter, J23119, I redesigned the forward primer for *crtX* by including the J23119 promoter and B0034 ribosome binding site before the start codon (Table D2). I re-amplified *crtX* with J23119 and B0034 from pAC-EHER using this new forward primer and previous reverse primer (primers 19 and 20). The new PCR product was ligated into pJET1.2 (pOKF69, Table 5) and the sequence was confirmed by sequencing. Subsequently, *crtX* with J23119 and B0034 was excised from pOKF69 using BgIII and HindIII, and then ligated into pET28a(+) between the same sites to yield pOKF72 (Table 5). The coexpression of pOKF72 and pAC-ZEAXipi (Addgene plasmid # 53287) in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) did produce zeaxanthin diglucoside, which was confirmed by HPLC through the comparison of retention time and UV-spectra with *E. coli* BL2(DE3) harboring pAC-EHER. *Pscrt1* and *PscrtY* were PCR amplified from the genomic DNA of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 using the primers (primers 21 and 22 for *Pscrt1*, and primers 23 and 24 for *PscrtY*) listed in Table D2 and were subsequently ligated into pJET1.2 to yield pOKF85 and pOKF88 (Table 5), respectively. Upon confirmation of sequences by Sanger's method, *Pscrt1* and *PscrtY* were transferred into pET28a(+) with J23119 and B0034 using NdeI and HindIII sites to yield pOKF89 and pOKF91 (Table 5), respectively. PsCrtI (pOKF89) and PsCrtY (pOKF91) were separately co-expressed with pAC-PHYTipi (Addgene plasmid #: 53283) and pAC-LYCipi (Addgene plasmid #: 53279) in *E. coli* BL21(DE3), respectively.

Plasmid	Description	Source
pJET1.2	Cloning vector	Fermentas
pET28a(+)	E. coli expression plasmid, pBR322	Novagen
pACYC184	E. coli expression plasmid, p15A	ATCC 37033
рАС-РНҮТірі	Phytoene producing plasmid	Addgene plasmid #: 53283
pAC-LYCipi	Lycopene producing plasmid	Addgene plasmid #: 53279
pAC-BETAipi	β-carotene producing plasmid	Addgene plasmid #: 53277
pAC-ZEAXipi	Zeaxanthin producing plasmid	Addgene plasmid # 53287
pAC-EHER	Zeaxanthin diglucoside producing plasmid	Addgene plasmid #: 53262
pMIS1-mva	Expression plasmid for <i>Pseudomonas putida</i> KT2440 that contains the mevalonic acid (MVA) pathway genes	(78)
pOKF55	<i>crtX</i> gene cloned from pAC-EHER in pJET1.2	This study

TABLE 5 Plasmids used in Chapter 4.

pOKF63	<i>crtX</i> gene from pOKF55 in pET28a(+)	This study
pOKF69	<i>crtX</i> gene with the J23119 constitutive promoter and B0034 ribosome binding site in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF72	<i>crtX</i> gene with the J23119 constitutive promoter and B0034 ribosome binding site in pET28a(+)	This study
pOKF85	<i>Pscrt1</i> gene cloned from <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515 in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF88	<i>PscrtY</i> gene cloned from <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515 in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF89	<i>Pscrt1</i> gene with the J23119 constitutive promoter and B0034 ribosome binding site in pET28a(+)	This study
pOKF91	<i>PscrtY</i> gene with the J23119 constitutive promoter and B0034 ribosome binding site in pET28a(+)	This study
pOKF163	The <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster fragment A in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF166	The <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster fragment B in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF169	The <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF173	The <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster in pET28a(+)	This study
pOKF184	The <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster in pACYC184	This study
pOKF187	<i>tnbA</i> gene cloned from <i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. 102515 in pJET1.2	This study
pOKF192	The <i>Pscrt</i> biosynthetic gene cluster in pMIS1- mva	This study

## Heterologous expression of the *Pscrt* gene cluster from *Pseudomonas* sp.

## 102515 in E. coli BL21(DE3) and P. putida KT2440

For the heterologous expression of the *Pscrt* gene cluster from the endophytic

strain, I first excised fragment A from pOKF163 using NheI and MfeI and ligated it into pOKF166 that contains fragment B between the same sites to yield pOKF169 (Table 5), which harbors the entire *Pscrt* gene cluster in pJET1.2. Due to a high copy number of pJET1.2, I then ligated the *Pscrt* gene cluster excised from pOKF169 using the SpeI and HindIII sites into pET28a(+) digested with NheI and HindIII (pOKF173, Table 5). Since pET28a(+) has a relatively higher copy number, I decided to also ligate the *Pscrt* gene cluster from pOKF169 into pACYC184 between the XbaI and HindIII sites to yield pOKF184 (Table 5). The corresponding expression plasmids including pOKF173 and 184, were transferred into *E. coli* BL21(DE3) for heterologous expression of the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster.

I also constructed an expression plasmid for expression of the *Pscrt* gene cluster in *P. putida* KT2440. The pMIS1-MVA-GES plasmid was generously provided by Jens Schrader and Josef Altenbuchner at Dechema-Forschungsinstitut and University of Stuttgart, respectively (78). The whole *Pscrt* gene cluster was excised from pOKF169 using the SpeI and PmeI sites and ligated into the pMIS1-MVA-GES plasmid digested with AvrII and PmeI to yield pOKF192 (Table 5). pOKF192 was introduced into *P. putida* KT2440 by electroporation as described in the literature (30). Briefly, *P. putida* KT2440 was grown until the OD<sub>600</sub> reached 0.4 at 28 °C. The cells were immediately placed on ice and harvested by centrifugation. Then, the cells were washed three times with 300 mM sterile sucrose solution and re-suspended in 100  $\mu$ L of 300 mM sucrose solution. The cells were mixed with pOKF192 and the mixture was transferred into a prechilled electroporation cuvette. After 10 min of incubation on ice, the following settings were used for electroporation: set voltage - 2.5 kV (12.5 kV/cm); capacitor - 25  $\mu$ F. After electroporation, 900  $\mu$ L of LB broth was immediately added to the cuvette. The mixture was then transferred into a culture tube, which was incubated at 28 °C with shaking (250 rpm) for 2 h. Finally, the cells were plated on LB agar plates with 30  $\mu$ g/mL kanamycin and incubated at 28 °C. The transformants were picked and grown in LB with kanamycin for product analysis. The same electroporation protocol was followed to introduce pOKF192 into *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515.

# Discovery of a turnerbactin biosynthetic gene cluster in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 by PCR

To find out whether *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 contains a turnerbactin biosynthetic gene cluster, the *tnbA* gene was cloned from the genomic DNA of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 using primers 25 and 26 listed in Table D2. The PCR product was ligated into the pJET1.2 cloning vector to yield pOKF187 (Table 5), which was subsequently sent out for sequencing (Sequence D3).

## Optimization of carotenoid production and extraction and HPLC-MS analysis of zeaxanthin diglucoside

For *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, different culture media were tested to increase the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside. Upon the determination of a suitable medium, I investigated the effect of glycerol supplementation as an additional carbon source. Cultivation time and temperature were also tested for an improved production of carotenoids. I also analyzed the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside in heterologous expression systems.

The wild type and engineered strains were typically cultured in 250-mL flasks containing 50 mL of medium. The cultures were centrifuged at 3,500 rpm for 8 min to harvest the cells and the cell pellets were suspended in 50 mL of methanol. The cell suspension in methanol was sonicated for 5 min to extract carotenoids. After centrifugation at 3,500 rpm for 8 min, the resulting extract was dried *in vacuo*, and the residues were redissolved in a DMSO-methanol mixture (10% v/v) for HPLC-MS analysis with a gradient mobile phase of acetonitrile-water from 50 % to 90 % over 45 min at 1 mL/min. Low-resolution ESI-MS spectra were obtained on an Agilent 6130 LC-MS to confirm the molecular weights of carotenoids. For co-expression experiments, I used a different HPLC condition for better separation of phytoene, lycopene and  $\beta$ -carotene. For this HPLC method, I used an isocratic elution system of methanol-tetrahydrofuran (6/4, v/v) over 45 min at 1 mL/min.

Zeaxanthin diglucoside was subsequently purified by HPLC with an Agilent Eclipse XDB-C18 column (5  $\mu$ m, 250 mm × 4.6 mm) for the standard curve preparation. The standard curve was prepared with methanol as the solvent using UV spectrophotometer at 456 nm to calculate the yields in the optimization experiments. All crude extracts before drying *in vacuo* were directly measured using spectrophotometer to calculate the yield values. All samples were done in three replicates.

### RESULTS

## Identification and phylogenetic analysis of endophytic bacteria

I isolated an endophytic bacterium from the leaves of *Taxus chinensis*, whose colonies showed a bright yellow color. To identify this strain, I amplified the 16S rRNA

gene fragment by PCR using a set of universal primers. The gene sequence of this fragment was subjected to BLAST analysis, with the 16S ribosomal RNA sequences (bacteria and archaea) as the reference database. The BLASTn analysis revealed that there are three Pseudomonas strains with 99 % identity and coverage. Some other Pseudomonas strains (P. stutzeri, P. indoloxydans, P. luteola, etc.) also have 99 % coverage but are 96 % identical to our endophytic isolate. Using an online platform (https://itol.embl.de/), I constructed a phylogenetic tree using the neighbor-joining method (Fig. 13A). The phylogenetic tree indicated that *P. psychrotolerans* is the closest relative to our isolate. P. oryzihabitans and P. oleovorans are also closely related to this endophytic strain. I also looked into the physiology of our isolate under SEM (Fig. 13B) and confirmed that it is a rod-shaped bacterium. Additionally, it is a non-spore-forming and a yellow-pigment-producing bacterium. The closest relative bacterium, P. psychrotolerans, was also reported as a yellow-pigmented bacterium (31). All these physiological characteristics and genetic analysis (phylogenetic relationships) indicated that our isolate is a *Pseudomonas* strain, which was named as *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515.



FIG. 13. Identification of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. (A) A phylogenetic tree constructed based on the 16S rRNA sequences of *Pseudomonas* strains from BLASTn analysis. It estimates the relationship between strain 102515 and other *Pseudomonas* strains that shared the highest 16S rRNA gene sequence similarities. Sequences of reference species were obtained from GenBank. *P. luteola* (NR\_114215), *P. asuensis* (NR\_136445), *P. duriflava* (NR\_044390), *P. benzenivorans* (NR\_116904), *P.stutzeri* (NR\_041715), *P. songnenensis* (NR\_148295), *P. alcaligenes* (NR\_113646), *P. otitidis* (NR\_043289), *P. aeruginosa* (NR\_117678), *P. alcaliphila* (NR\_114072), *P. toyotomiensis* (NR\_112808), *P. chengduensis* (NR\_125523), *P.oleovorans* (NR\_043423),

*P. oryzihabitans* (NR\_114041), *P. psychrotolerans* (NR\_042191.1). (B) SEM electron micrograph of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. The bacterium was fixed with 2 % glutaraldehyde in 0.1 % HEPES buffer overnight. The samples were subjected to alcohol series dehydration (50-100 % ethanol) and then chemically dried using hexamethyldisilazane.

## Amplification and analysis of a zeaxanthin diglucoside biosynthetic gene cluster from *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515

As described above, P. psychrotolerans is the closest relative strain to *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. The genome of this strain is available at NCBI under the accession number, NZ\_CP018758. I analyzed the genome of *P. psychrotolerans* with the help of AntiSMASH online genome analysis platform. Four biosynthetic gene clusters were identified. The first one is a nonribosomal peptide synthetase (NRPS)-type gene cluster with a 50 % similarity to the known taiwachelin biosynthetic gene cluster. Even though this gene cluster was identified as a NRPS type gene cluster, it includes the turnerbactin (*tnb*) biosynthetic gene cluster. Turnerbactin was reported to have an important role in the plant-microbe interactions (32). In order to find out whether a tnb gene cluster is present in Pseudomonas sp. 102515, I amplified the tnbA gene from its genomic DNA using a pair of primers designed based on the genome of P. psychrotolerans. The sequence of tnbA was provided in the supplementary information (Sequence D3). The second gene cluster is an arylpolyene (APE)-type biosynthetic gene cluster from which 40% of genes show similarity to the genes from the characterized APE biosynthetic gene cluster. APE gene clusters are widely distributed in gram-negative bacteria, including *Pseudomonas* strains (33). In addition to a siderophore biosynthetic gene cluster, genome analysis revealed that *P. psychrotolerans* has a carotenoid (*crt*) biosynthetic gene cluster. The genes from this *crt* gene cluster is similar to those found in the *crt* gene cluster from *Pantoea agglomerans*. It contains *crtE*, *idi*, *crtX*, *crtY*, *crtI*, *crtB* and *crtZ* genes (34).



FIG. 14. Production of zeaxanthin diglucoside by *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. (A) HPLC analysis (460 nm) of zeaxanthin diglucoside by *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. (i) *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515; (ii) *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-EHER. (B) Comparison of the UV spectra of the major product of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 and *E. coli* 

BL21(DE3)/pAC-EHER. (C) ESI-MS(-) spectrum of the major product of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515.

To find out what yellow compound *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 produced, I extracted the cells with methanol/chloroform (2:1, v/v) and analyzed the products by LC-MS. The extract of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 showed a major peak at 18.2 min (Fig. 14A). Based on its UV and MS spectra (Figs. 14B and 14C), this compound was characterized as zeaxanthin diglucoside. Furthermore, this peak has the same retention time and UV spectrum as zeaxanthin diglucoside produced by *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-EHER (35). Therefore, I confirmed that the yellow pigment from this endophyte is zeaxanthin diglucoside.

TABLE 6 List of genes from the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster in *Pseudomonas*sp. 102515.

Gene	Size (aa)	Function
orfl	314	YegS-like lipid kinase
<i>PscrtZ</i>	174	Beta-carotene hydroxylase
orf2	176	Gluconate 2-dehydrogenase subunit
<b>PscrtB</b>	311	15-cis-phytoene synthase
PscrtI	500	Phytoene desaturase
PscrtY	397	Lycopene cyclase
PscrtX	431	Zeaxanthin glycosyltransferase
Psidi	349	Isopentenyl-diphospahte delta-isomerase
PscrtE	293	Geranylgeranyl diphosphate synthase

Based on the sequence of the *crt* gene cluster in *P. psychrotolerans*, I designed two sets of primers and successfully amplified a carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster from *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. The open reading frames (ORFs) in this gene

cluster were analyzed and annotated (Table 6), and based on the predicted functions of these genes, I propose that this gene cluster is responsible for the biosynthesis of zeaxanthin diglucoside.

## Functional analysis of two carotenoid biosynthetic genes from the isolated strain

To confirm the functions of the carotenoid biosynthetic genes from *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, it is necessary to develop an effective expression system for carotenoid biosynthetic enzymes in *E. coli*. I first ligated the *crtX* (zeaxanthin glucosyltransferase) gene from pAC-EHER into pET28a(+) to yield pOKF63. However, co-expression of pOKF63 and zeaxanthin-producing pAC-ZEAXipi in E. coli BL21(DE3) did not produce zeaxanthin diglucoside upon induction with 200 µM of IPTG. I next replaced the T7 promoter in pET28a(+) with a strong constitutive promoter J23119 and the B0034 ribosome binding site (pOKF72). The coexpression of pOKF72 and pAC-ZEAXipi in E. *coli* BL21(DE3) did produce zeaxanthin diglucoside, which was confirmed by HPLC through the comparison of retention time and UV spectra of the authentic sample obtained from E. coli BL21(DE3) harboring pAC-EHER (data not shown). I next used this system to test the functions of two selected biosynthetic genes in the Pscrt gene cluster. PsCrtI and PsCrtY were chosen as their functions can be easily observed by the color change in the products. Co-expression of the phytoene-producing plasmid pAC-PHYTipi with PsCrtI in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) led to the production of lycopene. I observed the color change from colorless cell pellets (E. coli BL21(DE3)/pAC-PHYTipi) to red cell pellets as seen in Fig. 15A, indicating that a red compound was produced. For further confirmation, I compared the extract of this engineered strain with those of the negative (pAC-PHYTipi) and positive (pAC-LYCipi) controls by HPLC (Fig. 15A), which clearly revealed that lycopene was formed. This was supported by the UV spectra (Fig. 15B). This result confirmed that PsCrtI is a phytoene desaturase that converts phytoene to lycopene (Fig. 12). Similarly, I also confirmed the function of PsCrtY as a lycopene cyclase in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) by co-expression pAC-LYCipi with PsCrtY. I observed the color change from red to yellow due to the conversion of lycopene into  $\beta$ -carotene by PsCrtY (Fig. 16A). Production of  $\beta$ -carotene was further confirmed by its retention (Fig. 16A) time and UV spectrum (Fig. 16B).



FIG. 15. Functional identification of PsCrtI as a phytoene desaturase. (A) HPLC analysis of lycopene production through co-expression of PsCrtI with the phytoene biosynthetic enzymes. (i) *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-PHYTipi (negative control) producing phytoene (retention time: 17.5 min, 280 nm), (ii) *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-PHYTipi+pOKF89 (pAC-PHYTipi+PsCrtI) producing lycopene (retention time: 14.8 min, 460 nm), (iii) *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-LYCipi (positive control) producing lycopene (retention time: 14.8 min, 460 nm). Color change of harvested cells due to the

co-expression of PsCrtI with pAC-PHYTipi in *E. coli* BL21(DE3). (B) A comparison of the UV spectra of lycopene produced by *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-PHYTipi+pOKF89 with lycopene produced by the positive control and phytoene produced by the negative control.



FIG. 16. Functional identification of PsCrtY as a lycopene cyclase. (A) HPLC analysis (460 nm) of β-carotene production through co-expression of PsCrtY with the lycopene biosynthetic enzymes. (i) *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-LYCipi (negative control) producing lycopene (retention time: 14.8 min), (ii) *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-LYCipi+pOKF91 (pAC-LYCipi+PsCrtY) producing β-carotene (retention time: 13.3 min), (iii) *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-BETAipi (positive control) producing β-carotene (retention time: 13.3 min). Color change of harvested cells due to the co-expression of PsCrtY with pAC-LYCipi in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) is shown on the right. (B) A comparison of the UV spectra of β-carotene produced by *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pAC-LYCipi+pOKF91 with β-carotene produced by the positive control and lycopene produced by the negative control.

## Heterologous expression of the *Pscrt* gene cluster in *E.coli* BL21(DE3) and *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440

Identification of PsCrtI and PsCrtY further suggested that this gene cluster is responsible for the biosynthesis of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. Instead of characterizing each of the remaining genes in this gene cluster, I attempted to express the entire gene cluster in a heterologous host. I first transferred the whole Pscrt gene cluster into the pET28a(+) expression vector. Heterologous expression of the whole *Pscrt* gene cluster using the pET28a(+) expression system did not produce detectable amounts of zeaxanthin diglucoside. Then, I cloned the *Pscrt* gene cluster into a pACYC184 based expression system that has been previously used for the heterologous production of carotenoids in E. coli (35). Expression of the Pscrt gene cluster in E. coli BL21(DE3) led to the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside (Fig. 17), which confirmed that this gene cluster is indeed responsible for the biosynthesis of this glycosylated carotenoid. However, the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside was very low in E. coli BL21(DE3) as the cells only showed a slight yellow color. I figured that *P. putida* KT2440 might be a better host since it belongs to the genus of *Pseudomonas*. To this end, I cloned the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster into the pMIS1-mva vector, and expressed the resulting plasmid (pOKF192) in *P. putida* KT2440. Expression of this plasmid in *P. putida* KT2440 was deemed successful by observing the bright yellow color of the cells, and the formation of zeaxanthin diglucoside was verified by HPLC analysis (Fig. 17).



FIG. 17. Heterologous reconstitution of the zeaxanthin diglucoside biosynthetic pathway in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) and *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440. Shown are HPLC traces (460 nm) of the extracts of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 (i), *E. coli* BL21(DE3)/pOKF184 (ii), and *P. putida* KT2440/pOKF192 (iii).

## Enhanced production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in Pseudomonas sp. 102515

For yield optimization studies, I used a UV spectrophotometer to measure the amount of zeaxanthin diglucoside in the extracts at 456 nm, which is the maximum wavelength for zeaxanthin diglucoside as applied in the literature (36). Using the standard curve prepared with purified zeaxanthin diglucoside (Fig. D1), I calculated the yields from the crude extracts of each sample. Seven different media with 3 replicates were tested for the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside by *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 in culture tubes. The LB, SOC and superbroth media showed better yields compared to the other media (Fig. D2). I then tried the LB, SOC and superbroth media in 50-mL flasks, resulting in a further improved production of zeaxanthin diglucoside. As shown in Fig. 18A, SOC exhibited a relatively better yield ( $98 \pm 7 \text{ mg/L}$ ).

Glycerol was reported to enhance the yield of carotenoids (37). I thus tested the effects of glycerol on the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in flasks at different concentrations (0.5%, 1%) and 2% final concentration). The supplementation of 0.5%glycerol (final concentration) into the SOC medium increased the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside to  $127 \pm 1.5$  mg/ L after 3 days at 28 °C, representing a 30 % increase in the yield (Fig. 18B). I next tested how the cultivation time and temperature (18 °C, 23 °C, 28 °C and 37 °C) affect the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside in the SOC medium supplemented with 0.5% glycerol. The cultivation temperature of 37 °C resulted in extremely low yields (data not shown). Among the tested temperatures, 18 °C worked best and showed a yield of  $206 \pm 6$  mg/L in the SOC medium after 5 days of cultivation (Fig. 18C). Under these conditions, I also tested the yields of zeaxanthin diglucoside in the engineered strains of E. coli BL21(DE3) and P. putida KT2440. Consistent with the cell colors, E. coli BL21(DE3) only produced 2 mg/L zeaxanthin diglucoside, while P. *putida* KT2440/pOKF192 generated the product in a much higher yield ( $121 \pm 6 \text{ mg/L}$ ). However, since this yield is still lower than the wild type (206 mg/L), the latter is a better starting strain for further improvements. I successfully engineered Pseudomonas sp. 102515 by introducing pOKF192 into this strain, which allows this endophyte to have another copy of the Pscrt gene cluster. Expression of this plasmid further improved the



yield to  $380 \pm 12$  mg/L after 5 days of incubation at 18 °C (Figs. 18C and 18D).



FIG. 18. Optimization of zeaxanthin diglucoside production in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. (A) The effect of culture media on the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside. (B) The effect of glycerol supplementation on the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside. (C) The effects of cultivation temperature and time on the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside by *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 and *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515/pOKFF192. Cells were grown in 50 ml of SOC medium supplemented with 0.5% glycerol. (D) A comparison of the production yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside by *Pseudomonas* sp.

102515 and three engineered strains.

## DISCUSSION

Carotenoids with a huge market value play a significant role in maintaining good health and preventing human diseases including cardiovascular diseases, cancer and other chronic diseases due to their significant biological activities (38). Carotenoids are considered to protect cells from the damaging effects of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which are formed by normal metabolic activities and lifestyle factors such as diet, smoking and exercise. Carotenoids might potentially diminish the destructive effects of ROS such as superoxide  $(O_2^{-})$ , hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$ , singlet oxygen  $({}^1O_2)$  and hydroxyl radical (OH) (39,40). In specific,  ${}^{1}O_{2}$  as a product in both biochemical and photochemical systems is reported to be responsible for the cell destruction caused by light and certain photosensitizers. The number of conjugated double bands in the carotenoids is a significant factor for the  ${}^{1}O_{2}$  quenching activity (41,42). Carotenoids such as lycopene, lutein,  $\beta$ -carotene, astaxanthin, and zeaxanthin are quite common in nature, however, glycosylated carotenoids such as dihydroxylycopene diglucoside, adonixanthin diglucoside and zeaxanthin diglucoside are very rare (43-46). Particularly, glycosylated carotenoids can be a potent antioxidant agent with protective properties against photooxidative damages from ROS and visible light (47,48). For instance, a novel glycosylated carotenoid, caloxanthin 3'- $\beta$ -D-glucoside, was reported to have a potent  ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quenching activity with an IC<sub>50</sub> of 19  $\mu$ M (49). Moreover, Tatsuzawa et al. reported that the viability of zeaxanthin diglucoside producing E. coli cells is higher in an  ${}^{1}O_{2}$ 

generation mixture compared to the cells that produce other carotenoids such as zeaxanthin, astaxanthin,  $\beta$ -carotene, and canthaxanthin (40). Glycosylated carotenoids are also reported to stabilize the membrane through integrating within the lipid membrane due to their polar functional groups (47,50).

In this study, I isolated an endophytic bacterium *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 from the leaves of *Taxus chinensis*, which was found to produce zeaxanthin diglucoside as a major metabolite. BLAST and phylogenetic analyses (Fig. 13) revealed that this endophytic isolate is a *Pseudomonas* strain. *Pseudomonas* species have been isolated from diverse sources including marine, freshwater, animals and plants (51-54). Certain *Pseudomonas* strains such as fluorescent *Pseudomonads*, are predominantly found in the rhizosphere and have been reported to move from rhizosphere to aerial plant tissue as in the case of *P. aeurofaciens* (55). *Pseudomonas* species were also reported as endophytes in the literature (56,57). For instance, P. stutzeri A15 is an endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacterium isolated from paddy rice (58). Another endophyte is *P. fluorescens* with beneficial interactions with plants (59). Plant-endophyte interactions have not been fully understood. However, many endophytes not only showed beneficial effects on their hosts, but also play a significant role in plant physiology. For example, some endophytic bacteria were reported to provide phytohormones, low-molecular compounds or enzymes to the host plants that led to the enhanced plant growth (60-62). Endophytic bacteria also provide an alternative way to manage plant pathogens as a promising biocontrol agent through various ways such as releasing antimicrobial substances, producing siderophores, and inducing the systemic resistance to pathogens (63-65). For instance, biological control of *P. syringae* pv. *actinidiae*, the causal agent of bacterial canker of kiwifruit, was achieved by using an endophytic bacterium isolated from a medicinal plant (66).

To better understand *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, I looked into the closely related strains, P. psychrotolerans as well as P. oryzihabitans. Both strains were reported as yellow-pigmented gram-negative bacteria and isolated from different sources including clinical samples, cupper coins, diseased rice and rice seeds (67-71). An endophytic P. oryzihabitans strain isolated from Hibiscus rosasinensis was reported (72). P. *psychrotolerans* was isolated from copper coins, diseased rice and rice seeds as an endosymbiotic bacterium in two different studies (67,71). The later endophytic bacterium was reported to enhance the plant growth due to potential nitrogen fixing characteristics of the turnerbactin (*tnb*) biosynthetic gene cluster, which is responsible for the biosynthesis of turnerbactin, a tricatecholate siderophore. Plants infected with P. psychrotolerans PRS08-11306 showed enhanced growth (32,71). In this work, I also detected the *tnb* gene cluster and confirmed the existence of this gene cluster in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 by amplifying one of the key genes, *tnbA*. Thus, this endophyte also has a potential to be utilized as plant growth-promoting bacterium for agricultural applications.

In addition to the *tnb* gene cluster, I found a complete carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, which contains a series of carotenoid biosynthetic genes (Table 6). However, there are some differences in the organization of the genes between the *Pscrt* gene cluster and other reported ones (Fig. 19). One obvious difference is the additional non-carotenoid gene (*orf2*) encoding for gluconate 2-dehydrogenase, which has not been reported in a carotenoid gene cluster to our knowledge. The role of this gene remains to be characterized. Typically, all genes in

a *crt* biosynthetic gene cluster except *crtZ* have the same direction and are controlled by the same promoter in many  $\gamma$ -proteobacteria (34). However, the *PscrtE* gene has a different direction compared to most of the genes in the *Pscrt* gene cluster and is controlled by its own promoter (Fig. 19). The similar organization of *crtE* gene in the gene cluster was also reported in *Pseudomonas* sp. strain Akiakane isolated from the excrement of autumn darker, yet the *crtZ* gene in that gene cluster is located differently than ours and overlapped with the sequences of *crtX* and *crtY* as shown in Fig. 19 (54).



FIG. 19. Organization of carotenoid biosynthetic gene clusters in the γproteobacteria strains. NCBI accession numbers: M87280 for *Pantoa agglomerans*, CP001875 for *Pantoa ananatis*, and LC317091 and LC317092 for *Pseudomonas* sp. strain Akiakane.

I analyzed the functions of two *Pscrt* genes from *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 through heterologous expression of these genes with corresponding carotenoid-producing plasmids in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) (73,74). PsCrtI was confirmed to be a phytoene desaturase and PsCrtY is a lycopene cyclase. The function of the *Pscrt* gene cluster was characterized by expression of the entire biosynthetic gene cluster in two heterologous hosts, E. coli BL21(DE3) and P. putida KT2440, both yielding zeaxanthin diglucoside (Fig. 17). This heterologous expression strategy not only allows the functional confirmation of this gene cluster, but also provides an alternative way to produce zeaxanthin diglucoside. However, the yield of zeaxanthin diglucos in E. coli was very low compared to *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, likely due to the low efficiency of the native promoter in the this host. Sometimes a native promoters might not work well in a heterologous host. For instance, the phaC genes from P. putida were expressed in E. coli under the control of a native promoter or an external promoter. They were only expressed in E. coli with the external promoter (75). In another study, the levansucrase genes from P. syringae pv. glycinea PG4180 and P. syringae pv. phaseolicola NCPPB 1321 were cloned with the native promoters, yet the expression of levansucrase was only achieved upon the use of the *lac* promoter (76). Thus, heterologous expression of the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster from *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 needs to be conducted using external promoters, in particular constitutive promoters, which might potentially enhance the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *E. coli*. Another approach is to choose another host microorganism. Since our isolate is a *Pseudomonas* strain, I proposed that the *Pscrt* gene cluster might be expressed better in *P. putida* KT2440 than *E. coli. P. putida* KT2440 was previously used as a heterologous host for the production of natural

products including zeaxanthin (77,78). Our results confirmed that expression of the *Pscrt* gene cluster in *P. putida* KT2440 resulted in a much higher yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside than in *E. coli* (Fig. 18D).

A common strategy to improve the yield is the optimization of culture conditions (79). I used LB medium for the isolation of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 and the initial product analysis of this endophyte. However, the nutrients in different media can affect the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside. A screening of 7 different media (Table D1) in culture tubes showed that LB, superbroth and SOC media had better yields ranging from 13 to 15 mg/L (Fig. D2). I chose SOC medium for further optimization studies due to its higher titer in flasks (Fig. 18A) and found that 0.5 % glycerol supplementation further increased the yield to  $127 \pm 2 \text{ mg/L}$  (Fig. 18B), which is consistent with a previous work on the effect of glycerol on the production of carotenoids (37). The effects of cultivation temperature and time were also examined. I originally used 28 °C as cultivation temperature as reported in the literature for the production of carotenoids (35,73,74,77). However, a comparison of four different temperatures revealed that 18 °C was the best cultivation temperature for the production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. The yield reached  $145 \pm 5$  mg/L in 50 mL of SOC medium. I then cultivated this endophyte in SOC medium supplemented with 0.5 % glycerol (final concentration) at 18 °C for a week to find out the best fermentation time. Based on the time course analysis, the yield reached the highest  $(206 \pm 6 \text{ mg/L})$  after 5 days of cultivation. However, low cultivation temperature is an economic burden for industrial production although it often favors the expression of enzymes (80). Therefore, I cultivated Pseudomonas sp. 102515 in 50 mL of SOC medium supplemented with 0.5 % glycerol at 23 °C for a week (Fig.

18C). After 5 days of cultivation, I obtained a titer of  $197 \pm 8 \text{ mg/L}$  that is slightly lower than but comparable to the titer at 18 °C. Thus, 23 °C can be used for industrial production of zeaxanthin diglucoside with *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. To further improve the yield, I introduced pOKF192 carrying the *Pscrt* gene cluster into *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. With the additional copy of the *Pscrt* gene cluster, engineered *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515/pOKF192 produced zeaxanthin diglucoside at  $380 \pm 12 \text{ mg/L}$  at 18 °C after 5 days of cultivation, which is 85 % higher than the parent strain (Figs. 18C and 18D). Similar to *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, this engineered strain at 23 °C led to a slightly lower titer than but comparable to the titer at 18 °C (Fig. 18C). To our knowledge, this study showed the highest yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside in bacteria.

In conclusion, I isolated a carotenoid-producing endophytic *Pseudomonas* strain from the yew tree, which offers an alternative way to produce zeaxanthin diglucoside. A carotenoid biosynthetic gene cluster was identified in this endophyte, from which the functions of two *Pscrt* genes were confirmed in *E. coli* BL21(DE3). I also cloned the whole *Pscrt* gene cluster and successfully expressed it in two heterologous hosts, *E. coli* BL21(DE3) and *P. putida* KT2440. PCR analysis also showed that a turnerbactin biosynthetic gene cluster exists in the isolated strain, which will render our isolate a promising plant-growth promoting bacteria for agricultural applications. Additionally, I enhanced the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside in the engineered endophytic isolate to 380  $\pm$  12 mg/L by optimizing the culture conditions and introducing an additional copy of the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was financially supported by a Grant-In-Aid (16GRNT26430067) from the American Heart Association. I am thankful to Dr. Paul Wolf and Michael B. Piep at Utah State University Intermountain Herbarium for their help to identify and deposit the plant specimen. I thank Dr. Jens Schrader and Dr. Josef Altenbuchner at Dechema-Forschungsinstitut and University of Stuttgart, respectively, for providing the pMIS1mva expression plasmid. I am also grateful to Dr. Charles Miller at Utah State University for generously providing *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440 and Dr. Francis X Cunningham Jr. at the University of Maryland for sharing the carotenoid-producing plasmids through Addgene.

## References

- 1. **Hongoh, Y.:** Diversity and genomes of uncultured microbial symbionts in the termite gut, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem., **74**, 1145-1151 (2010).
- 2. Christina, A., Christapher, V., and Bhore, S. J.: Endophytic bacteria as a source of novel antibiotics: an overview, Pharmacogn. Rev., 7, 11 (2013).
- 3. Strobel, G., Daisy, B., Castillo, U., and Harper, J.: Natural products from endophytic microorganisms, J. Nat. Prod., 67, 257-268 (2004).
- Staniek, A., Woerdenbag, H. J., and Kayser, O.: Endophytes: exploiting biodiversity for the improvement of natural product-based drug discovery, J. Plant Interact., 3, 75-93 (2008).

- Palumbo, J. and Kobayashi, D.: Bacterial endophytes and their effects on plants and uses in agriculture, pp. 213-250, in: Bacon, C. W., and White, J. F. (Eds), Microbial Endophytes. CRC Press, New York, NY (2000).
- Mitter, B., Brader, G., Afzal, M., Compant, S., Naveed, M., Trognitz, F., and Sessitsch, A.: Advances in elucidating beneficial interactions between plants, soil, and bacteria, pp. 381-445, in: Sparks, D. L. (Ed), Advances in agronomy. Academic Press, San Dieoge, CA (2013).
- Glassner, H., Zchori-Fein, E., Compant, S., Sessitsch, A., Katzir, N., Portnoy,
  V., and Yaron, S.: Characterization of endophytic bacteria from cucurbit fruits with potential benefits to agriculture in melons (*Cucumis melo* L.), FEMS Microbiol. Ecol., 91 (2015).
- Puri, A., Padda, K. P., and Chanway, C. P.: Plant growth promotion by endophytic bacteria in nonnative crop hosts, pp. 11-45, in: Maheshwari, D. K., and Annapurna, K. (Eds), Endophytes: crop productivity and protection. Springer, Cham, CH (2017).
- Ting, A., Mah, S., and Tee, C.: Prevalence of endophytes antagonistic towards *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. cubense race 4 in various plants, Am. Eurasian J. Agric. Environ. Sci., 3, 399-406 (2009).
- Miller, C. M., Miller, R. V., Garton-Kenny, D., Redgrave, B., Sears, J.,
  Condron, M. M., Teplow, D. B., and Strobel, G. A.: Ecomycins, unique

antimycotics from *Pseudomonas viridiflava*, J. Appl. Microbiol., **84**, 937-944 (1998).

- Harrison, L., Teplow, D. B., Rinaldi, M., and Strobel, G.: Pseudomycins, a family of novel peptides from *Pseudomonas syringae* possessing broad-spectrum antifungal activity, Microbiology, **137**, 2857-2865 (1991).
- Chandra, S.: Endophytic fungi: novel sources of anticancer lead molecules, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 95, 47-59 (2012).
- Frank, H. and Cogdell, R.: The photochemistry and function of carotenoids in photosynthesis, pp. 252-326, in: Young, A. J., and Britton, G. (Eds), Carotenoids in Photosynthesis. 1<sup>st</sup> ed. Springer Science & Business Media, Berlin, DE (1993).
- Griffiths, M., Sistrom, W., Cohen-Bazire, G., and Stanier, R.: Function of carotenoids in photosynthesis, Nature, 176, 1211 (1955).
- Britton, G.: Structure and properties of carotenoids in relation to function, FASEB J., 9, 1551-1558 (1995).
- Chemler, J. A. and Koffas, M. A.: Metabolic engineering for plant natural product biosynthesis in microbes, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 19, 597-605 (2008).
- Olson, J. A. and Krinsky, N. I.: Introduction: the colorful, fascinating world of the carotenoids: important physiologic modulators, FASEB J., 9, 1547-1550 (1995).

- Fidan, O. and Zhan, J.: Reconstitution of medicinally important plant natural products in microorganisms, pp. 383-415, in: Kermode, A. R., and Jiang, L. (Eds), Molecular pharming: applications, challenges, and emerging areas. John Wiley and Sons Inc., Haboken, NJ (2018).
- Asker, D.: High throughput screening and profiling of high-value carotenoids from a wide diversity of bacteria in surface seawater, Food Chem., 261, 103-111 (2018).
- 20. **Marz, U.:** The global market for carotenoids FOD025E, BBC Research, 2-5 (2015).
- Fraser, P. D. and Bramley, P. M.: The biosynthesis and nutritional uses of carotenoids, Prog. Lipid Res., 43, 228-265 (2004).
- Furubayashi, M., Ikezumi, M., Takaichi, S., Maoka, T., Hemmi, H., Ogawa, T., Saito, K., Tobias, A. V., and Umeno, D.: A highly selective biosynthetic pathway to non-natural C 50 carotenoids assembled from moderately selective enzymes, Nat. Commun., 6, 7534 (2015).
- Xim, S. H., Kim, M. S., Lee, B. Y., and Lee, P. C.: Generation of structurally novel short carotenoids and study of their biological activity, Sci. Rep., 6, 21987 (2016).
- 24. Verdoes, J. C., Misawa, N., and van Ooyen, A. J.: Cloning and characterization of the astaxanthin biosynthetic gene encoding phytoene desaturase of *Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous*, Biotechnol. Bioeng., 63, 750-755 (1999).
- 25. de Oliveira Costa LE, de Queiroz MV, Borges AC, de Moraes CA, de Araújo EF.: Isolation and characterization of endophytic bacteria isolated from the leaves of the common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*), Braz. J. Microbiol., 43, 1562-1575 (2012).
- Joseph, S. and David, W. R.: Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed.
   Gold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY (2001).
- 27. **Barghouthi, S. A.:** A universal method for the identification of bacteria based on general PCR primers, Indian J. Microbiol., **51**, 430-444 (2011).
- 28. **Saitou, N. and Nei, M.:** The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees, Mol. Biol. Evol., **4**, 406-425 (1987).
- Rice, M. C., Norton, J. M., Valois, F., Bollmann, A., Bottomley, P. J., Klotz, M. G., Laanbroek, H. J., Suwa, Y., Stein, L. Y., and Sayavedra-Soto, L.: Complete genome of *Nitrosospira briensis* C-128, an ammonia-oxidizing bacterium from agricultural soil, Stand. Genomic Sci., 11, 46 (2016).
- Iwasaki, K., Uchiyama, H., Yagi, O., Kurabayashi, T., Ishizuka, K., and Takamura, Y.: Transformation of *Pseudomonas putida* by electroporation, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem., 58, 851-854 (1994).
- Hauser, E., Kämpfer, P., and Busse, H.-J.: *Pseudomonas psychrotolerans* sp. nov, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 54, 1633-1637 (2004).

- 32. Liu, R., Zhang, Y., Chen, P., Lin, H., Ye, G., Wang, Z., Ge, C., Zhu, B., and Ren, D.: Genomic and phenotypic analyses of *Pseudomonas psychrotolerans* PRS08-11306 reveal a turnerbactin biosynthesis gene cluster that contributes to nitrogen fixation, J. Biotechnol., 253, 10-13 (2017).
- 33. Cimermancic, P., Medema, M. H., Claesen, J., Kurita, K., Brown, L. C. W., Mavrommatis, K., Pati, A., Godfrey, P. A., Koehrsen, M., and Clardy, J.: Insights into secondary metabolism from a global analysis of prokaryotic biosynthetic gene clusters, Cell, 158, 412-421 (2014).
- Sedkova, N., Tao, L., Rouvière, P. E., and Cheng, Q.: Diversity of carotenoid synthesis gene clusters from environmental *Enterobacteriaceae* strains, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 71, 8141-8146 (2005).
- 35. Cunningham, F. X., Sun, Z., Chamovitz, D., Hirschberg, J., and Gantt, E.: Molecular structure and enzymatic function of lycopene cyclase from the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* sp strain PCC7942, Plant Cell, 6, 1107-1121 (1994).
- 36. Choudhari, S. M., Ananthanarayan, L., and Singhal, R. S.: Use of metabolic stimulators and inhibitors for enhanced production of β-carotene and lycopene by *Blakeslea trispora* NRRL 2895 and 2896, Bioresour. Technol., **99**, 3166-3173 (2008).
- Yoon, S.-H., Lee, S.-H., Das, A., Ryu, H.-K., Jang, H.-J., Kim, J.-Y., Oh, D. K., Keasling, J. D., and Kim, S.-W.: Combinatorial expression of bacterial

whole mevalonate pathway for the production of  $\beta$ -carotene in *E. coli*, J. Biotechnol., **140**, 218-226 (2009).

- Johnson, E. J.: The role of carotenoids in human health, Nutr.Clin.Care, 5, 56-65 (2002).
- Rao, A. V. and Rao, L. G.: Carotenoids and human health, Pharmacol. Res., 55, 207-216 (2007).
- 40. Tatsuzawa, H., Maruyama, T., Misawa, N., Fujimori, K., and Nakano, M.: Quenching of singlet oxygen by carotenoids produced in *Escherichia coli*attenuation of singlet oxygen-mediated bacterial killing by carotenoids, FEBS Lett., 484, 280-284 (2000).
- 41. **Ito, T.:** Cellular and subcellular mechanisms of photodynamic action: the  ${}^{1}O_{2}$  hypothesis as a driving force in recent research, Photochem. Photobiol., **28**, 493-506 (1978).
- 42. Weishaupt, K. R., Gomer, C. J., and Dougherty, T. J.: Identification of singlet oxygen as the cytotoxic agent in photo-inactivation of a murine tumor, Cancer Res., **36**, 2326-2329 (1976).
- 43. Cazzonelli, C. I.: Carotenoids in nature: insights from plants and beyond, Funct.Plant Biol., 38, 833-847 (2011).
- 44. Misawa, N., Nakagawa, M., Kobayashi, K., Yamano, S., Izawa, Y.,
  Nakamura, K., and Harashima, K.: Elucidation of the *Erwinia uredovora*

carotenoid biosynthetic pathway by functional analysis of gene products expressed in *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol., **172**, 6704-6712 (1990).

- 45. Takaichi, S., Maoka, T., Akimoto, N., Khan, S. T., and Harayama, S.: Major carotenoid isolated from *Paracoccus schoinia* NBRC 100637T is adonixanthin diglucoside, J. Nat. Prod., 69, 1823-1825 (2006).
- 46. Takaichi, S., Maoka, T., Hanada, S., and Imhoff, J. F.: Dihydroxylycopene diglucoside diesters: a novel class of carotenoids from the phototrophic purple sulfur bacteria *Halorhodospira abdelmalekii* and *Halorhodospira halochloris*, Arch. Microbiol., 175, 161-167 (2001).
- 47. Seo, Y. B., Choi, S. S., Nam, S. W., Lee, J. H., and Kim, Y. T.: Cloning and characterization of the zeaxanthin glucosyltransferase gene (*crtX*) from the astaxanthin-producing marine bacterium, *Paracoccus haeundaensis*, J. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 19, 1542-1546 (2009).
- 48. **Tuveson, R., Larson, R., and Kagan, J.:** Role of cloned carotenoid genes expressed in *Escherichia coli* in protecting against inactivation by near-UV light and specific phototoxic molecules, J. Bacteriol., **170**, 4675-4680 (1988).
- 49. Osawa, A., Harada, H., Choi, S.-K., Misawa, N., and Shindo, K.: Production of caloxanthin 3'-β-D-glucoside, zeaxanthin 3,3'-β-D-diglucoside, and nostoxanthin in a recombinant *Escherichia coli* expressing system harboring seven carotenoid biosynthesis genes, including *crtX* and *crtG*, Phytochemistry, **72**, 711-716 (2011).

- Richter, T. K., Hughes, C. C., and Moore, B. S.: Sioxanthin, a novel glycosylated carotenoid, reveals an unusual subclustered biosynthetic pathway, Environ. Microbiol., 17, 2158-2171 (2015).
- 51. Achouak, W., Sutra, L., Heulin, T., Meyer, J.-M., Fromin, N., Degraeve, S., Christen, R., and Gardan, L.: *Pseudomonas brassicacearum* sp. nov. and *Pseudomonas thivervalensis* sp. nov., two root-associated bacteria isolated from *Brassica napus* and *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., **50**, 9-18 (2000).
- Asif, H., Studholme, D. J., Khan, A., Aurongzeb, M., Khan, I. A., and Azim,
   M. K.: Comparative genomics of an endophytic *Pseudomonas putida* isolated
   from mango orchard, Genet. Mol. Biol., 39, 465-473 (2016).
- 53. Eljounaidi, K., Lee, S. K., and Bae, H.: Bacterial endophytes as potential biocontrol agents of vascular wilt diseases–review and future prospects, Biol Control, 103, 62-68 (2016).
- 54. Fukaya, Y., Takemura, M., Koyanagi, T., Maoka, T., Shindo, K., and Misawa, N.: Structural and functional analysis of the carotenoid biosynthesis genes of a *Pseudomonas* strain isolated from the excrement of Autumn Darter, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem., 82, 1043-1052 (2018).
- 55. Lamb, T. G., Tonkyn, D. W., and Kluepfel, D. A.: Movement of *Pseudomonas aureofaciens* from the rhizosphere to aerial plant tissue, Can. J. Microbiol., 42, 1112-1120 (1996).

- 56. Miliute, I., Buzaite, O., Baniulis, D., and Stanys, V.: Bacterial endophytes in agricultural crops and their role in stress tolerance: a review, Zemdirbyste-Agriculture, 102, 465-478 (2015).
- 57. Ulrich, K., Ulrich, A., and Ewald, D.: Diversity of endophytic bacterial communities in poplar grown under field conditions, FEMS Microbiol. Ecol., 63, 169-180 (2008).
- Rediers, H., Bonnecarrere, V., Rainey, P. B., Hamonts, K., Vanderleyden, J., and De Mot, R.: Development and application of a dapB-based *in vivo* expression technology system to study colonization of rice by the endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacterium *Pseudomonas stutzeri* A15, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 69, 6864-6874 (2003).
- 59. Lally, R. D., Galbally, P., Moreira, A. S., Spink, J., Ryan, D., Germaine, K. J., and Dowling, D. N.: Application of endophytic *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and a bacterial consortium to *Brassica napus* can increase plant height and biomass under greenhouse and field conditions, Front. Plant Sci., 8, 2193 (2017).
- 60. Frommel, M. I., Nowak, J., and Lazarovits, G.: Growth enhancement and developmental modifications of *in vitro* grown potato (*Solanum tuberosum* spp. tuberosum) as affected by a nonfluorescent *Pseudomonas* sp., Plant Physiol., 96, 928-936 (1991).

- 61. Glick, B. R., Penrose, D. M., and Li, J.: A model for the lowering of plant ethylene concentrations by plant growth-promoting bacteria, J. Theor. Biol., 190, 63-68 (1998).
- 62. Hallmann, J., Quadt-Hallmann, A., Mahaffee, W., and Kloepper, J.: Bacterial endophytes in agricultural crops, Can. J. Microbiol., **43**, 895-914 (1997).
- 63. Bangera, M. G. and Thomashow, L. S.: Characterization of a genomic locus required for synthesis of the antibiotic 2, 4-diacetylphloroglucinol by the biological control agent *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Q2-87, Mol. Plant Microbe Interact., 9, 83-90 (1996).
- 64. Madhaiyan, M., Poonguzhali, S., Senthilkumar, M., Seshadri, S., Chung, H., Jinchul, Y., Sundaram, S., and Tongmin, S.: Growth promotion and induction of systemic resistance in rice cultivar Co-47 (*Oryza sativa* L.) by *Methylobacterium* spp., Bot. Bull. Acad. Sinica, 45 (2004).
- O'sullivan, D. J. and O'Gara, F.: Traits of fluorescent *Pseudomonas* spp.
   involved in suppression of plant root pathogens, Microbiol. Rev., 56, 662-676 (1992).
- 66. Wicaksono, W. A., Jones, E. E., Casonato, S., Monk, J., and Ridgway, H. J.: Biological control of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *actinidiae* (Psa), the causal agent of bacterial canker of kiwifruit, using endophytic bacteria recovered from a medicinal plant, Biol. Control, **116**, 103-112 (2018).

- Adorada, D. L., Stodart, B. J., Tpoi, R. P., Costa, S. S., and Ash, G. J.:
  Bacteria associated with sheath browning and grain discoloration of rice in East
  Timor and implications for Australia's biosecurity, Australas. Plant Dis. Notes, 8, 43-47 (2013).
- Kodama, K., Kimura, N., and Komagata, K.: Two new species of *Pseudomonas*: *P. oryzihabitans* isolated from rice paddy and clinical specimens and *P. luteola* isolated from clinical specimens, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 35, 467-474 (1985).
- 69. Santo, C. E., Lin, Y., Hao, X., Wei, G., Rensing, C., and Grass, G.: Draft genome sequence of *Pseudomonas psychrotolerans* L19, isolated from copper alloy coins, J. Bacteriol., **194**, 1623-1624 (2012).
- 70. Simmon, K. E., Croft, A. C., and Petti, C. A.: Application of SmartGene IDNS software to partial 16S rRNA gene sequences for a diverse group of bacteria in a clinical laboratory, J. Clin. Microbiol., 44, 4400-4406 (2006).
- 71. Xie, G.-I., Soad, A., Swings, J., and Mew, T.: Diversity of gram negative bacteria antagonistic against major pathogens of rice from rice seed in the tropic environment, J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. A, 4, 463-468 (2003).
- 72. Bhagat, J., Kaur, A., and Chadha, B. S.: Single step purification of asparaginase from endophytic bacteria *Pseudomonas oryzihabitans* exhibiting high potential to reduce acrylamide in processed potato chips, Food Bioprod. Process., 99, 222-230 (2016).

- 73. **Cunningham, F. X., Lee, H., and Gantt, E.:** Carotenoid biosynthesis in the primitive red algea *Cyanidioschyzon merolae*, Eukaryot. Cell, **6**, 533-545 (2007).
- 74. Cunningham Jr, F. X. and Gantt, E.: A study in scarlet: enzymes of ketocarotenoid biosynthesis in the flowers of *Adonis aestivalis*, Plant J., 41, 478-492 (2005).
- 75. **Ren, Q., Van Beilen, J. B., Sierro, N., Zinn, M., Kessler, B., and Witholt, B.:** Expression of PHA polymerase genes of *Pseudomonas putida* in *Escherichia coli* and its effect on PHA formation, Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek, **87**, 91 (2005).
- 76. Hettwer, U., Jaeckel, F. R., Boch, J., Meyer, M., Rudolph, K., and Ullrich, M. S.: Cloning, nucleotide sequence, and expression in *Escherichia coli* of levansucrase genes from the plant pathogens *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. glycinea and *P. syringae* pv. phaseolicola, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 64, 3180-3187 (1998).
- 77. Beuttler, H., Hoffmann, J., Jeske, M., Hauer, B., Schmid, R. D.,
  Altenbuchner, J., and Urlacher, V. B.: Biosynthesis of zeaxanthin in
  recombinant *Pseudomonas putida*, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 89, 1137-1147
  (2011).
- Mi, J., Becher, D., Lubuta, P., Dany, S., Tusch, K., Schewe, H., Buchhaupt,
   M., and Schrader, J.: De novo production of the monoterpenoid geranic acid by metabolically engineered *Pseudomonas putida*, Microb. Cell Fact., 13, 1 (2014).

- 79. Ser, H.-L., Law, J. W.-F., Chaiyakunapruk, N., Jacob, S. A., Palanisamy, U.
  D., Chan, K.-G., Goh, B.-H., and Lee, L.-H.: Fermentation conditions that affect clavulanic acid production in *Streptomyces clavuligerus*: a systematic review, Front. Microbiol., 7, 522 (2016).
- 80. Zhang, Y., Taiming, L., and Liu, J.: Low temperature and glucose enhanced T7 RNA polymerase-based plasmid stability for increasing expression of glucagonlike peptide-2 in *Escherichia coli*, Protein Expr. Purif., 29, 132-139 (2003).
- Miller, C., Pettee, B., Zhang, C., Pabst, M., McLean, J., and Anderson, A.:
  Copper and cadmium: responses in *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440, Lett. Appl.
  Microbiol., 49, 775-783 (2009).

#### CHAPTER V SUMMARY AND ENGINEERING VALUE

#### Summary of my dissertation research and future work

My dissertation is focused on exploring the potential of bacteria for the biosynthesis of natural products with the purposes of creating novel natural product derivatives and of improving the production of pharmaceutically important natural products. In Chapter 2, I have investigated the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of two antifungal angucyclines from Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136, Sch47554 and Sch47555. Two different strategies were exploited for the characterization of three glycosyltransferases responsible for the glycosylation process. Co-expression of the aglycone and sugar biosynthetic genes with schS7 in S. lividans K4 led to the production of a novel C-glycosylated rabelomycin derivative, confirming that SchS7 is the dedicated C-glycosyltransferase. For *schS9* and *schS10*, a gene disruption strategy was used to understand their functions in the glycosylation steps. Gene inactivation studies revealed that these glycosylation steps take place in a sequential manner in which SchS9 first attaches either a L-aculose or L-amicetose moiety to the 4'-OH of the C-glycosylated aglycone, and then SchS10 transfers a L-aculose moiety to the 3-OH of the angucycline core. In this research, I isolated two novel derivatives of angucycline and gained new insights into the glycosylation pathways in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555. In the future work, we can add additional glycosyltransferase genes cloned from similar biosynthetic gene clusters such as the landomycins and urdamycin biosynthetic gene clusters into our heterologous expression cassette to extend the sugar chain of the angucyclines (1-3). This will not only further diversify the chemical repertoire of

angucyclines, but also potentially enhance the biological activities of these angucyclines as reported in the literature (4).

In Chapter 3, I worked on the same biosynthetic gene cluster for improved production of the angucyclines. The *sch* gene cluster includes several putative regulatory genes. *schA4* and *schA21* were predicted as the TetR family transcriptional regulators, whereas *schA16* showed a significant similarity to the AraC family transcriptional regulators. I disrupted all of these regulatory genes in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. Disruption of *schA4* and *schA16* led to a significant increase in the production of Sch47554, while the titer was dramatically decreased in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC- $2136/\Delta schA21$ . I also overexpressed them to further confirm their functional roles in the biosynthesis of angucyclines. Overexpression strains produced consistent results with the gene disruption strains. The highest titer of Sch47554 was achieved in Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ schA4 (27.94 mg/L), which is significantly higher than the wild type. Based on these results, I was able to characterize the functions of these three regulatory elements. SchA4 and SchA16 are repressors, while SchA21 acts as an activator. This work provided an initial understanding of functional roles of regulatory elements in the biosynthesis of Sch47554. Several efficient producing strains of Sch47554 were constructed by disrupting or overexpressing particular regulatory genes, which can be further engineered for industrial production of this medicinally important molecule. In the future work, a combination of the gene disruption with overexpression approaches might further enhance the titer of Sch47554. For instance, targeted gene deletion of schA4 through double crossover recombination will result in a strain without any antibiotic resistance genes, which can be used to overexpress SchA21. This could potentially lead

to a far better yield of Sch47554.

In Chapter 4, I isolated an endophytic bacterium from the leaves of *Taxus* chinensis. BLAST and phylogenetic analyses of the 16S rRNA sequence revealed that it is a *Pseudomonas* strain, named *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515. Based on the genome of a closely related *Pseudomonas* strain, a carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster was amplified from this endophyte. The functions of PsCrtI and PsCrtY were respectively identified as phytoene desaturase and lycopene cyclase in the biosynthesis of zeaxanthin diglucoside. The *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster was successfully reconstituted in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) and *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440. The engineered strain of *P. putida* KT2440 produced zeaxanthin diglucoside at  $144 \pm 4$  mg/L in the SOC medium supplemented with 0.5% glycerol at 23 °C, while the titer of zeaxanthin diglucoside in E. coli BL21(DE3) was very low. The production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 was improved through the optimization of fermentation conditions. The highest titer under the optimized conditions reached  $206 \pm 6$  mg/L. To further enhance the production, I introduced an expression plasmid that harbors the *Pscrt* biosynthetic gene cluster into Pseudomonas sp. 102515, yielding an efficient producing strain of zeaxanthin diglucoside. The titer in this engineered strain reached  $380 \pm 12$ mg/L, 85% higher than the wild type. Through PCR, I also discovered the presence of a turnerbactin biosynthetic gene cluster in Pseudomonas sp. 102515. Turnerbactin was reported to be involved in nitrogen fixation, which can promote the growth of host plants. Therefore, in addition to producing zeaxanthin diglucoside, Pseudomonas sp. 102515 might also be utilized as a plant-promoting strain for agricultural applications. In the

future work, the fermentation of engineered *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 harboring pOKF192 in the bioreactor can be conducted to further enhance the titer of zeaxanthin diglucoside. The optimized fermentation conditions in the bioreactor such as dissolved oxygen, agitation speed and pH may lead to a further improved titer.

### **Engineering value**

### **Engineered production of angucycline derivatives**

The heterologous expression approach helps researchers understand and engineer the biosynthetic pathways for creating structural diversity in natural products (5,6). In Chapter 2, I heterologously expressed some of the genes from the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster, which yielded a novel angucycline derivative, C-glycosylated rabelomycin. I also disrupted two tailoring enzymes in the wild type strain, resulting in the isolation of another novel derivative of angucycline. These two strategies offer an effective platform to generate novel angucycline derivatives, which is quite useful for new drug development in the pharmaceutical industry. This study also provides new insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of angucyclines, which can then be used to further engineer this biosynthetic pathway for generation of "unnatural" natural products.

### Engineered production of angucyclines in Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136

*Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 produces two angucyclines, Sch47554 and Sch47555, which exhibit antifungal activity against various yeasts (*Candida albicans, C. tropicalis* and *C. stellatoidea*) and dermatophytes (*Trichophyton mentagrophytes, T. rubrum, T. tonsurans* and *Microsporum canis*) (7). Additionally, Sch47554 and Sch47555 may

possess potent antitumor and antibacterial activities, as well as enzyme inhibitory and agonistic activities due to their structural similarity to other reported angucycline metabolites (8). Therefore, in Chapter 3, I attempted to enhance the titer of these compounds by strain engineering. In particular, the manipulation of regulatory genes through overexpression of activator genes and/or deletion of repressor genes has been successfully performed for improved production of natural products (9). I exploited these two strategies to create overexpression and gene disruption strains for three regulatory genes in the *sch* biosynthetic gene cluster. Two of the engineered strains showed significantly increased titers of Sch47554. The highest titer of Sch47554 was achieved in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136/ $\Delta$ *schA4* (27.94 mg/L), which is much higher than the wild type (6.72 mg/L). The overexpression of SchA21 in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136 also improved the yield substantially to 26.23 mg/L. This work thus provides a more efficient way to produce this pharmaceutically important molecule (Sch47554).

### Engineered production of zeaxanthin diglucoside in *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515

Carotenoids play a significant role in maintaining good health and preventing human diseases including cardiovascular diseases, cancer and other chronic diseases. These natural products possess a variety of biological activities such as antioxidant, anticancer, and anti-inflammatory properties. They are also an important dietary source of vitamin A (10,11). Therefore, carotenoids have a huge market value. It was reported that the viability of zeaxanthin diglucoside producing *E. coli* cells is higher in the  ${}^{1}O_{2}$ generation mixture compared to the cells that produce other carotenoids such as zeaxanthin, astaxanthin,  $\beta$ -carotene, and canthaxanthin (12). In Chapter 4, I isolated an endophytic bacterium from the leaves of *Taxus chinensis*, which provides an alternative effective mean for the production of this promising antioxidant agent. I optimized the fermentation conditions of *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515 such as temperature, cultivation time, medium and glycerol supplementation. I achieved the highest yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside at  $206 \pm 6 \text{ mg/L}$  in the SOC medium with glycerol supplementation after 5 days of cultivation at 18 °C. With the introduction of an additional copy of the entire *Pscrt* gene cluster into *Pseudomonas* sp. 102515, I further increased the titer to  $380 \pm 12 \text{ mg/L}$ . This demonstrates that our strain is a promising microorganism for the production of pharmaceutically important antioxidant agent, zeaxanthin diglucoside. In addition, this isolate also has potential to be utilized as a plant growth-promoting bacterium for agricultural applications due to its turnerbactin biosynthetic capability, which enhances the nitrogen fixation capacity of host plants.

### References

- Faust, B., Hoffmeister, D., Weitnauer, G., Westrich, L., Haag, S., Schneider, P., Decker, H., Künzel, E., Rohr, J., and Bechthold, A.: Two new tailoring enzymes, a glycosyltransferase and an oxygenase, involved in biosynthesis of the angucycline antibiotic urdamycin A in *Streptomyces fradiae* Tü2717, Microbiology, **146**, 147-154 (2000).
- Luzhetskyy, A., Liu, T., Fedoryshyn, M., Ostash, B., Fedorenko, V., Rohr, J., and Bechthold, A.: Function of *lanGT3*, a glycosyltransferase gene involved in landomycin A biosynthesis, ChemBioChem, 5, 1567-1570 (2004).

- Trefzer, A., Fischer, C., Stockert, S., Westrich, L., Künzel, E., Girreser, U., Rohr, J., and Bechthold, A.: Elucidation of the function of two glycosyltransferase genes (*lanGT1* and *lanGT4*) involved in landomycin biosynthesis and generation of new oligosaccharide antibiotics, Chem. Biol., 8, 1239-1252 (2001).
- 4. Ostash, B., Rix, U., Rix, L. L. R., Liu, T., Lombo, F., Luzhetskyy, A.,
  Gromyko, O., Wang, C., Braña, A. F., and Méndez, C.: Generation of new landomycins by combinatorial biosynthetic manipulation of the LndGT4 gene of the landomycin E cluster in *S. globisporus*, Chem. Biol., 11, 547-555 (2004).
- Fidan, O., Yan, R., Gladstone, G., Zhou, T., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: New insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555, ChemBioChem, 19, 1424-1432 (2018).
- Matsumura, E., Nakagawa, A., Tomabechi, Y., Ikushiro, S., Sakaki, T., Katayama, T., Yamamoto, K., Kumagai, H., Sato, F., and Minami, H.: Microbial production of novel sulphated alkaloids for drug discovery, Sci. Rep., 8, 7980 (2018).
- Chu, M., Yarborough, R., Schwartz, J., Patel, M. G., Horan, A. C., Gullo, V.
   P., Das, P. R., and Puar, M. S.: Sch 47554 and Sch 47555, two novel antifungal antibiotics produced from a *Streptomyces* sp., J. Antibiot., 46, 861-865 (1993).
- Kharel, M. K., Pahari, P., Shepherd, M. D., Tibrewal, N., Nybo, S. E.,
   Shaaban, K. A., and Rohr, J.: Angucyclines: biosynthesis, mode-of-action, new natural products, and synthesis, Nat. Prod. Rep., 29, 264-325 (2012).

- Chen, Y., Smanski, M. J., and Shen, B.: Improvement of secondary metabolite production in *Streptomyces* by manipulating pathway regulation, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 86, 19-25 (2010).
- Johnson, E. J.: The role of carotenoids in human health, Nutr. Clin. Care, 5, 56-65 (2002).
- Olson, J. A. and Krinsky, N. I.: Introduction: the colorful, fascinating world of the carotenoids: important physiologic modulators, FASEB J., 9, 1547-1550 (1995).
- 12. Tatsuzawa, H., Maruyama, T., Misawa, N., Fujimori, K., and Nakano, M.: Quenching of singlet oxygen by carotenoids produced in *Escherichia coli*– attenuation of singlet oxygen-mediated bacterial killing by carotenoids, FEBS Lett., **484**, 280-284 (2000).

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

PERMISSION LETTERS

# JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 26, 2019

This Agreement between Ozkan Fidan ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4526850381031
License date	Feb 12, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	ChemBioChem
Licensed Content Title	New Insights into the Glycosylation Steps in the Biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555
Licensed Content Author	Ozkan Fidan, Riming Yan, Gabrielle Gladstone, et al
Licensed Content Date	May 25, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	19
Licensed Content Issue	13
Licensed Content Pages	9
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Exploring the potential of microorganisms for natural product biosynthesis
Expected completion date	May 2019
Expected size (number of pages)	170
Requestor Location	Ozkan Fidan 645 1/2 E 400 N

LOGAN, UT 84321 United States Attn: Ozkan Fidan EU826007151 0.00 USD

Publisher Tax ID

Total

Terms and Conditions

# **TERMS AND CONDITIONS**

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at <a href="http://myaccount.copyright.com">http://myaccount.copyright.com</a>).

### **Terms and Conditions**

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a stand-alone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license, and any CONTENT (PDF or image file) purchased as part of your order, is for a one-time use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this license must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this license (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials

may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner.**For STM Signatory Publishers clearing permission under the terms of the** <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u> **only, the terms of the license are extended to include subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted figures or extracts**,You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.

- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto
- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.
- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against

any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.

- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.
- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the

parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

# WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

### The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-

# **Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License**

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC)License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

### Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

# Use by commercial "for-profit" organizations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library <u>http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html</u>

# **Other Terms and Conditions:**

# v1.10 Last updated September 2015

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Date: February 24, 2019

Name: Ozkan Fidan

Address: 645 1/2 East 400 North, Logan, UT 84321

Phone: 435-757-5865

Dear Dr. Riming Yan,

I am in the process of preparing my dissertation in the Department of Biological Engineering at Utah State University. I expect to complete in April 2019.

I am requesting your permission to include the attached material as shown. I will include acknowledgements and/or appropriate citations to your work as shown, and copyright and reprint rights in a special appendix. The bibliographical citation will appear at the end of the manuscript as shown. Please advise me of any changes you require.

Please indicate your approval of this request by signing in the space provided, attaching any other form or instruction necessary to confirm permission. If you charge a reprint fee for use of your material, please indicate that as well. If you have any questions, please call me at the number above.

I hope that you will be able to reply immediately. If you are not the copyright holder, please forward my request to the appropriate person or institution.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Ozkan Fidan

I hereby give permission to Ozkan Fidan to reprint the following material in his dissertation.

(Description: Fidan, O.,# Yan, R.,# Gladstone, G., Zhou, T., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: New Insights into the Glycosylation Steps in the Biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555, ChemBioChem, **19**, 1424-1432 (2018). # : Equal Contribution)) Date: February 24, 2019

Name: Ozkan Fidan

Address: 645 1/2 East 400 North, Logan, UT 84321

Phone: 435-757-5865

#### Dear Gabrielle Gladstone,

I am in the process of preparing my dissertation in the Department of Biological Engineering at Utah State University. I expect to complete in April 2019.

I am requesting your permission to include the attached material as shown. I will include acknowledgements and/or appropriate citations to your work as shown, and copyright and reprint rights in a special appendix. The bibliographical citation will appear at the end of the manuscript as shown. Please advise me of any changes you require.

Please indicate your approval of this request by signing in the space provided, attaching any other form or instruction necessary to confirm permission. If you charge a reprint fee for use of your material, please indicate that as well. If you have any questions, please call me at the number above.

I hope that you will be able to reply immediately. If you are not the copyright holder, please forward my request to the appropriate person or institution.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Ozkan Fidan

I hereby give permission to Ozkan Fidan to reprint the following material in his dissertation.

(Description: Fidan, O.,# Yan, R.,# Gladstone, S. G., Zhou, T., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: New Insights into the Glycosylation Steps in the Biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555, ChemBioChem, 19, 1424-1432 (2018). # : Equal Contribution))

Dear Ozkan, My other papers are published under S. Gabrielle My other papers are published under S. Gabrielle My other papers are published under S. Gabrielle Stadstone. The S is for Samantha, which is part Gladstone. The S is for Samantha, which is part Gladstone. The S is for Samantha, which is part Gladstone. The S is for Samantha, which is part of my legal name. Otherwise, looks good. Congrats, Date: February 24, 2019

Name: Ozkan Fidan

Address: 645 1/2 East 400 North, Logan, UT 84321

Phone: 435-757-5865

Dear Dr. Du Zhu,

I am in the process of preparing my dissertation in the Department of Biological Engineering at Utah State University. I expect to complete in April 2019.

I am requesting your permission to include the attached material as shown. I will include acknowledgements and/or appropriate citations to your work as shown, and copyright and reprint rights in a special appendix. The bibliographical citation will appear at the end of the manuscript as shown. Please advise me of any changes you require.

Please indicate your approval of this request by signing in the space provided, attaching any other form or instruction necessary to confirm permission. If you charge a reprint fee for use of your material, please indicate that as well. If you have any questions, please call me at the number above.

I hope that you will be able to reply immediately. If you are not the copyright holder, please forward my request to the appropriate person or institution.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Ozkan Fidan

I hereby give permission to Ozkan Fidan to reprint the following material in his dissertation.

(Description: Fidan, O.,# Yan, R.,# Gladstone, G., Zhou, T., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: New Insights into the Glycosylation Steps in the Biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555, ChemBioChem, 19, 1424-1432 (2018). # : Equal Contribution))

Date: February 24, 2019 Name: Ozkan Fidan Address: 645 ½ East 400 North, Logan, UT 84321 Phone: 435-757-5865

Dear Dr. Tong Zhou,

I am in the process of preparing my dissertation in the Department of Biological Engineering at Utah State University. I expect to complete in April 2019.

I am requesting your permission to include the attached material as shown. I will include acknowledgements and/or appropriate citations to your work as shown, and copyright and reprint rights in a special appendix. The bibliographical citation will appear at the end of the manuscript as shown. Please advise me of any changes you require.

Please indicate your approval of this request by signing in the space provided, attaching any other form or instruction necessary to confirm permission. If you charge a reprint fee for use of your material, please indicate that as well. If you have any questions, please call me at the number above.

I hope that you will be able to reply immediately. If you are not the copyright holder, please forward my request to the appropriate person or institution.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Ozkan Fidan

I hereby give permission to Ozkan Fidan to reprint the following material in his dissertation.

(Description: Fidan, O.,# Yan, R.,# Gladstone, G., Zhou, T., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: New Insights into the Glycosylation Steps in the Biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555, ChemBioChem, 19, 1424-1432 (2018). # : Equal Contribution))

### JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 13, 2019

This Agreement between Ozkan Fidan ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4567231091998
License date	Apr 13, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	BIOTECHNOLOGY AND APPLIED BIOCHEMISTRY
Licensed Content Title	Improved production of antifungal angucycline Sch47554 by manipulating three regulatory genes in Streptomyces sp. SCC-2136
Licensed Content Author	Ozkan Fidan, Riming Yan, Du Zhu, et al
Licensed Content Date	Apr 8, 2019
Licensed Content Volume	0
Licensed Content Issue	0
Licensed Content Pages	10
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Exploring the potential of microorganisms for natural product biosynthesis
Expected completion date	May 2019
Expected size (number of pages)	170
Requestor Location	Ozkan Fidan 645 1/2 E 400 N

	LOGAN, UT 84321 United States Attn: Ozkan Fidan
Publisher Tax ID	EU826007151
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

### **TERMS AND CONDITIONS**

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

### **Terms and Conditions**

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a stand-alone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license, and any CONTENT (PDF or image file) purchased as part of your order, is for a one-time use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this license must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this license (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.

- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner.For STM Signatory Publishers clearing permission under the terms of the <u>STM</u> Permissions Guidelines only, the terms of the license are extended to include subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted figures or extracts, You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto
- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.
- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual

or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.

- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.
- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both

parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

# WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

### The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-

# **Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License**

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC)License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

### Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original

work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

# Use by commercial "for-profit" organizations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Further details can be found on Wiley Online

Library http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html

# **Other Terms and Conditions:**

v1.10 Last updated September 2015

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.
Date: February 12, 2019 Name: Ozkan Fidan Address: 645 ½ East 400 North, Logan, UT 84321 Phone: 435-757-5865

Dear Dr. Riming Yan,

I am in the process of preparing my dissertation in the Department of Biological Engineering at Utah State University. I expect to complete in April 2019.

I am requesting your permission to include the attached material as shown. I will include acknowledgements and/or appropriate citations to your work as shown, and copyright and reprint rights in a special appendix. The bibliographical citation will appear at the end of the manuscript as shown. Please advise me of any changes you require.

Please indicate your approval of this request by signing in the space provided, attaching any other form or instruction necessary to confirm permission. If you charge a reprint fee for use of your material, please indicate that as well. If you have any questions, please call me at the number above.

I hope that you will be able to reply immediately. If you are not the copyright holder, please forward my request to the appropriate person or institution.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Ozkan Fidan

I hereby give permission to Ozkan Fidan to reprint the following material in his dissertation.

(Description: Fidan, O., Yan, R., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: Improved production of antifungal angucycline Sch47554 by manipulating three regulatory genes in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136, Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry, (2019))

Date: February 12, 2019

Name: Ozkan Fidan

Address: 645 1/2 East 400 North, Logan, UT 84321

Phone: 435-757-5865

Dear Dr. Du Zhu,

I am in the process of preparing my dissertation in the Department of Biological Engineering at Utah State University. I expect to complete in April 2019.

I am requesting your permission to include the attached material as shown. I will include acknowledgements and/or appropriate citations to your work as shown, and copyright and reprint rights in a special appendix. The bibliographical citation will appear at the end of the manuscript as shown. Please advise me of any changes you require.

Please indicate your approval of this request by signing in the space provided, attaching any other form or instruction necessary to confirm permission. If you charge a reprint fee for use of your material, please indicate that as well. If you have any questions, please call me at the number above.

I hope that you will be able to reply immediately. If you are not the copyright holder, please forward my request to the appropriate person or institution.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sincerely,

Ozkan Fidan

I hereby give permission to Ozkan Fidan to reprint the following material in his  $\frac{2}{4}/2019$  dissertation.

(Description: Fidan, O., Yan, R., Zhu, D., and Zhan, J.: Improved production of antifungal angucycline Sch47554 by manipulating three regulatory genes in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136, Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry, (2019))

APPENDIX B

SUPPORTING INFORMATION for CHAPTER 2

Primer Name	Primer Sequence
schP6schP7schP8-	5'-AATTAATTAAGGAGGAGCCAC
Forward-PacI	CACTGGACCGCACTGTGA-3'
schP6schP7schP8-	5'-AAGCTAGCTCAGCTGGACCGGACGGGCA-3'
Reverse-NheI	
schP4-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTAGTGGAGGAGCCCATAT
-	GACCGTCCGTGAGGTCGA-3'
schP4-Reverse-NheI	5'-AAGCTAGCTCAGCGCCGCGCTTCGGCGT-3'
schP5-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTAGTGGAGGAGCCCATATGA
	CGACTGCCACGTCCGG-3'
schP5-Reverse-NheI	5'-AAGCTAGCTCAGAAATTGCCGAGGCCGC-3'
schP9-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTAGTGGAGGAGCCCATAT
	GCACAGCACGCTGATCGT-3'
schP9-Reverse-NheI	5'-AAGCTAGCTCACAGTGCGGTCCAGTGGT-3'
schP10-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTAGTGGAGGAGCCCATATG
	GATGCTTCGGTCATAGT-3'
schP10-Reverse-NheI	5'-AAGCTAGCTCAGGACTTCGGGCCCCGCG-3'
schS2-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTCGTGGAGGAGCCCATAT
	GCTGTCCCACACCCTTG-3'
schS1-Reverse-NheI	5'-AAGCTAGCTCAGGCCGACGGCTCGGAGA-3'
schS3-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTAGTGGAGGAGCCCATA
	TGAGCGACCCCAAGGAAACG-3'
schS3-Reverse-NheI	5'-AAGCTAGCTCAGCCGCGCGCGCGCCACGAA-3'
schS6-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTAGTGGAGGAGCCCATATG
	AAGGCGCTTGTGCTGGCA-3'
schS4-Reverse-NheI	5'-AAGCTAGCTCATCCTGTCCTTTCGTCGA-3'
schS7-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTAGTGGAGGAGCCCATGTG
	AGGATCCTCTTCGTCACC-3'
schS7-Reverse-NheI	5'-AAGCTAGCTCAGCGGAGCTGTTCCAGTGC-3'
schS8-Forward-SpeI	5'-AAACTAGTGGAGGAGCCCATATG
	GICATICCCGGTACATA-3'
schS8-Reverse-Nhel	5'-AAGCTAGCTCACAGTGTTCCTGCCTTGGT-3'
schS9-SC-KO-Xbal-	5'-AATCTAGAAGGAGGAACGGCCG1TGCAG-3'
Forward	
schS9-SC-KO-	5-AAAAGUTTIGGIGGACUAICGCGICGCA-3
Hindill-Reverse	
SChS10-SC-KO-	5-AATCTAGATCCGTCGCTGGGCTTCGA-3
Abal-Forward	
schS10-SC-KO-	5-AAAAGUTTUGTGGTGGATGATUGUUGAA-3
Hindill-Reverse	
scn59-cneck-Forward	
scn59-cneck-Keverse	
scnS1U-cneck-	5-GIGGICAGCACGICAIGA-3'
Forward	
scnS1U-cneck-	5-CUACACCUAUTAUTIUATC-3
Keverse	

TABLE B1. Primers used in Chapter 2.

RV-M	5'-GAGCGGATAACAATTTCACACAGG-3'
M13-47	5'-CGCCAGGGTTTTCCCAGTCACGAC-3'

SimB7(385aa) LanGT2(373aa) SaqGT5(383aa) SchS7(378aa) UrdGT2(365aa)	<pre>mrilfvaagslatafalapvataarnaghavimagnddvipaitgvglpgvsvssltiqd mkilfvasgspatvfalaplataarnaghdvfmgavedmvpyiasagipalsiapssirr mkvlfvaggspatvfalaplatavrnaghqafmaatddmmpvvagaglpgvpvtplpirh mrilfvtagspatvfalaplataarnaghqvvmaanadmmphitgsglagiptthrpiremfalaplataarnaghqvvmaanqdmgpvvtgvglpavattdlpirh</pre>
SimB7(385aa) LanGT2(373aa) SaqGT5(383aa) SchS7(378aa) UrdGT2(365aa)	<pre>fy-tdragrpveiptvpqeqilftgrwfgrmaaawldplrelarawkpdvvvggtmsyaa yatmdregnpvrmpetpeeeldfaghwfgrmaagsmdalrevtanwrpdlvvggsmsfaa fittdragrpltipadpaeearftgrwfarmavasmpplhelaagwrpdvvvggtmsyaa fitqdrqgnpesipsdpveqalftgrwfarmgaeslprmlefarswrpdlvvggtmcyva fittdregrpeaipsdpvaqarftgrwfarmaasslprmldfsrawrpdlivggtmsyva : ** *.* :* * : *:**.**.</pre>
SimB7(385aa) LanGT2(373aa) SaqGT5(383aa) SchS7(378aa) UrdGT2(365aa)	gllaaelgvryvrhawdaieatgidvgavdvlepeltrlgldrlpvpelfidvcppsllp aliaaelgvpyvrqawdtgdawrtdpaasdelrpelralgldrlpdpalfvdicppslrp pllaarlgvpfvrqawdaveatgvhpgadeelqpelrelgldrlpepdlfvdicppslrp pllaahlgiphvrqawdaieadgihpgadtelapelaelgldrlpepelfvdicppslrp pllalhlgvpharqtwdavdadgihpgadaelrpelselglerlpapdlfidicppslrp *:* .**:*::**: :** * *** ***:*** * **:******
SimB7(385aa) LanGT2(373aa) SaqGT5(383aa) SchS7(378aa) UrdGT2(365aa)	<pre>pephpakhtlrmrwipvngqrqlepwtytrterprvclttgsrvahdageqdlprrsyef atappaqmmrwvpangqrrlepwmytkgnrprilvtsgsrlvfakktgf adagpaqqmrfvpanaqrslapwmyrrgerprvcvtsgsrvtrgrtydrnyqf anagpaqmmryipangqrrlepwmysrgerrricvtsgsrvak-dsydrnfef anaaparmmrhvatsrqcplepwmytrdtrqrvlvtsgsrvak-esydrnfdf</pre>
SimB7(385aa) LanGT2(373aa) SaqGT5(383aa) SchS7(378aa) UrdGT2(365aa)	<pre>lcalsasfkdldvdlvvattdpagkalearvpgvragwvpldvlartcdvivhhgggtts lrglvadmaaldaevviatldevaeelrtelpgvragwvpldvvvptcdvvvhhaggvta lldmvgklteldvellvaapeevadglraehgglragwipldvvaptcdvlvhhaggvss lrgmakdvtawdvelivaapqevadaltaelpglragwvpldviaptcdllvhhaggvst k : *.:::*: : * : *.*****:.****:********</pre>
SimB7(385aa) LanGT2(373aa) SaqGT5(383aa) SchS7(378aa) UrdGT2(365aa)	<pre>ltamaaaapqvavpqgavpnlsaqrlaeygaaislfgsegspevivdactkilgdrsyae ltamnagvpqlivsqggnfveaglrisdfgaaitvdentpeavekacgelignpsyae ltalnaalpqllmpkgavlveparriarrgaaialtpeeetteaiitacqqlltepsyra ltalnagvpqllipkgavmerpalriaergaaitllpgedtaeriadsceellarpgyre ltglsagepqllipkgsvleaparrvadygaaiallpgedsteaiadscqelhakdtyar **.: *. **: ::* *:: ****:: * :: *: *: *</pre>
SimB7(385aa) LanGT2(373aa) SaqGT5(383aa) SchS7(378aa) UrdGT2(365aa)	<pre>rardlsheiaglalpseavdvvaelv rarelsaeiaalplpaevvgaleglv aaetlsreiaamplpadvvgaleklvqspa ragelsaeiatmplpshvvaaleqlr raqdlsreisgmplpatvvtaleqla * ** **: : **: .* .: *</pre>

Fig. B1a. Clustal Omega amino acid sequence alignment of SchS7 with known C-

glycosyltranferases including SimB7, LanGT2, SaqGT5, and UrdGT2.

LanGT1(390aa) SchS9(390aa) UrdGT1c(391aa) SaqGT4(396aa)	<pre>mrvlmintpvsthltplvplawalraaghevlvlgredvlgaaasaglnavsigdwlkld mrvlvictpvpthflplvplvwalrsaghevvvtgqpdvlgavraagltgavvgesfdvd mrvlflvtpspthftplvslawalrgaghevvvagqpdvlgavasaglnavsigapfnge mrvlmmttpvpthfqplvplawalraaghevlvaaqpdvlplvqsaglsavsvgtpfhcd ****.: ** **: *** *.****:* :: *** .: *** .: ***:*</pre>
LanGT1(390aa) SchS9(390aa) UrdGT1c(391aa) SaqGT4(396aa)	<pre>dilverlg-gkrplqswgrpaldqlsnvgslwmpqtlevlpayldlardfgpdlvlsdpi gmllrglaeeerplqarprpapevlggygklwmghaksvlghygelvrefgpelilsdpl akllaglgpdqrplevrprpapesmggygrvwmtharylvgrymefariygpdlivsdpl dllyeslpagtrpltvrprpapgmlghygrlwmtharyllpeylslarairpdlivadpl     * * *** *** :. * :** :: * .:.* *:::**:</pre>
LanGT1(390aa) SchS9(390aa) UrdGT1c(391aa) SaqGT4(396aa)	efislivgedlgvpvvqqrwgvdpisdqvrgagetwfkdilaergltglprpavlldpcp eycslilgarlgvpvvhhrwtvdaisgparrlvrpdfrelceelglpglpdpavlldpcp eyssllvggvlgvpvvqqrwgvdlisgparaearpgfgplcerlglaglpdpavlldpcp eyssllvgavlgvpvahhrwgvdeistparsavrpalagvcdrlgieglpdptvlldpcp *: **::* *****.::** ** .* . : : . *: *** *:******
LanGT1(390aa) SchS9(390aa) UrdGT1c(391aa) SaqGT4(396aa)	<pre>pslqlagvtpgtpmryvpfngngrlpewlrrdarergtarrvavslggrtlayngv pslrlpdsepgtsiryvpysgggevpgwlradrgpgagrqrvavslgn-tlalhge pglqapgaepgspirfvpfngngvvpgwlreprsasrprvlvtigg-tlalngv pslqvpgaepavpmryvpyngrivlppwrheeverrptepagtrrvavsmgg-tlavngv *.*: . *. :*:**:.* :* *: . ***:***:********</pre>
LanGT1(390aa) SchS9(390aa) UrdGT1c(391aa) SaqGT4(396aa)	<pre>plmrnildalgslpdvevlatveeeyrealgevpgnvrvidpvplhlllgschavvhhgg pftrdllhalagrpgteilatvperhragigavpehvrlidplplhlfldrcdamvhhgg plmrgilrafeelpeveavatvdevfrekvgpvpanvrmvdpvplhlvldgcaavvhhgg pfvrqvlsafagmpgvsvlatvderyraelgeppknvrlidntpldlflgscdavvhqgg *: * :* *: * :*** * .* :* * :**::* **.*.* * :**:**</pre>
LanGT1(390aa) SchS9(390aa) UrdGT1c(391aa) SaqGT4(396aa)	<pre>sgtamtasafglpqlvlpqladqfwhgdalarvgaaitiesverqdepepvreaaaallg agtamtatafglpqltlpqladhfplgdrlaatgagltfdkaaeqddpqliagaldtlls agttmtagafglpqlvlpqladhfghgdrvsevgagislddaesqndshrlavelrrlla agttmtttfglpqlvlpqlayhfghgdriaavgagiafdtaaeqddpallreslaallf :**:**: :******: :* ** :: .**.::: *:: : **</pre>
LanGT1(390aa) SchS9(390aa) UrdGT1c(391aa) SaqGT4(396aa)	<pre>dpayekaagelraeiaampapsrvvtdleklvaar dpaygaaarrlaaemaampspadvaadleqlarqa epefakaaraladsvrdmpapaqvaadltria-gvvgal epgyrkaavelqaemartpapdtivadlerrhrgevd :* : ** * .: *:* :.:**:</pre>

Fig. B1b. Clustal Omega amino acid sequence alignment of SchS9 with known O-

glycosyltranferases including LanGT1, SaqGT4, and UrdGT1c.

#### LanGT4(417aa) mrvlfavfpaaahvhpivplawalqnaghdvrvaih----pdavglvteaglaavplga SchS10(430aa) mrvlltifpatshlysvvplawalqsaghevvvashsgvvdpgvignigaagltavslgt UrdGT1a(426aa) mrvlfsimpatahlypivplawalqasghevrvash----pdmaatitaagltavsvgr SaqGT2(443aa) mrvlfvtfpatahlfpivplawalqaaghevrvashsgvvepdmtatiaatgltpvplgp \*\*\*\* \*\* \*\* \*\*\*\*\*\* \*\*\* \*\* \* \* LanGT4(417aa) rhklagvvefnsnldlldslddtlsldteddsarwetqwevmrnvllvyqp-----SchS10(430aa) pdelspalgahtgdakpdrpslgfdpnepeesggwrtarsilasmfslyypaper-qggr UrdGT1a(426aa) padlgalmrdgasdqcleqitealeigs-ddlnlrnairyytlagvslyfptdpq-raes gtelaalarvnaaadqtnrptlaldpa---aggdwertrsyvigllslyyppvaadsger SaqGT2(443aa) . :\* \* .\*. : . :. . LanGT4(417aa) --vlpdlvdfvqdwkpdlvvwdpfcvpaavaarvggaaqarflwgrdnigwlraksleql SchS10(430aa) rpvldnlvdfarawrpdlvlwdplmlaapiaarvsgaaharlvwgmdnvavihdrtkrel UrdGT1a(426aa) dravddlvafarswrpdlvlwdplvlaapvaarlsgaaharvlygldyvgwaqqrfteri SaqGT2(443aa) wamadelvafarswgpdlvlwdplcppapiaaracgaaharvlwgldnlawmremal---•\*\* \* • \* \*\*\*\*•\*\*\* \* •\*\*\* \*\*\*•\*\* • • \* \* LanGT4(417aa) aargaapaddplvplmsdmlapygleyeeefltgqwtidpmpqgmrlpldlpytgvrrvp SchS10(430aa) adprseltehpwlswfgpmleryglelddemllgqwtldltqsrmrhpldlthipvrrvp UrdGT1a(426aa) grraqpltehplaelmrptlrrfgldfdaelavgqwtldllpermrlpvdlrytalrrvp -rrpegadrdplvewlrplldrygdtfdeevltgqctldlvpermrlpldrryqavrrvp SagGT2(443aa) \* \* \* \* \* \*\* \*\* \*\* \*\* \*\* \*\* \*\*\*\* LanGT4(417aa) yngtaalpawvhqrperprvvltlgiggrgrqlfrqsgvsfpevveavagldvelvatvg SchS10(430aa) ytgaaalpdwlharperpravltlgvsrrk-ifgkysgfpmreffesvsaldvevvatln UrdGT1a(426aa) ytgtttvpqwlydepkrprvcltlgmstrk-flsghgaspiadifglveeldielvatvn SaqGT2(443aa) yngagvvpgwlaarphrprvcltlgvstrk-lftehqgfsvaelfalvaeldvelvatln LanGT4(417aa) aaegkpsarhpdnirlieymplnhllptcsaiihhggggtfaaavahqvpqlvtpmpfwneqlaavgkvpdnvrtveyvplnqvlptssaiihhggggtfaaavahrvpqlvvplvmw-SchS10(430aa) saqladveelpdrvrivdylpldlllptcsavvhhggggtfaaavahqvpqlipapgegg UrdGT1a(426aa) SaqGT2(443aa) saqlagvdelppnvriveylplnlllptcaavihhggggtyaaavahrlpqlvipvpkw-LanGT4(417aa) geaataqyvadngaglvidssqftpdalrksltrllddrsfrdgaaalygemgaapspgd SchS10(430aa) demvtaryvadmgaglvadpaaldvdglhkqlvrlledpsfqlgarglyeemlaapaptd UrdGT1a(426aa) drvafaryveqrgagltvsrtdysadvfaeqlfrvlhepsfqdgaaglhddmlatpsprd SaqGT2(443aa) deevtarhvvergaglrvdep-ftvadvrdgllrllheprfragaeslhrdmlaapspve

LanGT4(417aa)	lvpvleeltarhrr
SchS10(430aa)	vvpllerltaerr
UrdGT1a(426aa)	vvpvleklsdryrr
SaqGT2(443aa)	vvpvlerltarhrrprpegvrsphgqestcays
	******

Fig. B1c. Clustal Omega amino acid sequence alignment of SchS10 with known O-

glycosyltranferases including LanGT4, SaqGT2, and UrdGT1a.

## 170



Fig. B2. ESI-MS spectrum of rabelomycin (1) with the  $[M+H]^+$  ion peak at m/z 339.0 and GG31 (2) with  $[M+H]^+$  at m/z 453.1.



Fig. B3a. <sup>1</sup>H NMR for GG31 in (CD<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CO, 300 MHz, JEOL ECX-300.



Fig. B3b. <sup>13</sup>C NMR for GG31 in (CD<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CO, 300 MHz, JEOL ECX-300.



Fig. B3c. HSQC NMR spectrum for GG31 in (CD<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CO.



Fig. B3d. HMBC NMR spectrum for GG31 in (CD<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CO.





Fig. B4. ESI-MS spectrum of **3** with the  $[M-H]^-$  ion peak at m/z 373.0, **4** with the  $[M-H]^-$  ion peak at m/z 469.1, **5** with  $[M+H]^-$  ion peak at m/z 583.1 and **6** with  $[M-H]^-$  ion peak at m/z 579.1.



Fig. B5a. <sup>1</sup>H NMR for urdamycin X in CD<sub>3</sub>OD, 500 MHz, Bruker AvanceIII HD Ascend-500.



Fig. B5b. <sup>1</sup>H NMR for 3'-deoxyaquayamycin in DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>, 500 MHz, Bruker AvanceIII

HD Ascend-500).



Fig. B5c. <sup>1</sup>H NMR for OZK1 in CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 500 MHz, Bruker AvanceIII HD Ascend-500.

[rel]



Fig. B5d. <sup>13</sup>C NMR for OZK1 in CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 500 MHz, Bruker AvanceIII HD Ascend-500.



Fig. B5e. HSQC NMR for OZK1 in CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 500 MHz, Bruker AvanceIII HD Ascend-500.



Fig. B5f. HMBC NMR for OZK1 in CDCl<sub>3</sub>, 500 MHz, Bruker AvanceIII HD Ascend-500.



Fig. B6a. High resolution mass spectrum for GG31 with  $[M+H]^+$  at m/z 453.1561.



Fig. B6b. High resolution mass spectrum for OZK1 with  $[M-H]^-$  at m/z 583.2559.

APPENDIX C

SUPPORTING INFORMATION for CHAPTER 3



Fig. C1. ESI-MS spectrum of Sch47544 (1) with the  $[M-H]^-$  ion peak at m/z 689.1.



Fig. C2. <sup>1</sup>H NMR for Sch47554 (**1**) in CDCl<sub>3</sub> (500 MHz, Bruker AvanceIII HD Ascend-500).



Fig. C3. Confirmation of gene disruption of schA16 (**A**) and schA21 (**B**) by PCR.

APPENDIX D

# SUPPORTING INFORMATION for CHAPTER 4

	LB	SOB	SOC	2xYT	TB	2xTB	Superbroth
Tyrptone (g/L)	10	20	20	16	12	24	32
Yeast extract (g/L)	5	5	5	10	24	42	20
NaCl (g/L)	10	0,58	0,58	5	-	-	5
Glycerol (ml/L)	-	-	-	-	4	15	-
Phosphate buffer (0.17 M KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> , 0.72 M K <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> ) (ml/L)	-	-	-	-	100	100	-
KCl (g/L)	-	1,9	1,9	-	-	-	-
$MgCl_2(g/L)$	-	0,95	0,95	-	-	-	-
$MgSO_4$ (g/L)	-	1,21	1,21	-	-	-	-
Glucose (g/L)	-	-	3,6	-	-	-	-

TABLE D1. Recipes of the media used in Chapter 4.

Primer Number	Primers	Oligonucleotides
1	16S rRNA universal primer 8F-F1	ggctaccttgttacgacttc
2	16S rRNA universal primer Rn1	agtttgatcctggctcag
3	10-25-15-BGC-A-SpeI-NdeI-fw	aactagtcatatgttggtggagatccgcgaggatcgcacc
4	102515-A-NheI-rev	tggccggcggcctgctagccctgcgcctggcccaaac
5	102515-B-NheI-fw	gccaggcgcagggctagcaggccgccggccaggccg
6	10-25-15-BGC-B-PmeI-HindIII-rev2	aagtttaaacaagctttcaacgaggacgaaagacgatat
7	BGC-A walker primer F1	catgtgctctgtcccaccgccg
8	BGC-A walker primer R1	agggettetteegeetgeteaa
9	BGC-A walker primer F2	tccttcggtttcctgctggcgc
10	BGC-A walker primer R2	accaggcccggctggacgagca
11	BGC-B walker primer F1	cagttggcgacaggcctgggcg
12	BGC-B walker primer R1	catcagcagcggacgcagcc
13	BGC-B walker primer F2	cttcgtcttcgcctccttcgg
14	BGC-B walker primer R2	agcgtgctcgatgtcgccggaa
15	Eho10-CrtX-NcoI-SmaI-fw	aaccatggcccgggatgagccattttgccatt
16	Eho10-CrtX-HindIII-rev	aaaagettteaegataegeteteaeteetgetatgge
17	J23119-B0034-NcoI-CrtX-fw	agatetttgacagetagetcagtectaggtataatgetagetactaga gaaagaggagaaaceatggatgagecattttgecatt
18	Eho10-CrtX-HindIII-rev	aaaagctttcacgatacgctctcactccctgctatggc
19	10-25-15-CrtI-NdeI-fw	aacatatgatgacccaaggtaacgcgcccaagcgggccat
20	10-25-15-CrtI-HindIII-rev	aaaagettteatggettacegtgeteetegaggatgaege
21	10-25-15-CrtY-NdeI-fw	aacatatgatgcgccctgacctgctgatcgtcgggggt
22	10-25-15-CrtY-HindIII-rev	aaaagctttcatggtgcttccttggactgagggggggcgc
23	Eho10-CrtX-NcoI-SmaI-fw	aaccatggcccgggatgagccattttgccatt
24	Eho10-CrtX-HindIII-rev	aaaagettteaegataegeteteaeteeetgetatgge
25	102515-TnbA-NdeI-fw	aacatatgacgcaattggatttcaccggcaagcg
26	102515-TnbA-PmeI-HindIII-rev	aagtttaaacaagcttttacgccgccagggtcgcgc

TABLE D2. Oligonucleotides used in Chapter 4.



Fig. D1. Standard curve for zeaxanthin diglucoside using UV spectrophotometer at 456 nm.



Fig. D2. The effects of different media on the yield of zeaxanthin diglucoside in the culture tubes (5mL).

Sequence D1. Pseudomonas sp. strain 102515 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

TCTGCGGCAGCTACACATGCAGTCGAGCGGATGAGAGGAGCTTGCTCCTCGA TTCAGCGGCGGACGGGTGAGTAATGCCTAGGAATCTGCCTAGTAGTGGGGGGA CAACGTTTCGAAAGGAACGCTAATACCGCATACGTCCTACGGGAGAAAGTGG GGGATCTTCGGACCTCACGCTATTAGATGAGCCTAGGTCGGATTAGCTAGTTG GTAGGGTAAAGGCCTACCAAGGCGACGATCCGTAACTGGTCTGAGAGGATGA TCAGTCACACTGGAACTGAGACACGGTCCAGACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT GGGGAATATTGGACAATGGGCGAAAGCCTGATCCAGCCATGCCGCGTGTGTG AAGAAGGCCTTCGGGTCGTAAAGCACTTTAAGTTGGGAGGAAGGGCTCATAG CGAATACCTGTGAGTTTTGACGTTACCAACAGAATAAGCACCGGCTAACTTC GTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGAAGGGTGCAAGCGTTAATCGGAATTACTG GGCGTAAAGCGCGCGTAGGTGGCTTGATAAGTTGGATGTGAAATCCCCGGGC TCAACCTGGGAACTGCATCCAAAACTGTCTGGCTAGAGTGCGGTAGAGGGTA TGGCGAAGGCGACTACCTGGACTGACACTGACACTGAGGTGCGAAAGCGTGG GGAGCAAACAGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTAAACGATGTCAAC TAGCCGTTGGGATCCTTGAGATCTTAGTGGCGCAGCTAACGCATTAAGTTGAC CGCCTGGGGAGTACGGCCGCAAGGTTAAAACTCAAATGAATTGACGGGGGCC CGCACAAGCGGTGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACCTTA CCTGGCCTTGACATGCTGAGAACTTTCCAGAGATGGATTGGTGCCTTCGGGA ACTCAGACACAGGTGCTGCATGGCTGTCGTCAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTTG GGTTAAGTCCCGTAACGAGCGCAACCCTTGTCCTTAGTTACCAGCACGTTATG GTGGGCACTCTAAGGAGACTGCCGGTGACAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGGATG ACGTCAAGTCATCATGGCCCTTACGGCCAGGGCTACACGTGCTACAATGG TCGGTACAAAGGGTTGCCAAGCCGCGAGGTGGAGCTAATCCCATAAAACCGA TCGTAGTCCGGATCGCAGTCTGCAACTCGACTGCGTGAAGTCGGAATCGCTA GTAATCGTGAATCAGAACGTCACGGTGAATACGTTCCCGGGCCTTGTACACA CCGCCCGTCACACCATGGGAGTGGGTTGCTCCAGAAGTAGCTAGTCTAACCT TCGGGAGGACGGTACCACGGAGATCT

Sequence D2. *Pseudomonas* sp. strain 102515, whole carotenoid (*Pscrt*) biosynthetic gene cluster

GCCCGGGCGGCCGGTGTGCCGGTGGAGCCCGCGGCGGCCCTGGCGCTGCTGG ATGGGCCGGCCAGTGCCATCGATCTGGTCGAAGCGGAAGGTCAACTGTTCCT CAACATGGCCACCGGCGGCTTCGGCTCCCAGGTCACCGCCAACACCCCCGGC GAACTCAAGCGCCTGCTGGGGGGGGGGGGGCGCCTACCTGCTCACCGGCCTGACCC GCTTCGCCGAGGTGCATTCGGCCCACGGTCGCTTCCGCGGTCCCGGCTTCGAA TGGGAAGGCGAATTCCTCGCCCTGGGCATCGGCAACGGTCGCCAGGCCGGCG GTGGCCATGTGCTCTGTCCCACCGCCGTGGTAAACGATGGCCTGCTCGATGTG GGCATCCTGCCGGCGTCCCAGGACGTGCTCGGCACCCTCGGCGAATTCCTCA AGAGCTGGAAGCCGACGAAGGCCTGGACATGAACCTCGATGGCGAACCGGT CAAGCGCGACCGGGTGAGATTCGAGGTGCGTCCGGGTATCCTGCAGGTCTGT CTACCGGTGGATTCGCCCCTGCTGGGCGCGCGACCGCCGGCACCCTGGCCGAAC CGGCGGCGACGTCCTGAGCAGGCGCCTGCGGAGGTAACGTTGGAGCTACTGA TCAATGCGGGAATCGTGCTGGCCACCGTGGCCGGCATGGAAGCCTTCGCCTG GTGGTCGCACAAGTACATCATGCATGGCTGGGGGTGGGGGCTGGCATGAATCC CACCACCGCCGCGTACCGGCTGGTTCGAGAAGAACGACCTCTATGCGGTGG TCTTCGCCGGCCTGGCGATCCTGCTGATCGCCCTGGGCAATGCCGGCTATTGG CGCCTGCAGTGGATCGGTGCCGGCATGACCCTCTATGGCCTGCTGTACTTCAT CGCCCACGATGGCCTGGTGCACCAGCGCTGGCCGTTTCGCTACATCCCGCGC ACCGGCTATCTGAAGCGGCTCTACCAGGCGCATCGCATGCACCATGCGGTGG ACGGCAAGGACGGCTGCGTGTCCTTCGGTTTCCTGCTGGCGCCCACCGCCCA GCAGCTCAAGCGGCAGTTGCGCGAGATCCACGGCGGTGCGCTTGATTCCTCG CGCGAACGTAAGGCGCGGGATCAGCAGGAAGGCGCGGACTAGGCGGGAGAG GGGAGCGCCCCTGGGAGGCGCTAACCGGGGTCAGGCGACGGCGGGGGGTGT CAGCAGATCGATGAATTCCTTCGCCGGGGGGATTCAGCGTACCCGCTTCGGCG GCGGTGACCACCTGGGCCTGCTCACCGGCCGCCAGTTCGGCGAAACCGTTCC CCAGGCGCTCGGTGCAATAGCTGTCTACCACGGCCAGGCCGTCACGCAGCAG ATCGCGCAGGTTGGCGCCCTGCTGGACCTGGGCCTGCTCGTCGAAGGGATCG ACGATATTGGAGCGATCGCCGTGGGCGTAGGGGGGTCAGCATGTGGCGGTCGA TGAACTCGGGCAGCCGGGCATCGGCCTGCTCGCTGTCGGCCTGCAGGTGAGC GCAGAGGGCGACCAGGGTCCGCCACTGGGTGGCGTTGAAGAATTCGGGGCTTG TAACCGGACTGCGCGTTAGCGGAAAGGCCAAGGGCAAGTAGTGACGAGGAG GCAGCGAAGCGATCGTGTGAAACAGCCGTTTCCGTCTTGTGCATGTGCAAAT CCCATACTCGTAGGCTGACTACCGGATGCAGCGCTCTGGCTCAGGCATCCAT CCATCCGCGGCCCACCCAGGGGTCGCTTTAATCCGACCCGTTTATCGCATAAA AAGTTTGAGTGTGGGCAGCCCCCAAGATGCGCACAAATGTGACCGAAGCGCG GTCGCGCTGGTGCCGCGAGAGCATGGCGCGGGGGGGCGCCACGGCAGACCAG GCGCAGCTTGTCGGCGGTACTGGTGCTGACGCGTTGGTCCCAGGCGTGGGCG CGATGGCCCAGGCCGAGCGCAGGGGCAGGGCGGCGATACCCTGGCGTGCCG AGTCGTAGTAGGGCTCGGCCAGGCGCACCAGGCGCTCGGCCAGCTGGGCGAC GGCTTCGCGATGGCGTGGCTCGGCCAGTTCGTCCGCCGGCACACCGAGTTCG TCGAGCCATAGCCGCGGCAGGTAGAGGCGGCCGATGCGGGCGTCCTCGACG

ATGTCGCGGGCGATGTTGGTGAGCTGGAAAGCCATGCCCAGGTCACAGGCAC GATCCAGGGTCTCTTCGTCTTCGGCGCCCATGATGCGCGCCATCATCACCCCG ACCACGCCGGCGACGTGGTAGCAGTACTCCAGGGTGTCTTCCAGCTCCACAT AGACGCGCTCCTCGACGTCCATGCGAAAACCGGCGAGGTGATCCAGCGGCAG CGCCAGGGGAATGCCGTGACGCCTGACCACTCGCTGGAAGGCGGCGAAGGC GGGATCCTGCAGCGGCTCATCGCCGTAGGCGGCACGGGTCAGCCGTTCTAGT TCGGCCAGGCGGTCCCGCCCGGCGGCGGCGGTCGCCCTCGACCTGACCATGGC CCAGTTCCTGGCCATCGATGACGTCGTCGCAATGGCGGCACCAGGCATAGAG CAGCACGGCGCTTTCGCGGGGTCTCGGGGGGGGGAACAGCTTGGCGGCCGCGGCA AAGCTCTTGGAACCGACGGCGATGCTCTGCTCGGCATGGTCGACGACGTCAT GGGTGGCTGTCATGGCTTACCGTGCTCCTCGAGGATGACGCTGGCGGTGGCC TTGGCCGAACCGACCACGCCCGGAACGCCGGCCCCGGGATGGGTGCCCGCGC CGACCAGGTAGAGGTTGGGGGATGACACTATCGCGATTGTGCGGCCGGAACCA GGCGCTCTGGGTGAGGATGGGCTCCAGGGAGAAGGCCGAGCCGAGGTGGGC ATTGAGTTCCTGGCGGAAATCGGCCGGGGTGAAGATGCGCGAGGTGACCAGG TGCTCGCGCAGGCCGGGCATGTAGCGCTCTTCCAGGTAGGCGAGGATCTTGT CGCGCAGGCGCGGGCTTTCCACGCTCCAGTCGACGTCGGCATTGCCCAGGTG CGGCACCGGCGCCAGCACGTAGTGGGAGCTGTGCCCGGGCGGCGCCAGCGA CGGATCGGTGACGCAGGGCGAGTGCAGGTAGAGCGAGAAGTCGTCCGGCAC GCCCGGGCCCTTGAACAGTTCGTCGATCAGGCCGCGATAGCGCTGGCCGAAG CAGACCATGTGGTGTTCGAGGCCCACCGGTGGCTGGCTCAGGCCGAAATGGA TGACGAACAGCGACATGCTGTGTCTCTTGCGCTTGAGGCGATTGCCCTCGACC ACGCCATGGGTGTGGTGACCGAGCAGCTTGCGATAGGTGTGCACCACGTCGG CGTTGGAGGCCACCAGATCGGCCTCGAGCTGGCTGCCGTCGGCCAGGCAGAC GCCCGTGGCGCGATTGCCTTCGGTGAGGATGCGTTCCACCGGCGCATTCAGG CGCACTTCGCCGCCGAGGTCGGTGAAGAGCTTCAGCAGGCCCAGGACCAGCT GATGGGTACCGCCCTTGGCGAACCAGACGCCCCACTTGCGTTCCAGCGCATG GATCAGGGCATAGATCGAGGAGGTGGCGAAGGGATTGCCGCCTACCAGCAG GGTATGGAAGGACAGCGCCTGGCGCAGCTTCTCGCTCTTCACGAAGCGCGAC ACCTGGGTGTAGACGCTGCGCCAGGCAGTGAGCTTGGCCAGCTTGGGACCCG CGGCGAGCATGTCGCCGACCTTGAGGAAGGGCTTGGTGCCGAGGCGGATATA ACCCTCTTCGAACACCGCCTGGGAATAGGCCAGGAAGCGCTGGTAGCCGGCC ACGTCGTCCGGTTCCAGGGCGTGGATCTGCTCGTCCAGCCGGGCCTGGTCGTT GACGTAGTCGAAGCGGGTGCCGTCTTCCCAGCACAGCTGGTAGAAGGGGGCTG ACCGGCAAGAGCTCCACATAGTCGCTCATCTGCCGGCCGCTCAGGGCGAACA GCTCTTCCAGCGCCGAGGGATCGGTGAGGACGGTGGGGCCCGGCATCGAAGGT GAAGCCTGCCTCCTCATAGACGTAGGCACGGCCGCCGGGCTTGTCGCGGCCC TCGATCAGGGTGGTGGCGATGCCGGCCGACTGCAGGCGGATCGCCAGGGCG ATACCGCCGAAGCCGGCGCCGATGACGATGGCCCGCTTGGGCACGTTACCTT GCCGGTTTCAGCGGTACCGGCGGTTTGCCGGAGAGGATACGCAGCCGATCGA AGGCGGTGAGGCGGCCGGCGTAGAAGCGCTGGATCAGCGGTTCCCCCGAGGC GAGCATGCGATTGAGCAGGCGGAAGAAGCCCTGGCCCTGCCAGCGGCCCTG GGCGTACTGCCGCAGGCTGTCGCGCGCAGCACGGCGCTGGAGGTGAAGGGCTG

GGCGGCCAGGTGCTCCGCCAGGCGGACGGCTTCGGGCAGCGAATAACCGGT GGTGGGGTGGAACAGGCCCGCGGCCAGGCCGATGGGCGCGCCTGCGGTGAC GTTGTCCCAATAGCGGTCGAGGTCGCCGCCCAGGGTGATGGGCAGCACGCCC TGTTCTTCGCGCAGCACCTCGGCGATCTCCCAGCCCTGCTGCTCGGCATAGTC GGCCAGGTGCTGGCGCAGGCGCTCGACCGGGAGGCTTTCGCCATCGGCATAG TAGGTGTCTTCGATCAGCAGCCGGTCGGGCGCCAGTGGCAGGCTGTAGACGA AGCGATAGCCGTCCAGCTGATCGACGGTGGCGTCCATCACGATGGGTTCGGC CAGGCCGTGGCGGCGAACGAGGCGCACCTCCTGGCCGAGGAATTTCTGATAG CCGAGCCAGAGCGCCGGATCGGGTCGTGGTCCGCGGGCGTCGATCACCGCGC CGGCGGCCAGGGTGTAGCCACCGGCGAATACAACCCCATCGTCCTGCAGGCG CAGCACCTCGCGTCCCAGCAGCAGCGCGCTCTGCCGGTAGCCGGGCGCTCAGC ACCTCATGGAAGCGTTCGGCGCTGATGCTGGCGTAGCCGCTGCCGAGTTGCC GCTGGCGCTTGGGGGAAGCGCACCTCGTAGCCGGGCCAGCGGTGGGCGACCA GGGGCGCGATCCAGGCGTGCTGCGGCGCGCGGTGAGATCCGGCTCGTGGAACG ACCAGGTGTGGTTGCCGCCCAGCCGCGGACCGGCTTCCACCAGGCGCCAGTC CAGCTCCGGACGGGTTTGGGCCAGGCGCAGGGCTAGCAGGCCGCCGGCCAG GCCGCCGCCGACGATCAGCAGGTCAGGACGCACGCGCGAGTCCTCGTCGGGC AATGGGCACGAAGCGTTCGGCTGCCCGGCGATAGCCGGGGTCGGCCAGCAC GGCGCCCAGGGCCTGGGTCAGGCGGGCCCTGCTGGCCAGGCGCGGTGCCAG GCAGATGCCGGCGCCGACCCGTTCCAGACGCCGGGCGATGCCCGGCTGGTCG AACACCATGGGCAGGGCGAGCATGGGTTTGCCGGCCCCCAGGGCGTCCAGCA CGGTGTTGAAGCCACCATGGGTGATGACCGCGTCGGCGCGGGGCGATGGCTGC CTCCTGGGGCGCGAAGTCCGTGACCCAGGTGGCGCCGTCGTCCAGCAGACGG CGTTCGGCACCGGCATCCAGACGTCCGCAGTGGGCGATCAGCACCTGGACGT CGAGTTGGCGACAGGCCTGGGCGATGCGGCGGAACAGCGGTAGCCGGCCAC CCAGTTCCAGCCGTCGCTCACGCACCACCGGCGAACGCAGCGGCCCGACCTC CTGGCTCAGCTGCAGATGGGGGGGGAGAAGCAGTCGTCGAGGGTCCGCCGGTCG CCGAGGCCAAAGGCCTGGGCCTGGCGCTGGATGACCTTGCCCTGGCCGCGCA TCATCAGGTCGAACACCTGGGTGGCGCCCTGGACGATCTGCCGCTCCCGCTC GGTGGCGGGATAGGCGAAGGGCAGGGTGGGCAGCGGCAGATGGGGCTCGCG ATTCATCGGCACGCGCAGGCCAGCGACGCATAGGGCAGGCCCAGGTGCTCG CCGAGCAGTCCACCGGCCGGTTCCATCTGGTCGGCGATCAGGCAGTCGACAC CCAGGTCACGCAAGGCGGTCGGGCCTTCGCGGCAGAGCAGTTCGGTGTTGCG CGCCATGTCGGCGATCACCCCGAACACCGACCAGGGCTTGCTGCTGGCGGTA CGCGCCAGCAGCGGCGCCAGGCTGCCGCGCGGGTGGCTGGTCGCGCCCAGG GCCTGGAAATGGATACCCGCCGGCAGCGCACGATCGCCCACCTCCACCTGGT GCAGCAGGGTGACGCGGTGGCCGAGCGCGACCAGCGCCTCGCCCAGCACCA GATGGGTGGACAGGTGGCTAGGAAGCGGCGGCGAGATCAGGGCGACATGCA TGGCGGCGTCCGGTCGGGTGTCGGCCACTATGGGCACCGCAGCGGCGCGGCG TCCAGCAGCTCAGCCTGGCGCAAGCCGGCCAGATCCGCCGAGCCGGTGCAGA AGCAGGCGATGCGCAGCTGTTCGATCACCACCTGGAAATGCGCGATCACCGC 

TCCGCGCCGAGGCGGATGGCCTTGGCCACGTCGATGCCGTCGCGGATGCCGC CCGAGGCGATCACCGTCGCCGCGGGCAGGCGGCACGTACCTGGCGCAGGCT CTCGGCGGTGGGGATGCCCCAGTCGGTGAAGGCGCGGGGCGATGGCGCGCTGC TGCTCGTCGCGGGCGCGCCCGGCTTCCACCGCTGCCCAACTGGTGCCGCCGGT TCCGGCGACATCGAGCACGGCTACCCCTGCCTCCAGCAGATGTGTAGCGACC CGGCCCGACAGGCCGGCGCCGACTTCCTTGACGACGACGGGCACGGGCAGTT GTGTAACCAGATTTTCCAGCGCTATGAGAATGCCACGCCAGCGGCGATCGCC CCCGGCCTGTACGGCTTCCTGCAGGGGGATTGAGATGCACGATCAGGGCGTCT GCCTCGATCATTTCCACCGCACGCCGGGCTTCGTCGATGCCGTAGCCGGCCAC CAGCTGCGCGGCGCCGAAATTGGCCAGCAGCGGCACGTCCGGCGCCAGGCG ACGCAATTCGCCGGTCAGGCCCTGGTCGCCACCCTGCTGCAGGGCGATGCGC TGGGAGCCGACCGCCAGGGCGATACCCAGGGCCTGGGCCGCCTCGGCGAGA TGACGATTGATCAGCGCGCGCGCGCTCTGGCCCGCCGGTCATGGAGCTGATCA GCAGCGGCGCCGCCAGGGGACGATCGAACAGGCGGGTGCCCAGGTCGATCT CGTCAAGATTTAGTTCGGGCAGGGCGCAGTGCGTGAAGCGGTAGGCGTCGAA GCCCGTGGTGACGACGCTACGGGCCTTGTGGGGGATCCAGCACGATGTCCAGA TGATCGTTCTTGCGGCTTGCCAGTTCCCAATCCACCATGTCTTCTAGAGTCCG CCCTGAATGACCTTTCGTCGGTCGTTGTGGTCTGGTAGGGGACGACGGGTTCG CTTAGCGAAGACCTAATCCACCGAGGTGCGACCGTTCGTCGGTTCCACATAT TTGCCGCTACGCTGCAGTGGCAGCGTACCCGTATCGACGAGCGTCTGGCAGT ACTGTTACCGGCCGGTGGCGATCCGGTCGCCGCAGCGATCCGCAGTGGCGTC CTCGCACCAGGCAAGCGGCTGCGTCCGCTGCTGATGGTGCTGGGGGGCCGAGG ACTTGGGCCAATCCGACGAAGCCGTCCTCGATCTGGGCTGCGCCGTGGAAAT GGTGCACGCCGCGTCGTTGTTCCTCGACGACATGCCCTGCATGGACGATGCC CGCCTGCGCCGCGGTCGCCCGACCCTGCACGTCGAGTTCGGCGAAGACGTCG CCATGCTGGCCGCGGTGGCCCTGCTCAGTCATGCCCTGCGCCTGGTCGCGGG CCTGGCAGGGGTGCCGGCGGAAACCCGTACCCAGATGGTCTGCCAACTGGCC GATGCGGTCGGCACCGCCGGTCTGGTGTGCGGCCAGTACCATGACCTGCACG GACCGGGGCGCTGTTTTCGGCGGCCATGGGCATGGCCGGAGTCGCCCTGATT ACCACTGCAGCGCAGCGCGAGGCCTTCCAGGTCTTCGCCTGCCAGCTCGGCC TGGCCTTCCAGTTGCTCGACGATCTCGACGACGGCAAGGGCCTGGGCAAGGA CGCCGGCAAGGATGGCGACAAGTCCACCCTGGTCAGCCTGCTCGGCCGCGAC TACGCTCAACGCCAGTTACAAAGTCACCTCAAGCAGGCCCGCGAGGCTCTGG CCCAGGCCGATTGCGCCGATGGCGCCCTGGCCGGCCTGCTGGATATCGTCTTT CGTCCTCGTTGA

Sequence D3. Pseudomonas sp. strain 102515 tnbA DNA sequence

ATGACGCAATTGGATTTCACCGGCAAGCGCGTCTGGGTGACCGGCGCGGGGG AGGGCATCGGCCTGCAGGTGGCGCGCGCCGCTTCCAGGCGGCGGGGGCGCGAGGT GGTCGGTCTCGACCGGCGGGTTCGCCGAGAGCAGCTATCCCTTTCGCATCCAG CTGCTGGATGTCGCCGATGCGGCCCAGGTGGAGGACGTCTGCCAGGCGCTGC 

## CURRICULUM VITAE

Ozkan Fi	dan Dept. of Biological Engineering, Utah State University, Logan, Utah-USA 84322-4105 Phone: +1 435-757-5865 ozkan.fidan@aggiemail.usu.edu
RESEARCH INTERESTS	Metabolic engineering, Synthetic biology, Natural product discovery and biosynthesis, Microbial production, Next Generation Sequencing, Metagenomics, Human microbiome, CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing system
EDUCATION	Ph.D, Biological EngineeringMay 2019Utah State University, Logan, UT, USAGPA 3.92Dissertation: "Exploring the potential of microorganism for natural product biosynthesis" Adviser: Dr. Jixun Zhan
	B.S., Chemical EngineeringJune 2010Izmir Institute of Technology, Izmir, TurkeyGPA 3.06Graduation Project: "Selective dehydration of fructose to 5-hydromethylfurfural" Adviser: Prof. Dr. Selahattin YilmazEngineering Design Project: "Hydroxytyrosol production from olivetrees" (Complete Plant Design), Adviser: Prof. Dr. Mehmet PolatFreshman Project: "Chemical migration of carcinogens fromdisposable cups to hot drinks" Adviser: Prof. Dr. Fikret Inal
CURRENT PROJECTS	<ul> <li>Understanding the biosynthesis of natural products in fungi using the heterologous expression approach in <i>E. coli</i> and <i>S. cerevisiae</i></li> <li>Identification and activation of biosynthetic gene clusters responsible for the production of pharmaceutically important natural products in <i>Streptomyces</i> through genome analysis and CRISPR/Cas9 technology</li> <li>Chromosomal insertion of exogenous genes for natural product biosynthesis in <i>E. coli</i> to eliminate antibiotic use and increase the</li> </ul>
PUBLICATIONS	<ul> <li>Book Chapters:</li> <li>Fidan, O., Zhan, J.* (2018). Reconstitution of Medicinally Important Plant Natural Products in Microorganisms in <i>Molecular Pharming:</i> <i>Applications, Challenges and Emerging Areas</i> edited by Allison Kermode, Simon Fraser University and Liwen Jiang, John Wiley &amp; Song NLUSA</li> </ul>

Journals: (# equal contribution, \* corresponding author)

**Fidan, O.**, Zhan, J.\* (**2019**). Discovery and engineering of an endophytic *Pseudomonas* strain from *Taxus chinensis* for efficient production of zeaxanthin diglucoside. (in preparation)

Yuan, H., Wang, H., **Fidan, O.**, Qin, Y., Xiao, G.,\* Zhan, J.\* **(2019)** Identification of new glutamate decarboxylases from *Streptomyces* for efficient production of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid in engineered *Escherichia coli. Journal of Biological Engineering*, 13, 24.

**Fidan, O.**, Yan, R., Zhu, D., Zhan, J.\* **(2019).** Improved production of antifungal angucycline Sch47554 by manipulating three regulatory genes in *Streptomyces* sp. SCC-2136. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry*, 1-10.

**Fidan, O.**,# Yan, R.,# Gladstone, G., Zhu, D., Zhan, J.\* **(2018).** New insights into the glycosylation steps in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555. *ChemBioChem*, 19, 1424-1432.

**Fidan, O.**,\* Zhan, J. **(2015).** Recent advances in engineering yeast for pharmaceutical protein production. *RSC Advances* **5**, 86665–86674.

### PRESENTATIONS Oral Presentations:

**Fidan, O.**, Liang, L., Zhan, J., **(2019).** Bio-halogenation of flavonoids by a fungal flavin-dependent halogenase. 2019 Institute of Biological Engineering (IBE) Annual Conference, St. Louis, MO, April 4-7.

**Fidan, O.**, Zhan, J., **(2018).** The Roles of Three Regulatory Proteins in the Biosynthesis of Angucyclines Sch47554 and Sch47555. 2018 IBE Annual Conference, Norfolk, VA, April 5-7.

Poster Presentations:

**Fidan, O.**, Zhan, J., **(2018).** Isolation of an endophytic carotenoidproducing *Pseudomonas* strain and functional analysis of the carotenoid biosynthetic genes. IBE 2018 Annual Conference, Norfolk, VA, April 5-7.

**Fidan, O.**, Yan, R., Gladstone, G., Zhu, D., Zhan, J., **(2017).** Functional characterization of three glycosyltransferases involved in the biosynthesis of Sch47554 and Sch47555. 2017 IBE Annual Conference, Salt Lake City, UT, March 30- April 1.

**Fidan, O.**, Liu, L., Fronk, T., Britt. D. W. **(2014).** Vapor phase deposition of alkyl- and fluoro-silanes on nanoporous glass. ACS 2014 Colloid & Surface Science Symposium, Philadelphia, PA, June 22-25.

**Fidan, O.**, Liu, L., Britt. D. W. **(2014).** Surface Modification of Nanoporous Glass by Vapor Phase Deposition of Trifunctional Silanes. Research Symposia: Research Week 2014, USU, Logan, UT, April 10.

**Fidan, O.**, Liu, L., Britt. D. W. **(2013).** Controlled porous glass beads in nanofluidics systems for the purpose of energy absorption. NanoUtah - Nanotechnology conference & exhibition, Salt Lake City, UT, October 18.

## RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

Department of Biological Engineering, Utah State University, Logan, UT Graduate Research Assistant in the Metabolic Engineering Lab

May 2015-Present

- Performed recombinant DNA technology: Molecular cloning in *E. coli*, primer design, PCR, gel electrophoresis, DNA isolation, plasmid construction, transformation, protoplast preparation, and DNA sequence analysis
- Worked with recombinant protein: protein expression and purification from *E. coli* and *S. cerevisiae*, SDS-PAGE
- Performed solvent extraction of bioactive compounds from liquid and solid bacterial cultures
- Executed and evaluated analytical experiments: HPLC, Mass Spectrometry, Natural Product Analysis, Purification and Structure identification using NMR
- Conducted Microbiome analysis: Total DNA extraction from mice fecal samples, next-generation sequencing preparation and microbiome analysis using MOTHUR
- Performed genome analysis of several bacterial and fungal strains to identify the responsible gene cluster for natural products
- Exploited CRISPR/Cas9 system for the activation of silent biosynthetic gene clusters in various *Streptomyces* species

<u>Graduate Research Assistant in the Synthetic Biological Engineering</u> <u>Lab</u> Sept. 2014-May 2015

- Adapted an experimental setup for real-time monitoring of recombinant *E. coli* to observe the secretion of GFP-fused PHB bioplastic granules
- Performed the fluorescence microscope monitoring of recombinant *E. coli* for the bioplastic secretion
- Developed a laboratory module on the protein expression and purification using synthetic biological engineering techniques for engineering students

Graduate Research Assistant in the Biomaterials & Surface

Chemistry Lab Aug. 2013-Sept. 2014

- Developed an experimental setup for surface modification of nanoporous glass
- Performed the surface modification of nanoporous glass by silanization
- Analyzed surface properties of modified and unmodified nanoporous glass using SEM, XPS, TGA, BET, AFM and Goniometer
- Investigated the effect of different silanes and silanization techniques on surface modification efficiency
- Conducted preliminary Nano Energy Absorption System (NEAS) experiments and improved the experimental setup

OTHER EXPERIENCE	<ul> <li>Lab manager and safety officer in the Metabolic Engineering Lab Utah State University, Logan, UT, July 2017-Present</li> <li>Inspected and managed the lab safety and cleaning</li> <li>Trained new lab members for the instruments</li> <li>Maintained the lab instruments</li> <li>Teaching Assistant for BENG 5620/6620 Metabolic Engineering Utah State University, Logan, UT, Fall 2017 and 2018</li> <li>Led the undergraduate and graduate students for lab sessions to conduct experiments and obtain hands-on gene cloning skills and genetic engineering techniques.</li> <li>Chemical Process Management Internship</li> <li>Ege Vitrifiye Incorporated Company, Izmir, Turkey, Summer 2009</li> <li>Worked alongside the engineers to observe all chemical processes from raw materials to out-to-door products</li> <li>Performed quality control experiments and necessary calculations</li> <li>Quality Control Lab Internship</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>PETKIM Petrochemicals Corporation, Izmir, Turkey, Summer 2008</li> <li>Conducted experiments in Gas Chromatography, Polymer and General Chemistry labs</li> <li>Observed and performed ISO-9001 quality management system</li> <li>Gained experience in running various instruments such as GC, HPLC.</li> </ul>
SKILLS	Languages: Turkish (native language), English (fluent) Computer Skills: MATLAB, SAS, Microsoft Word, Excel, PowerPoint, Mendeley, EndNote, DNAMAN, CLC Sequence Viewer, Mestrenova, MOTHUR, BLAST, AntiSMASH, RAST, Chem Bio Draw Office Instruments: HPLC-MS, NMR, PCR, RT-PCR, IR
AWARDS & HONORS	Outstanding engineering graduate scholar of 2018, Biological Engineering Department at Utah State University Scholarship from the Republic of Turkey's Ministry of National Education for pursuing Graduate Education in the US
MEMBERSHIPS	Institute of Biological Engineering Student Membership American Heart Association Student Membership
WORKSHOPS & TRAINING	Grant Proposal Writing Workshop at USU, 2018 Lab Safety Training at USU, 2013 ESL Language Training-PALS at Rutgers University, 2012-2013 English Language Training at 9 Eylul University, 2012 Entrepreneur Leadership Training, 2010

INSTITUTIONAL	Supervised Undergraduate Students:		
SERVICE	Barner Wald, Spring 2019		
Mike Langston, Fall 2017, Summer & Fall 2018- Engine			
Undergraduate Research Program (EURP)			
Christopher Ruben, Fall 2018			
Izabella VanderToolen, Spring 2017			
Greg Jensen, Spring 2016			
	Jaden Turner, Fall 2015		
	Supervised K-12 students:		
	Angela Z. (7th Grade), Fall 2018		
Jacqueline B. (High school), 2018-USU Biotech Summer Aca			
	Jaden M. (High school), 2018-USU Biotech Summer Academy		
	Owen W. (High school), 2018-USU Biotech Summer Academy		